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About
Barloworld

Barloworld is an industrial 
processing, distribution and services 
company with two primary areas 
of focus: Industrial Equipment and 
Services and Consumer Industries 
(food and ingredient solutions), 
with our remaining interests in the 
rapidly changing Automotive world, 
focused on Car Rental and Leasing 
activities. Our provision of Industrial 
Equipment and related services, 
offers earthmoving equipment, 
industrial services and power 
systems, which enable the operation 
and maintenance of a large array 
of mining, construction and power 
solutions for our customers, with 
whom we have built enduring 
relationships based on mutual trust. 
Through our Consumer Industries 
business, Ingrain, we provide large 
enterprises with the ingredients 
essential to the manufacturing 
of a range of products including 
food and beverages, paper, 
pharmaceuticals, building materials 
and adhesives, amongst others.
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Accounting presentation changes

Logistics and Motor Retail are reported 
as discontinued operations and the 
comparatives have been restated to reflect 
this change in presentation. Motor Retail 
traded for eight months until it was sold on 
01 June 2021 to NMI-DSM; and thereafter 
accounted for as an associate together with 
the existing holding in NMI-DSM. 

Ingrain is included as a new operating 
segment and reported for the first time  
for 11 months since acquisition on   
31 October 2021. 

Following the restructuring of the 
Automotive and Logistics businesses 
during the current financial year, the 
segments including Handling, Automotive 
Trading (remaining out of Motor Retail 
disposal), and including Corporate and 
Khula Sizwe are combined as an ‘Other 
segment’. The comparatives have been 
restated to reflect this.

Continuing operations

Normalised^ continuing operations HEPS which 
excludes net B-BBEE costs and the impact 
of IFRS16 was 1 323 cents. This was due to 
the improved performance from Equipment 
southern Africa and Eurasia businesses which 
contributed 984 cents of total headline 
earnings and the impressive turnaround of 
the Car Rental business. The improvement in 

other segments mainly relates to the raising 
of deferred tax assets in the United Kingdom 
(UK) and improved earnings in Digital Disposal 
Solutions (DDS). The results are a remarkable 
achievement considering the macro-economic 
environment and validate the necessity of 
the austerity measures carried out in the prior 
financial year.

Acquisitive growth saw the group report 
revenue of R41.6 billion from continuing 
operations, which was 22.5% above the 
prior year of R33.9 billion. New acquisitions 
added R6.6 billion of revenue, while existing 
businesses grew revenue at 2.6% above the 
prior year. 

EBITDA of R6.9 billion was 54.2% up from  
R4.5 billion in the prior period owing to 
improved margins in the business and the 
turnaround in those businesses which were 
negatively affected by Covid-19. Amortisation 
on intangible assets was up as a result of 
the newly acquired businesses taking into 
account the intangibles raised at acquisition. 
Depreciation however, remains well managed 
at a marginal 3% increase, despite the 
depreciation arising from the asset uplift from 
fair valuing the acquired assets.

Operating profit more than doubled to  
R4.3 billion as we began to accrue the benefits 
of the newly acquired Mongolia and Ingrain 
businesses, robust mining activity and austerity 
measures taken in the prior year. The operating 
margin increased by 450 bps to 10.3%. 

• Equipment southern Africa operating 
profit was R1.9 billion (FY2020 R1.2 billion) 
with the operating margin improving to 
10.7% boosted by the sales mix and cost 
reduction. 

• Equipment Eurasia’s operating profit was 
R1.2 billion (FY2020: R834 million) due to 
the acquisitive growth of Mongolia which 
contributed R289 million. Operating margin 
was slightly higher than last year’s levels 
at 11.0% in USD terms as a result of cost 
control and improved gross profit margin 
realisation.

• Ingrain recorded an operating profit of 
R534 million for the 11 months of trading 
translating into an operating margin of 
12.2%. Recovery in sales volumes and 
improved margin realisation driven by higher 
international agriculture commodity prices 
benefited the results. 

• Car Rental showed a commendable 
operating profit of R348 million compared to 
a R142 million loss in 2020 despite local and 
international travel restrictions impacting the 
Car Rental industry adversely. Maintaining 
the rationalised cost base, robust used 
vehicle sale margins and the agile operating 
model implemented resulted in the 
turnaround. 

• Avis Fleet operating profit of R503 million 
was higher than the prior year at   
R444 million, positively impacted by a 
sustained restructured cost base and 
enhanced used vehicle sales contributions 
due to a buoyant used vehicle market.

• The other segment operating loss reduced 
to R207 million compared to a R370 million 
loss in the prior year. SMD recorded improved 
profits, B-BBEE costs reduced and Khula Sizwe 
earned external rental income from NMI-DSM.

Losses from fair value adjustments on financial 
instruments totalled a R190 million driven by 
negative currency movements and forward 
exchange contract costs impacting Equipment 
southern Africa, of which R68 million related 
to South Africa and R14 million related to  
rest of Africa. The UK also realised a loss of  
R45 million due to the strengthening of the 
British Sterling against the US Dollar. Khula 
Sizwe incurred a R45 million fair value loss 
on an interest rate hedge, fixed on the loan 
funding the financing of property purchases.

Net finance costs of R820 million were marginally 
lower than prior year (FY2020:  R833 million) on 
the back of reduced interest rates in South Africa 
and a strong cash generation by the business.

Gains from non-operating and capital items 
of R195 million profit was an improvement 
on the prior year’s loss of R1.7 billion which 
included significant impairments due to the 
impact of Covid-19. The profit in the current 
year includes gains realised on the sale of 
properties of R30 million in Botswana and 
a R40 million reversal of impairment of the 
BHBW joint venture investment, partially offset 
by various other asset impairments. 

Group Finance Director’s review
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The effective tax rate before non-operating 
and capital items and prior year adjustments 
of 25.2% was positively impacted by a  
R233 million deferred tax asset raised in the 
UK on tax losses previously not recognised 
and a partial release of the deferred tax 
liability raised in terms of IAS12.41 in light of 
the appreciation of local currencies against  
the US Dollar. 

Losses in associates and joint ventures of 
R13 million were lower than the prior year 
of R43 million. Bartrac, our joint venture in 
the Katanga province of the Democratic 
Republic of Congo remained under pressure 
and generated a loss of R112 million (FY2020: 
R41 million). The loss was due to low activity, 
once off restructuring costs and impairments 
included in non-operating and capital items. 
The losses were partially offset by the results 
of NMI-DSM which generated an impressive 
R104 million profit (FY2020: R55 million).  
The BHBW joint venture recorded a reduced 
loss of R15 million for the year (FY2020:   
R58 million loss) from the turnaround  
strategy in progress. 

Discontinued operations

The numbers below include IFRS5 and  
group adjustments. 

The Motor Retail division recorded revenue for 
the 8 months to May of R8.9 billion (FY2020: 
September R12.0 billion) before being sold 
to NMI-DSM on 1 June 2021. The operating 
profit for this period amounted to R213 million 

compared to the prior year loss of R14 million 
due to lower operating expenses and an 
improvement in gross margins. The disposal of 
the business also triggered an acceleration of 
Khula Sizwe IFRS2 charges of R13 million and 
the overall net profit on sale of the business 
was R388 million. 

The Logistics business continues to face 
headwinds which have seen revenue reduce 
to R3.4 billion compared to R3.8 billion in the 
prior year. The market demand for Logistics 
services remains subdued coupled with 
customer contracts not being renewed. 
Results include once-off costs in preparation 
for the sale of the Logistics businesses and 
further restructuring costs. Operating losses 
have reduced from R146 million in 2020 
to R85 million as a result of lower depreciation 
reported due to the IFRS 5 requirement. 
However, losses from non-operating and 
capital items were R276 million including 
goodwill impairments of R115 million. 

Group financial performance

The exceptional set of results delivered in the 
year resulted in group revenue of R53.8 billion, 
up 8.4% from the prior year; and a profit  
for the year of R2.8 billion compared to  
a R2.5 billion loss in the prior year. 
Consequently, group HEPS for the year under 
review was 1 195 cents, compared 
to the 268 cents loss in the previous year. 

Cash flow

Net cash generated from operating activities 
before dividends to September 2021 of   
R6.4 billion inflow was R2.9 billion higher than 
the prior year at R3.5 billion, this was despite the 
significant de-fleeting of vehicles experienced in 
the prior year. Activity levels were overall better 
than last year and the working capital levels 
significantly improved due to the reduction in 
inventory balances and increase in payables.
Investments in the vehicle rental fleet have 
increased compared to the prior year due 
to increased demand and a low base at the 
beginning of the financial year.

Net cash used in investing activities of  
R4.3 billion includes the Ingrain acquisition  
of R5.3 billion partially offset by the proceeds 
on the 50% disposal of Motor Retail into  
NMI-DSM of R878 million and the maturity of 
the investment in USD-linked Angolan bonds 
of R389 million.

The free cash flow for the period excluding 
acquisitions and disposals was positive at 
R6.6 billion, which when compared to the 
prior year at an inflow of R3.3 billion was 
an exceptional effort in the tough trading 
conditions. 

Financial position, gearing   
and liquidity

Group total assets increased by R5.0 billion 
to R52.8 billion compared to the prior year. 
The increase was driven by the acquisition 

of Ingrain carrying a total asset base of 
R6.9 billion at end September 2021 (including 
goodwill and intangible assets) together with 
increased cash levels and vehicle rental fleet, 
but partially offset by a reduction in working 
capital in the rest of the businesses and the 
sale of Motor Retail. 

The Logistics assets and liabilities were disclosed 
as held for sale at the end of September 2021 in 
line with the requirements of IFRS5.

The UK pension scheme net liability has 
decreased significantly from R1.9 billion 
(GBP88.9 million) in the prior year to a 
R173 million (GBP8.5 million) at 30 September 
2021, largely driven by a recovery plan 
contribution of R675 million (GBP33.6m) 
in the year, changes in the financial and 
demographic assumptions used in the 
valuation of the liability and changes in 
the fair value of the scheme assets.

The group unutilised facilities for both local  
and offshore operations remain substantial at 
R10 billion which consists of R 8.7 billion 
committed facilities and R1.3 billion 
uncommitted facilities. This includes the UK 
syndicated loan of £100 million (R2.1 billion), 
and the South African syndicated loan of  
R3.3 billion. A R5.4 billion bridge facility which 
was ring-fenced to acquire Ingrain in 2020 has 
now been utilised, resulting in a decrease in 
our available facilities and an increase in debt.

Group Finance Director’s review continued
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Group Finance Director’s review continued

R billion
September 

2021
Group facilities
Utilised 13 145
Unutilised 9 956
Total Facilities 23101
Unutilised – committed 8 662
Unutilised – uncommitted 1 294
Total unutilised facilities 9 956

The group’s financial position remains well within our covenants.

Debt covenants
September 

2021

EBITDA: Interest cover > 3.0 times 9.2 times
Net Debt: EBITDA < 3.0 times 0.3 times

Key performance metrics 

Return on invested capital (ROIC^), Economic Profit (EP) and free cash flow (FCF) are key 
performance measures for the group. Performance against metrics during the period has improved 
significantly due to the group’s improved results. 

R billion
September 

2021
September 

2020
ROIC^ (%) 11.3 1.0
EP (R million) (673) (3 037)
FCF before acquisitions and disposals (R million) 6 600 3 327
Return on ordinary shareholder funds (%) 12.2 (1.5)

^ Certain information presented in this announcement is regarded as additional performance measures. These measures are not
 defined by IFRS, not uniformly defined or used by all entities and may not be comparable with similar labelled measures and
 disclosures provided by other entities. This information has been included to further illustrate the performance of the business and
 align with measures the board and management have selected to monitor performance against set targets. Because of its nature,
 such information may not fairly present the financial position of the company; and is the responsibility of the directors of the company.
 A disclosure document is included in the 2021 Annual Financial Statements and on the company’s website.

NV Lila
Group Finance Director
22 November 2021

In terms of our debt maturity profile, liquidity remains strong, with total interest-bearing debt up by 
R3.8 billion to R13.1 billion (FY2020: R9 billion) after the Ingrain purchase amounting to R5.3 billion. 
Net debt for September 2021 is reported at R2.3 billion, R350 million less than 2020 at R2.7 billion. 
However, if we exclude the Ingrain purchase consideration, the net debt at year end would have 
been a net cash position of R 2.7 billion. 

The September 2021 headroom in South Africa, Eurasia and rest of Africa facilities of R10 billion 
remain sufficient based on working capital forecast projections. Headroom in South Africa  
amounts to R6.2 billion, and the group received a dividend from Eurasia to the sum of R684 million.  
The R4.9 billion offshore facilities are also considered sufficient based on working capital forecast 
projections for Eurasia.

As at 30 September 2021, the group’s ratio of long- to short-term debt was 57:43 long-term 
compared to 56:44 at September 2020. Cash and cash equivalents currently amount to R10.8 billion 
(FY2020: R6.7 billion) highlighting our strong and liquid balance sheet position. 

Free cash flow before the Ingrain acquisition and disposal of Motor Retail equals R6.6 billion and 
R2.2 billion including acquisitions and disposals. The group actively reviews and monitors all 
facilities on an ongoing basis and we remain confident of our good liquidity position.
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The directors of Barloworld Limited (the 
company) have the pleasure of presenting 
the consolidated (Barloworld Limited and its 
subsidiaries also referred to as the group) and 
company financial statements for the year 
ended 30 September 2021. 

In terms of the South African Companies  
Act 71 of 2008 (as amended) the directors 
are required to prepare the consolidated 
and company financial statements that fairly 
present the state of affairs and business of the 
group and company at the end of the financial 
year, and of the profit or loss for that year. 
To achieve the highest standards of financial 
reporting, these financial statements have 
been prepared to comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
interpretations of IFRS standards, as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards board, 
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee 
and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as 
issued by the Financial Reporting Standards 
Council, the Companies Act and the JSE listing 
requirements. 

The report by the group finance director 
discuss the results of operations for the 
year and those matters which are material 
for an appreciation of the state of affairs 
and business of the company and of the 
Barloworld Group. 

On the recommendation of the audit and risk 
committee, the directors considered and are 
satisfied that the internal controls, systems and 
procedures in operation provide reasonable 
assurance that all assets are safeguarded, 
that transactions are properly executed and 
recorded, and that the possibility of material 
loss or misstatement is minimised. The 
directors have reviewed the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies, and concluded 
that estimates and judgements are prudent. 
They are of the opinion that the financial 
statements fairly present in all material 
respects the state of affairs and business of 
the group and company at 30 September 
2021 and of the profit for the year to that date. 
The external auditors, who have unrestricted 
access to all records and information, as well 
as to the audit committee, concur with this 
statement. 

In addition, the directors have also  
reviewed the cash flow forecast for the year 
to 30 November 2022 and believe that the 
Barloworld Group entities and the company 
have adequate resources to continue 
in operation for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the financial statements have 
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The financial statements were approved by 
the board of directors and were signed on its 
behalf by:

Dr NN Gwagwa 

DM Sewela

NV Lila

Sandton
22 November 2021

Directors’ responsibility and approval
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Preparer of financial statements
for the year ended 30 September 2021
These financial statements have been 
prepared by T Plews group General Manager 
Finance CA(SA) under the supervision of   
NV Lila, CA(SA).

NV Lila
Group Finance Director

22 November 2021

Preparer of financial statements
for the year ended 30 September 2021

Certificate by secretary
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited

In my capacity as the company secretary, 
I hereby certify that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, Barloworld Limited has 
lodged with the Companies and Intellectual 
Property Commission all such returns and 
notices as are required of a public company  
in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008  
(as amended). 

Further, I certify that such returns and notices 
are true, correct and up to date. 

V Mhlongo
Group Company Secretary 

22 November 2021
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Group Chief Executive Officer and Group Finance Director’s
responsibility statement

The directors, whose names are stated below, hereby confirm that: 

(a)  the annual financial statements set out on pages 22 to 127 and 136 to 152 respectively of our AFS, fairly present in all material respects the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of Barloworld Limited and its subsidiaries (“group”) in terms of IFRS; 

(b)  no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or misleading; 

(c)  internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to Barloworld and its consolidated subsidiaries have   
 been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of Barloworld; and

(d)  the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, having fulfilled our role  
 and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of King IV™. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit   
 and risk committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that   
 involves directors and have taken the necessary remedial action.

 

NV Lila
Group Finance Director

22 November 2021

DM Sewela
Group Chief Executive Officer  

22 November 2021
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Report on the Audit of the 
Consolidated and Separate  
Annual Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of Barloworld 
Limited and its subsidiaries (‘the group’) and 
company set out on pages 22 to 127 and 
136 to 152 respectively, which comprise of 
the consolidated and separate statements of 
financial position as at 30 September 2021, 
and the consolidated and separate statements 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the consolidated and separate 
statements of changes in equity and the 
consolidated and separate statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 
to the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated and 
separate financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of the 
group and company as at 30 September 
2021, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and consolidated and 
separate cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements  
of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group and company in 
accordance with the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) 
and other independence requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements of the group and company and 
in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IRBA Code and in accordance with other 
ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits of the group and company and in South 
Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards). We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the 
matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements section of our report, including 
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our 
audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, 
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying consolidated and separate 
financial statements. 



Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1.  Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated) continued

Ingrain operations comprise of 
four wet-milling plants located 
in Bellville, Germiston, Kliprivier 
and Meyerton. In addition, there 
is a distribution centre located 
in Australia which supplies 
customers in Australia, New 
Zealand and the Philippines. 

In accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations which states that 
the acquirer shall measure the 
identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed at their 
acquisition-date fair values. 
Management has performed 
a purchase price allocation 
(PPA) exercise assisted by a 
multi-disciplinary team made 
up of property valuers, mill 
construction experts, engineers, 
valuation experts and other 
relevant specialists. 

Management adopted the 
Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC) as the appropriate model 
in the assigning the fair values of 
operational fixed assets acquired. 
Land was fair valued based on 
independent external valuations 
performed.

We performed the following procedures on the take on 
balances: 

•  We reviewed the working papers of the predecessor 
auditors and held discussions with them to consider if 
opening balances were materially misstated. 

•  We agreed the take on balances to the closing 
statements and the underlying schedules for assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed 

•  We performed focussed substantive audit procedures 
on the take on account balances in addition to the 
review of predecessor auditors working papers.

•  We reviewed the working papers to also determine 
that the accounting policies were consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed by management 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and consistent with the group`s accounting 
policies.

Due to the complex nature of the milling infrastructure 
of Ingrain and the fact that Ingrain is the sole wet miller 
in Southern Africa, the audit of the fair value of assets 
acquired necessitated the involvement of various 
experts and specialists. We engaged the services of 
our International Plant Valuation specialists, Corporate 
Finance specialists; Actuaries and Taxation Specialists 
to assess the reasonableness of management’s 
assumptions and computations.

9
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The two Key Audit Matters which applied to the audit of the consolidated financial statements are:

Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1. Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated)

Barloworld Limited (“Barloworld”) 
entered into a Sale and Purchase 
Agreement (“SPA”) with Tongaat 
Hulett Limited (“THL”) on  
28 February 2020 to acquire 
the business of Tongaat Hulett 
Starch Proprietary Limited (a 
manufacturer of amongst other 
products unmodified starch, 
glucose, modified starches 
and agricultural products and 
nutrition ingredients). The 
transaction was completed 
on 31 October 2020, being 
the transaction effective date. 
Tongaat Hulett Starch was 
subsequently renamed to Ingrain 
South Africa (“Ingrain”) after 
the acquisition. This purchase 
was done through Barloworld’s 
wholly owned subsidiary, KLL 
group (Proprietary) Limited, 
which owns the acquired Ingrain 
business. The total purchase price 
was R5 260 million 

Our procedures included, amongst others, the following: 

• We obtained management’s assessment of the 
acquisition of Ingrain as part of the THL transaction to 
determine that it was a business combination in terms 
of IFRS 3 and performed our evaluation of the same 
with the assistance of our technical, valuation and 
corporate finance specialists. 

• We evaluated the sale and purchase agreement to 
confirm that the business being purchased contained 
requirements for it to qualify to be accounted for 
as the acquisition of a business as defined in IFRS 3: 
Business Combinations. 

• We confirmed the transaction price with reference  
to the sale and purchase agreement and the proof  
of payments. 

• We held discussions with management and their 
appointed experts to discuss the details of the 
transaction and the underlying calculations and fair 
valuation methodology that was applied. 

• We evaluated the suspensive conditions contained in 
the sale and purchase agreement and confirmed the 
appropriate acquisition date applied for the purposes 
of measuring the assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and for the measurement and recognition of goodwill 
and other intangible assets including customer 
relationships. 

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1.  Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated) continued

The depreciated replacement 
cost method values assets at the 
amount it would cost to replace 
the asset with a technologically 
modern equivalent new asset 
with similar service potential  
(i.e., milling capacity, functionality 
and remaining useful life), 
considering the age and physical 
condition of the asset and 
allowing for any differences 
in the quantity and quality of 
output and in operating costs.

As most of the components 
that would be required in the 
construction of a new mill would 
be acquired from overseas, 
the assigned values took into 
consideration the purchase 
price, import duties and foreign 
exchange rates that would 
be used to translate foreign 
currency to South African Rands. 
Furthermore, the valuation 
methodology assumed that 
a market participant would 
consider all the costs that they 
would incur when acquiring a 
substitute asset. 

Our independent specialists performed an independent 
assessment of the reasonableness of management`s 
ascribed fair values of the property, plant and equipment 
acquired at acquisition date. This specifically related to 
the valuation of property, plant and equipment of the 
four mills, identification and the valuation of intangible 
assets and the resultant goodwill to be recognised.

Our audit procedures included the following: 

• We critically evaluated whether the models used 
by management to calculate the fair value of assets 
acquired and, liabilities assumed, and goodwill raised 
complies with the requirements of IFRS 3.

• We evaluated the reasonability of the WACC rate used 
by testing the assumptions against market data. 

• We obtained management’s cash flow calculations 
and subjected key management assumptions to our 
own independently calculated sensitivity analysis. 

• We compared the projected cash flows, including 
assumptions relating to revenue growth rates and 
operating margins to the historical performance of 
Ingrain. This included the analysis of past tonnages 
and margins. 

• We compared the projections for Ingrain to third party 
valuations that was prepared prior to the conclusion 
of the agreement and expectations of growth 
and considered the potential impact of lockdown 
restrictions on sales and volumes.

• We physically verified a sample of assets at each of the 
four mills to determine their existence and to ascertain 
their physical condition.

Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1.  Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated) continued

The nature of the wet milling 
assets is that they are assets 
that will take long to construct, 
therefore borrowing costs would 
also be part of costs that a market 
participant will incur to construct 
a substitute asset. 

In addition to the fair value uplift 
on assets, management engaged 
a valuation expert to perform 
a valuation of the identified 
intangible assets, being largely 
the customer relationships. The 
valuation was performed utilizing 
a “multiple earnings valuation 
technique” which is deemed 
as an acceptable valuation 
methodology by management. 

The fair valuation exercise 
resulted in a fair value uplift on 
items of property, plant and 
equipment and the recognition 
of an intangible asset relating 
to customer relationships which 
would be amortised over a 
period of 15 years. Goodwill 
amounting to R1 639 million 
was recognised as a result of the 
acquisition of Ingrain. 

•  We casted and cross casted the fixed asset register 
that was used for the purposes of the valuation to 
ensure mathematical accuracy and agreed to the take-
on fixed asset register which was used to determine 
the fair value adjustment; and 

• We reviewed the adjustments that were processed 
as a result of the fair valuation exercise to ensure that 
they are appropriate and appropriately classified. 

• We reviewed the adequacy and reasonability 
of disclosures for the business combination for 
compliance with IFRS 3- Business Combinations.

Regarding the work that was performed by the auditors’ 
experts to review the work that was performed by 
management-appointed experts, we performed an 
independent assessment as follows:

•  We assessed the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the auditors’ independent experts and 
verified their qualifications. 

•  We discussed the scope of work with the auditors’ 
experts to determine that there were no matters 
affecting their independence and objectivity and that 
no scope limitations were imposed upon them. 

• We obtained confirmation from our auditors’ expert 
that the valuation techniques used are consistent with 
industry norms, including the following:

• Confirming that the principles of Depreciated 
Replacement Cost method of revaluation were 
appropriately applied by management and that 
there were no significant deficiencies.

• Confirming that the “realistic useful life of items of 
property, plant and equipment was appropriate.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1.  Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated) continued

The determination and ascription 
of fair values at acquisition 
date in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS 3 involved 
significant estimation and 
judgement having to be applied 
by management, informed by 
input from specialists. 

Given the quantum and 
significance of the acquisition, 
significant auditor attention 
was required to audit the PPA of 
Ingrain and therefore this matter 
is considered to be a key audit 
matter. 

•  We confirmed that the import duties, borrowing costs 
and foreign exchange rates that were used in the 
valuation were appropriate.

•  We assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used in determining the useful lives of the property 
plant and equipment acquired and that of the 
intangible assets acquired against those determined 
by management. 

We performed the following procedures with the 
assistance of our corporate finance experts in order to 
determine the valuation of intangible assets:

•  We reviewed the identification of intangible assets.

•  We reviewed the valuation methodology (“multiple 
earnings valuation technique”) used to calculate 
the fair value of the identified intangible assets and 
considered whether it was appropriate given the 
nature of the business.

•  We reviewed the PPA calculation for mathematical 
accuracy (including goodwill).

•  We performed an independent calculation of 
the valuation of intangible assets identified and 
considered any differences.

Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

1.  Acquisition of Ingrain (Consolidated) continued

•  We Reviewed the consolidated business valuation 
methodology as a reasonability check, which includes 
the following:

•  Reviewed the reasonableness of the weighted 
average cost of capital (“WACC”) applied to the 
valuation model; and

•  Reviewed the stack up of the purchase price to the 
business valuation.

•  We reperformed a Weighted Average Return of 
Assets (“WARA”) calculation.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

2. Maintenance and Repair Contracts (MARC) – Equipment division (Consolidated)

As at 30 September 2021, 
the group’s current and non-
current contract liabilities (of 
R2 131 million and R445 million 
respectively), include MARC 
deferred revenue of R713 million 
(FY2020: R586 million). The 
group’s revenue of R31 506 million 
includes MARC revenue of  
R1 315 million (FY2020:  
R1 325 million). The applicable 
disclosures can be found in notes 
2 and 29 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The group, through its Barloworld 
Equipment division, is a 
distributor of Heavy Industrial 
Equipment. In addition to the sale 
and rental of this equipment, the 
Barloworld Equipment division 
provides maintenance and repair 
services to its customers over 
varying contractual periods – 
these are referred to as MARC for 
the machines sold to customers. 

Our procedures included, amongst others, the following: 

• We updated our understanding of the MARC process 
including any changes to the process from the prior 
period.

• We read the revenue recognition policy relevant to 
MARC and assessed whether the principles applied 
have changed from prior period.

• We recalculated deferred revenue taking into account 
the following inputs: full life revenue, full life cost, 
costs incurred to date at sell, and billings to date. 

• We agreed the inputs used in management’s deferred 
revenue calculation to Barloworld Equipment 
division’s asset management system.

• We obtained the manual Deferred revenue calculation 
and checked the arithmetic accuracy of the 
calculation.

• We agreed the following inputs used within the 
calculation to supporting documentation: Full Life 
Cost, Revenue billed to date, Full Life Revenue, Costs 
incurred to date at sell. 

Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

2. Maintenance and Repair Contracts (MARC) – Equipment division (Consolidated) continued

As required by IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers 
- guaranteed MARC revenue is 
recognised over time using a 
cost-based output method and 
is calculated based on multiple 
inputs being actual costs incurred 
to date, billings to date, full 
life revenue, and full life costs. 
The “full life cost” and “full life 
revenue” are calculated at contract 
inception date and are adjusted 
as costs are incurred and price 
adjustments/variations are agreed 
with the customer.

The guaranteed MARC revenue 
for each machine contract is 
recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as a 
percentage of actual cost at sell 
(the costs at the selling price 
incurred to date) over total full 
life cost at sell expected to be 
incurred over the duration of the 
contract. This amount over the 
life of the contract is judgemental 
and based on managements prior 
experience on similar machines 
which is a highly judgemental 
factor in the calculation. 

We validated the inputs used in the calculation for a 
sample of existing MARC items as follows:

• We compared the current year Full life Cost to the 
prior year and identified movements above 5% and 
obtained explanations for movements and supporting 
documentation. We noted that an increase relates 
to increases in the price of a components and we 
corroborated this explanation by obtaining price 
escalation acknowledgement letters signed by the 
customer. 

• We recalculated the Revenue billed to date by 
accumulating invoices issued to the customer during 
the current year and prior year. We extracted from the 
financial accounting systems all the invoices issued.

• We recalculated the Full life Revenue which comprises 
Revenue billed to date and the remaining expected 
billings. Expected billing is calculated by multiplying 
the rate per hour agree with the customer and the 
remaining machine hours the contractual rates agreed 
by the remaining machine hours (remaining machine 
hours is determined by taking the total machine hours 
per the contract reducing the machine hours used by 
the customer according to the hours sheet issued by the 
customer to Barloworld.)

• Where the above-mentioned procedures produced 
variances, we assessed the reasons for variances, 
reasonability of assumptions implicit in Full-life cost 
estimation versus actual costs incurred for individual 
machines and machines of the same model range.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

2. Maintenance and Repair Contracts (MARC) – Equipment division (Consolidated) continued

Deferred revenue, which is the 
portion of revenue invoiced but 
not yet earned (in terms of the 
cost-based output method), is 
recognised as a liability in the 
statement of financial position. 
This means that the calculation 
relies on multiple inputs to be 
audited (both deferred and 
recognised) resulting in significant 
effort in the current year as 
extensive time was spent testing 
these inputs to supporting 
documentation. 

• For Costs incurred to date we agreed the cost to 
invoices from suppliers, and to labour time charge 
card. We agreed the costs recorded to the Asset 
Management Tool (“AMT system”).

For a sample of MARC equipment (machines) contracts 
entered into during the current financial year we:

• Tested the reasonability of full life cost at inception of 
the contract which is a management estimate through 
recalculation in reference to the expected effort to 
maintain/repair the equipment per the CAT dealer 
guidelines and our understanding of full-life cost 
based of prior observed costs similar machines. 

• Agreed the quantities for each component of a 
new MARC machine to quantities of an existing 
MARC machine of the same model sold to the same 
customer.

Key audit matter How this matter was addressed in our audit

2. Maintenance and Repair Contracts (MARC) – Equipment division (Consolidated) continued

• Agreed the selling price used for each component of 
the new MARC machine to the initial full life cost at sell 
of that machine after taking into account escalations 
of an existing MARC machine of the same model 
which was sold to the same customer in a prior year. 

• At inception of the contract, we agreed the 
recalculated full life revenue based on contract to full 
life revenue per the client calculation.

We performed a reasonability per customer site of the 
margin used to translate the cost at cost recognised in 
the clients accounting records to the cost at sell recorded 
in the AMT system.

To evaluate whether a potential onerous contract exists, 
we assessed the margin to be realised for each MARC 
contract. If the margin was negative, we would have 
raised an onerous contract provision. Based on the 
review, we did not identify an onerous contract.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the document 
titled “Barloworld Limited consolidated and 
company annual financial statement for 
the year ended 30 September 2021”, which 
includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit 
Committee’s Report, the chief executive officer 
and Group Finance Directors responsibility 
statement, and the Company Secretary’s 
Certificate as required by the Companies Act 
of South Africa, which we obtained prior to 
the date of this report, and the “Barloworld 
Limited Integrated Report”, which is expected 
to be made available to us after that date. 
The other information does not include 
the consolidated or the separate financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated and separate financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for 
the consolidated and separate 
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the group and 
company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the group 
and company or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the group and company’s internal 
control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the group and company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the group and/or the company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within 
the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance 
of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during  
our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the 
directors, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.  

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in 
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 
04 December 2015, we report that Ernst 
& Young Inc. and SizweNtsalubaGobodo 
Grant Thornton Inc. have been the auditors 
of Barloworld Limited for 2 years and 1 year 
respectively.

Ernst & Young Inc.    
Director: Sifiso Sithebe   
Registered Auditor    
Chartered Accountant (SA) 

22 November 2021    
 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
Director: Collins Mashishi
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)  

22 November 2021

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
To the Shareholders of Barloworld Limited
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The audit and risk committee’s primary 
role is to assist the board to discharge 
its corporate governance and oversight 
responsibilities by ensuring the integrity 
of the group’s financial and corporate 
reporting, overseeing risk management 
processes, the execution of the groups 
combined assurance model, and ensuring 
that adequate systems of internal control 
are in place regarding financial risks and 
that these controls are operating effectively. 

The audit and risk committee conducted 
its work in accordance with the written 
terms of reference approved by the board 
which is reviewed and updated annually. 
Terms of reference are set up to ensure 
that the committee performs its duties in 
terms of King IV, the Companies Act and the 
Listings Requirements of the JSE (the Listing 
Requirements) for the financial year ended 
30 September 2021.

The audit and risk committee is satisfied 
that it has performed both the statutory 
requirements for an audit committee as set 
out in the King Code, the Companies Act, 
the Listing Requirements, as well as the 
functions set out in the terms of reference, 
and that it has therefore complied with its 
legal, regulatory or other responsibilities.

Membership 

During the year under review the audit and 
risk committee consisted of 

• HH Hickey (Chairperson)

• M Lynch-Bell

• NP Mnxasana

• HN Molotsi

Five meetings were held in the year. Details 
of attendance are included in the integrated 
report available at www.barloworld.com.
 
The Group Chief Executive Officer, Group 
Finance Director, Group Executive: Human 
Capital, Internal Auditors, External Auditors, 
Finance Executives and Group Chief 
Information Officer also attend meetings 
of the audit and risk committee as invitees. 
The internal and external auditors both have 
unrestricted access to the audit and risk 
committee and regularly have confidential 
meetings without members of executive 
management being present.

External audit

The audit and risk committee

• Nominated and recommended to 
shareholders that Ernst & Young (EY)  
and SNG-Grant Thornton (SNG-GT) 
be appointed as joint independent 
external auditors for the company and its 
subsidiaries and the appointment of  
S Sithebe as the independent designated 
auditor for EY and C Mashishi as designated 
auditor for SNG-GT for the financial year 
ending 30 September 2022 in compliance 
with the Companies Act and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited. Following 
the 2021 audit, EY and SNG have been 
the external auditors of Barloworld in a 
shared arrangement for 1 year (2020) with 
S Sithebe as designated auditor and 1 year 
(2021) as joint auditors with S Sithebe as 
designated auditor for EY and C Mashishi as 
designated auditor for SNG-GT;

• Executed its responsibilities in assessing 
the suitability of the external auditors 
and designated individual auditors as 
required by paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) of the JSE 
Listings Requirements by considering the 
relevant information pursuant to paragraph 

22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements 
and have been provided with all decision 
letters/explanations issued by IRBA and 
any summaries relating to monitoring 
procedures/deficiencies issued by the 
auditors. The audit committee has satisfied 
itself that S Sithebe and C Mashishi, as 
the designated individual auditors are 
appropriate and that EY and SNG-GT, are 
accredited to appear on the JSE List of 
Accredited Auditors, in compliance with 
section 22 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

• Received confirmation from the external 
auditors, that EY and SNG-GT are 
independent of the group; 

• Considered and confirmed the proposed 
external audit fees and approved the 
external audit engagement letter; and 

• Considered to its satisfaction the 
independence, objectivity and effectiveness 
of the external auditor and ensured that 
the scope of its additional (non-audit) 
services provided were, individually and in 
aggregate, in compliance with the group’s 
policies in this regard. Refer to note 3 of  
the financial statements where fees paid  
to EY and SNG-GT are disclosed.

Audit and Risk Committee report
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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Accounting practices and key 
audit matters

The audit and risk committee reviewed the 
accounting policies and the annual financial 
statements of the company and of the group 
for the year ended 30 September 2021, 
for compliance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, IFRS and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, together with consideration 
of the findings from the 2021 JSE proactive 
monitoring report on the 2020 financial 
statements reviewed.

The audit and risk committee considered 
all new standards applicable for the 2022 
financial year as well as interpretations and 
amendments to standards in issue that are 
not yet adopted but are likely to affect the 
financial reporting in future years. The audit 
and risk committee also reviewed the related 
disclosure thereof in the annual financial 
statements. 

The audit and risk committee has considered 
the following key audit matters during the 
financial year ended 30 September 2021:

Valuation and impairment assessment of 
goodwill, indefinite life intangible assets and 
investments in associates and joint ventures

The audit and risk committee spent time 
understanding the significant estimates 
and judgements applied in management’s 

valuation and impairment assessments and 
challenged these where necessary. The audit 
and risk committee assessed management’s 
value-in-use calculations by considering, 
amongst others, the following:

•  The reasonableness of management’s 
assumptions used in determining future 
cash flows; 

•  The terminal value and discount rates 
applied in management’s value-in-use 
calculations and the sensitivity of these 
assumptions to reasonably possible 
changes; 

•  The adequacy of the disclosures made 
in notes 12, 13 and 14 to the financial 
statements; and

• Considered the work and assurance of the 
external auditors.

On this basis, the audit and risk committee 
reviewed the impairment of goodwill in the 
Logistics division during the first half and 
the second half of the financial year and 
the reversal of impairment in the BHBW 
joint venture investment. The Committee 
was satisfied that as at 30 September 2021 
there was sufficient headroom to support 
the remaining goodwill and indefinite life 
intangibles carrying value, the investments in 
associates and joint ventures carrying amount 
was in excess of their recoverable amount and 
that the disclosures presented in the financial 
statements are fairly presented in compliance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

Acquisition of Ingrain

Barloworld Limited entered into a Sale and 
Purchase Agreement with Tongaat Hulett 
Limited on 28 February 2020 to acquire 100% 
ownership interest in Tongaat Hulett Starch 
(“Ingrain”). The transaction was completed 
on 31 October 2020, being the transaction 
effective date.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 
3 Business Combinations, the acquirer shall 
measure the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date 
fair values. Goodwill is measured as the excess 
of the sum of the consideration transferred 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed. Management performed 
a purchase price allocation (PPA) exercise 
through a multi-disciplinary team made 
up of property valuers, mill construction 
experts, engineers, valuation experts and 
other relevant specialists. This approach was 
driven by the specialised nature of Ingrain’s 
operations, being the only wet miller in 
Southern Africa.

The audit and risk committee spent time 
understanding the significant estimates 
and judgements informed by specialists 
applied in management’s measurement of 
the identifiable assets acquired and assumed 
liabilities and challenged these where 
necessary. 

The audit and risk committee played a 
significant oversight role assessing the 
reasonableness of managements ascribed 
fair values of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed at acquisition date by 
understanding the difficulties encountered in 
assessing the measurement and recognition of 
goodwill by understanding, amongst others, 
the following:

• The appropriateness of the Depreciated 
Replacement Cost method of revaluation 
as a valuation technique and the 
reasonableness of assumptions used for 
valuing property, plant and equipment;

• The appropriateness of the multiple 
earnings valuation technique used and 
reasonableness of assumptions used to 
calculate the fair value of the identified 
intangible assets;

• The reasonableness of assumptions used 
in determining the useful lives of items of 
property, plant and equipment and that of 
intangible assets acquired;

• The reasonableness of the resultant 
measurement and recognition of goodwill

• The work of property valuers, mill 
construction experts, engineers, valuation 
experts and other relevant specialists used 
by management in the measurement of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed;

Audit and Risk Committee report continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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• The adequacy of the disclosures made in 
note 38.1 to the financial statements and 
the significant judgements and estimates 
made by management listed under non-
contractual customer relationships in the 
accounting policies; and

• The work and assurance of the external 
auditors. 

On this basis the audit and risk committee
was satisfied that the property, plant and
equipment, goodwill and intangible assets as
a result of the PPA allocation are appropriate
and in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Key areas of focus

In addition to executing on its statutory duties 
and the considering key audit matters, the 
audit and risk committee also addressed the 
following key areas of focus during the year 
ended 30 September 2021.

Risk management

The audit and risk committee

• Oversaw the smooth integration of 
the audit committee and the risk and 
sustainability committee;

• Approved the revised risk management 
philosophy;

• Approved the group and divisional risk 
bearing capacity;

 

Internal audit

The audit and risk committee

• Approved the Internal Audit Charter and the 
Annual Internal Audit Plan for the financial 
year 30 September 2021;

• Is satisfied that the Internal Audit Plan is 
risk-based and there is adequate coverage 
of all the divisions within the group;

• Adopted all changes to the Internal Audit 
plan during the year, and received comfort 
from internal audit that these changes did 
not impact the overall coverage and ability 
to express a conclusion on the control 
environment; 

• Received and reviewed reports prepared 
by internal audit team concerning the 
effectiveness of the internal control 
environment, systems and processes;

• Noted the findings and reports 
presented by internal audit in all the 
committee meetings, and the actions that 
management are taking to address these 
findings;

• Reviewed the results of the financial control 
management self-assessments as contained 
in the Barloworld internal control matrix 
which is completed in respect of all business 
units and operations in the group;

• Reviewed the report prepared by internal 
audit regarding the risk management 
process in the group and the level of 
maturity of such processes within each 
operating division;

• Reviewed the risk management maturity 
assessment; 

• Approved insurance cover against hardened 
market and with reduced capacity;

• Periodically reviewed the group and 
divisional  top risks; and

• Monitored the quality control environment 
for business adherence to the risk bearing 
capacity.

Information and technology 
governance

The audit and risk committee

• Approved the IT governance framework  
and charter; 

• Reviewed the IT King IV board 
responsibilities compliance and 
improvement plans;

• Approved the IT security and risk strategy;

• Reviewed the IT security risk maturity 
assessment;

• Reviewed the top IT risks pertaining to  
the group;

• Reviewed the status of the IT continuity 
practices across the group; and

• Reviewed and considered change in 
technology risk posture on Covid-19 impact 
and mitigation plans

• Has satisfied itself that the internal audit 
team are independent and objective in their 
service delivery to the group; and

• Noted the internal audit teams skills and 
experience. 

Internal control 

The internal audit team reviewed the control 
environment in all divisions within the group 
and their focus was on high-risk areas and 
concerns from management. Their conclusion 
is that the overall control environment 
is sound, and all areas of improvement 
have been reported to management, and 
the internal audit team are satisfied that 
management have committed appropriate 
action plans to remediate these findings. 

The audit and risk committee noted various 
reports presented by the internal auditors 
and the external auditors. Based on these 
reports, the committee is satisfied that the 
control environment is stable, and that there 
were no material matters which would have 
resulted in a misstatement of the Annual 
Financial Statements. The committee also 
noted that all critical and significant findings 
have been reported to the committee, and 
management’s proposed remedial actions 
to address any shortcomings in the control 
environment. The committee is satisfied 
that these remedial actions, if adequately 
implemented, will improve the control 
environment.

Audit and Risk Committee report continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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Based on the results of the formal documented 
review of the group’s system of internal controls 
and risk management conducted by the internal 
audit function during the 2021 financial year and 
having given due consideration to the results 
of assurance activities of various assurance 
providers including considering information 
and explanations given by management and 
discussions with the external auditor on the 
results of the audit, nothing has come to the 
attention of the audit and risk committee that 
caused it to believe that the group’s system of 
internal controls and risk management are not 
effective and that the internal financial controls 
do not form a sound basis for the preparation 
of reliable financial statements.

The audit and risk committee confirmed that 
there was no material breakdown in controls 
and fraud that involves directors reported to 
the committee during the year.

Combined assurance 

The audit and risk committee received and 
reviewed the updated Combined Assurance 
Framework. The framework has been 
streamlined and provides clarity on the roles 
of assurance providers and governance 
structures. The committee has adopted and 
approved the framework. The committee also 
approved the combined assurance plan for 
the groups top ten risks, and coverage from 
the assurance providers. This coverage will 
be monitored over the next financial year for 
assurance on the top ten risks. The combined 
assurance plan for the divisional top risks will 
be prepared in the coming financial year.

Expertise and experience of the 
Group Finance Director and the 
finance function

The audit and risk committee

• Reviewed the performance and confirmed 
the suitability and expertise of the Group 
Finance Director, N Lila.

• Considered the appropriateness of the 
expertise, diversity and adequacy of 
resources of the group’s financial function 
and the effectiveness of the senior members 
of management responsible for the financial 
function.

• Considered the reality of the Covid-19 
pandemic impact and remote working.

Financial statements

• Considered accounting treatments, 
significant or unusual transactions and 
accounting judgements;

• Considered the appropriateness of 
accounting policies and any changes made;

• Met separately with management and 
external audit and internal audit;

• Made appropriate recommendations to the 
board of directors regarding the corrective 
actions to be taken as a consequence of 
audit findings;

• Reviewed the process in place for the 
reporting of concerns and complaints 
relating to accounting practices, internal 
audit, content of auditing of the group’s 

financial statements, internal controls of the 
group and any related matters. The audit 
and risk committee can confirm that there 
were no such concerns or complaints during 
the year under review;

• Reviewed and recommended for adoption 
by the board such financial information 
that is publicly disclosed which for the year 
included:

• The interim results for the six months 
ended 31 March 2021;

• The audited annual results for the year 
ended 30 September 2021; and

• Reviewed the working capital pack 
prepared by management to support 
the board’s going concern statement at 
reporting dates as well as the solvency  
and liquidity tests required in terms of  
the Companies Act.

Financial statements and 
integrated reporting

The audit and risk committee considered 
the Barloworld Limited consolidated and 
company financial statements and the 
summarised financial statements, (together 
the financial statements) for the year ended 
30 September 2021. The audit and risk 
committee, in conjunction with other board 
sub-committees has also considered the 
non-financial information as disclosed in the 
integrated report and assessed its consistency 
with operational and other information known 
to committee members. 

The audit and risk committee has also 
considered the external assurance provider’s 
report and is satisfied that the information 
is reliable and consistent with the financial 
results. The financial statements have been 
prepared using appropriate accounting 
policies, which conform to International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

At their meeting held on 16 November 2021, 
the audit and risk committee recommended 
the financial statements for the year ended  
30 September 2021 for approval by the board.

HH Hickey
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman
For and on behalf of the Barloworld Limited 
Audit and Risk Committee

22 November 2021

Audit and Risk Committee report continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

Nature of business 

Barloworld Limited (“Barloworld” or 
“company”) is an industrial processing, 
distribution and services company with two 
primary areas of focus: Industrial Equipment 
and Services and Consumer Industries (food 
and ingredient solutions), with remaining 
interests in the rapidly changing Automotive 
world, focused on Car Rental and Leasing 
activities. Barloworld maintains a primary 
listing on the main board of the JSE Limited. 
The company also has a secondary listing 
on the Namibia stock exchange. The group’s 
corporate offices are situated in Johannesburg 
(with headquarters and treasury in 
Johannesburg, a treasury in Maidenhead 
(United Kingdom) and a captive insurance 
company in the Isle of Man). The group’s 
secondary listing in the UK was cancelled 
effective 1 October 2021. 

Financial results 

The following commentary reflects results 
from continuing operations. Revenue of  
R41.6 billion (FY 2020: R33.9 billion) was up 
22.5% from the prior year. Operating profit 
for the group was up 119.4% to R4.3 billion 
(FY2020: R2.0 billion). 

Major shareholders 

Shareholders holding beneficially, directly or indirectly, in excess of 3% of the issued share capital of 
the company at 30 September 2021 are detailed 

R billion
Total 

Shareholding
% of issued 

share capital

Silchester International Investors, L.L.P 39 868 801 19.8

Zahid Tractor & Heavy Machinery 35 408 823 17.6

Government Employees Pension Fund 29 173 790 14.5

The Vanguard Group, Inc. 6 731 905 3.3

Dividends 

Given the improved performance and strong balance sheet and cash generation, the board has 
resumed dividends and special dividend payments for the year ended 30 September 2021. 

Details of dividends and distributions declared and paid are shown below: 

Final dividend number 184 of 300 cents (gross) per ordinary share and a special dividend of   
1150 cents (gross).

Dividends declared Monday, 22 November 2021 

Finalisation date Monday, 13 December 2021

Last day to trade cum dividends Tuesday, 04 January 2022 

Ordinary shares trade ex-dividends Wednesday, 05 January 2022

Record date Friday, 07 January 2022 

Payment date Monday, 10 January 2022

The directors conclude that the company would be both solvent and liquid subsequent to such 
dividend declarations.

Group headline earnings per share of 
1 195 was 1 463 cents above the group 
headline loss per share of 268 in the prior year. 
Net cash inflow before financing activities was 
R1.5 billion compared to the outflow of R552 
million in the prior year.

Share capital

The authorised share capital as at  
30 September 2021: 400 000 000 ordinary  
par value shares of R0.05 each and 500 000  
6% cumulative preference shares of R2 each. 

The issued share capital as at 30 September 2021 
consists of 201 025 646 ordinary par value 
shares of R0.05 each and 375 000  
6% cumulative preference shares of  
R2 each. During the year 775 740 shares  
were repurchased as part of the group’s  
formal buy-back programme.
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Changes in directorate 

Sango Ntsaluba, an independent non-
executive director of the Barloworld board, 
retired at the annual general meeting 
(AGM) on 11 February 2021. The board also 
announced the appointment of Neo Mokhesi 
as lead independent director, effective   
22 February 2021.

On 22 February 2021, the board advised 
shareholders of Ms. Neo Dongwana’s intention 
to retire as non-executive director and Chair  
of the board following the end of her nine-
year tenure in May 2021. She left her role as 
Barloworld director at the end of this financial 
year, 30 September 2021. 

Dr Nolulamo (Lulu) Gwagwa was appointed 
to the board of directors of Barloworld as an 
independent non-executive director and the 
Chairman of the board, with effect from   
1 October 2021. 

Company Secretary and  
registered office 

On 4 June 2021 the group advised that 
Ms Andiswa Ndoni resigned as Company 
Secretary with effect from 31 October 2021. 
Ms Vasta Mhlongo joined the group as company 
secretary on 11 October 2021. 

Ms. Mhlongo’s business address and that of 
the registered office appear on the inside of 
the back cover. 

Auditors 

At the forthcoming AGM, shareholders will 
be requested to re-appoint EY and SNG-GT as 
joint registered independent external auditors 
of Barloworld Limited for the 2022 financial 
year and to confirm Mr S Sithebe, as the lead 
independent external auditor for EY and  
Mr C Mashishi as the lead independent 
external auditor for SNG-GT. 

Acquisitions and disposals 

Effective 31 October 2020, the group acquired 
Ingrain from Tongaat Hulett Limited. Ingrain is 
Africa’s largest producer of starch, glucose and 
related products, and produces a wide range 
of high quality products for customers across 
Africa and around the world using maize as a 
raw material. 

During the year, the board approved the 
sale of the group’s wholly owned Motor 
Retail business to NMI Durban South Motors 
Proprietary Limited (NMI-DSM), an associate 
in which Barloworld holds a 50% interest. The 
transaction was completed on 1 June 2021. 

The group has undertaken a formal disposal 
process to exit the Logistics business, and 
the business is classified as held for sale 
from 01 February 2021 and is disclosed as a 
discontinued operation in the group’s results. 

Going concern 

The directors consider that the group entities 
and company have adequate resources 
to continue operating for the foreseeable 
future and that it is therefore appropriate to 
adopt the going-concern basis in preparing 
the consolidated and company financial 
statements. The directors have satisfied 
themselves that the group entities and 
company are in a sound financial position 
and that they have access to sufficient 
borrowing facilities to meet foreseeable cash 
requirements.

Events after the reporting period 

The formal disposal of the Logistics business, 
following approval by the board, is under 
way and the group is assessing various offers. 
The group is now negotiating the piecemeal 
disposal of various sections of Logistics in 
response to high levels of interest in smaller 
business units. 

Focus remains on sales transactions 
that continue to support our customer 
requirements and protect value for the 
group. In light of this approach the group has 
entered into sale agreement in respect of its 
51% controlling interest in Aspen Logistics. 
The transaction is subject to the competition 
commission approval in Botswana.

The sale of the Transport division of Barloworld 
Logistics was concluded on 19 November 2021 
and is now subject to regulatory approvals. The 
remaining business, consisting largely of Supply 
Chain Solutions, is anticipated to be concluded 
in the next few months.

The impact of Covid-19 has been considered 
up to 30 September 2021. Subsequent to year 
end there have been no significant changes 
in the Covid-19 restrictions impacting our 
businesses and thus no subsequent events 
related to the Covid-19 crisis have occurred. 

To the knowledge of the directors no further 
material events have occurred between the 
reporting date and the date of approval 
of these financial statements that would 
affect the ability of the users of the financial 
statements to make proper evaluations and 
decisions.

Directors’ report continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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Definitions

Refer to www.barloworld.com for a list of financial terms used in the annual financial statements  
of Barloworld Limited (the Company) and consolidated financial statements (the group).

Basis of preparation

1. Accounting framework

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards board, the SAICA 
Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council and the Companies Act of 
South Africa. The historical cost convention is used except for certain financial instruments that are 
stated at fair value. 

The basis of preparation is consistent with the prior year. Accounting policies, which are useful to 
users, especially where particular accounting policies are based on judgement regarding choices 
within International Financial Reporting Standards, have been disclosed. 

Accounting policies for which no choice is permitted in terms of International Financial Reporting 
Standards have been included only if management concluded that the disclosure would assist users 
in understanding the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the materiality of the 
item being discussed. Accounting policies which are not applicable from time to time, have been 
removed, but will be included if the type of transaction occurs in future.

The group has made the following accounting policy choices in terms of IFRS:

• Interest in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the cost method for  
Barloworld Limited’s separate financial statements.

• The cost model is applied in accounting for property, plant and equipment and leased assets 
(policy note 15).

• To subsequently measure equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive  
income (OCI).

Accounting policies
for the year ended 30 September 2021

• To continue applying the hedge accounting principles in accordance with IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments.

• To apply the simplified approach for measuring the expected credit loss (ECL) on finance lease 
receivables.

2. Underlying concepts

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 
Assets and liabilities and income and expenses are not offset unless specifically permitted by an 
accounting standard.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are off-set, and the net amount reported only when a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts exists, and the intention is either to settle on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

EBITDA refers to Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation.
Non-operating and capital items refer to expenses/income that are unrelated to Barloworld’s core 
operations and fall outside the normal course of business. Items of income/expense included in 
non-operating and capital items are consistent with items that are out of (excluded from) Headline 
Earnings Per Share (HEPS) in accordance with the JSE Listing Requirements and guidance published 
by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants relating to HEPS.

All financial information has been rounded to the nearest million unless stated otherwise.

Current vs non-current
The group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/
non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:

• expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
• held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
• cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

http://www.barloworld.com
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A liability is current when it is:

• expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
• held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
• there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counter-party, result in its settlement by the 
issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

The group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

3. Significant judgements and estimates made by management 

Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires estimates and assumptions that 
affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Accounting policies which have been identified as involving particularly complex or subjective 
judgements or assessments are as follows:

Revenue recognition 
The percentage of completion method is applied to recognise revenue on long-term maintenance 
and repair contracts (MARC) in the Equipment and Automotive businesses as performance 
obligations are satisfied over time. Management exercises judgement in calculating the contract 
liabilities and contract assets which are based on the anticipated cost of repairs over the life cycle 
of the equipment, or motor vehicles, applied to the total expected future revenue arising from 
maintenance and repair contracts. For further detail refer to notes 2 for revenue, 20 for contract 
assets and 29 for contract liabilities of the annual financial statements. Detailed accounting policies 
have been disclosed in accounting policy note 9.

The significant assumption made to determine the stage of completion of contracts include:

• Costs incurred to date to fulfil the performance obligations for MARC contracts;
• Estimated costs to be incurred in fulfilling the performance obligations for MARC contracts;
• Contract duration and mileage;

• Contract expiry date;
• Foreign currency movements;
• Parts price and labour inflation; and
• Projected income stream, specifically for Automotive business.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the 
statement of financial position.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has 
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and:

• represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;
• is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 

geographical area of operations; or
• is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented 
as a single amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the statement of profit 
or loss.

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets or cash-generating units are projected, 
taking into account market conditions and the expected useful lives of the assets. The present value 
of these cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is compared to the current net 
asset value and, if lower, the assets are impaired to the present value. 

Cash flows which are utilised in these assessments are extracted from formal five-year business 
plans which are updated annually. The company utilises a discounted cash flow valuation model 
to determine asset and cash-generating unit values supplemented, where appropriate, by other 
valuation techniques. For further details of management’s impairment assessments over goodwill 
and intangible assets refer to notes 12 and 13 included in the annual financial statements.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Impairment of financial assets
The group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, as well as on the financial liability recognised for financial guarantee contracts. The 
recoverability of a financial asset is determined from the date it is recognised with a loss allowance 
recognised for expected losses determined at initial recognition. The group measures the loss 
allowance at an amount equal to the life-time expected losses if credit risk on the financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. 

The group calculates the allowance for credit losses based on the expected credit loss (ECL) model 
to assess whether financial assets measured at amortised cost, finance lease receivables and 
contract assets collectively referred to as receivables (for impairment purposes only) are impaired.

Barloworld’s financial asset portfolio is very diverse as a result of the group’s numerous and distinct 
operating segments which service a broad customer base (both industry wise and geographically) and 
hold a variety of financial assets. As such, the group has rebutted the presumption that credit risk has 
significantly increased when financial assets are more than 30 days past due. Credit risk is considered 
to have significantly increased when supportable forward looking information such as inflation and 
gross domestic product forecasts, the counter-parties reputation and estimated financial position,  
the market conditions the counter-party operates in, the impact of technology and, particularly  
in relation to the group’s Equipment debtors, local economic and geopolitical indicators including 
commodity prices, supply/demand forecasts including mining production outputs, construction 
industry forecasts, and currency liquidity indicate that the financial asset would not be recoverable 
as contracted. In determining the ECL, receivables are grouped based on similar risks, the industry in 
which the customer operates, the regulatory environment, the size of the receivable and the historical 
payment history of the customer. ECLs are calculated using the historic loss ratio adjusted for forward-
looking information. In instances where there was no evidence of historical write-offs, management 
judgement is applied to assess for potential credit losses. 

For financial assets where the group determines that recoverability is unlikely, such that the credit quality 
has significantly deteriorated and the assets are credit impaired, a life-time ECL is recognised, and interest 
income only accrues on the net amount (gross carrying amount less credit impairment). Default is 
considered to have occurred when a customer does not meet their contractual payment obligations.  
The group considered this a sound basis as, in management’s view, financial assets are credit impaired 
when the group has not received contractual cash flows as contracted, efforts to recover the asset have 
not been successful and the customer’s ability to pay is questionable. Where the group determines there 
are no prospects of a customer meeting its contractual repayments, the related receivable is written off, 
and this occurs when the customer is handed over to legal for collection. 

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the group becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the 
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in 
the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the group considers the 
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The group recognises a loss allowance using a simplified approach as a lifetime ECL on: 

• Trade receivables and contract assets; and
• Finance lease receivables as an accounting policy choice.

The group reassesses the lifetime ECLs at each reporting period and recognises any changes as an 
impairment gain or loss.

Business Combinations and associated financial liabilities
A deferred earn out is payable to the seller of the Mongolian Caterpillar dealership. These payments 
are contingent on this business achieving certain distinct annual revenue targets from 1 September 2020 
to 31 August 2024. The earn-out is payable each year and there is no cumulative catch-up over the 
earn-out period. The financial liability for the earn-out payment was initially measured at a fair value 
based on management’s forecasts for the Mongolian business as approved by the board. These 
forecasts involve the use of judgements and estimates including country growth prospects. This 
position will be re-evaluated at each reporting date with any changes in this estimate subsequently 
recognised in profit or loss and included in headline earnings.

Non-contractual customer relationships
As part of the Purchase Price Allocation process undertaken in terms of IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations, an intangible asset arising from non-contractual customer relationships was 
identified and valued at R1 billion, refer to note 38.1.

Customer relationships may arise from contracts (such as supplier contracts and service contracts) 
or may be non-contractual customer relationships which represent loyal customers that will 
continue their relationship after the acquisition by any market participant. Ingrain has contracts 
with the majority of its customers, which are short term in nature (12 months or less), which 
contracts include pricing but not volumes. Due to the short-term nature of these contracts which 
do not specify volumes, these customer relationships have been identified and valued as non-
contractual customer relationships. 

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Ingrain’s established non-contractual long-term relationships have been identified as an intangible 
asset and valued using the multi-period excess earnings methodology (“MEEM”). Using the MEEM 
method, the present value of the cash flows generated by, and only by, the specific asset being 
valued is determined. 

In determining the appropriate attrition rate in valuing the customer relationships, historical 
revenue contributions per customer for the 10 years prior to the valuation date were evaluated.  
A further analysis was done on the 10-year category of customers to determine when these became 
customers of Ingrain given that more than 80% of the customers have been with Ingrain for over 
10 years. Taking into account the 10-year historical information and the commencement dates of 
the customers, an attrition rate based on the weighted average contribution per customer was 
determined and applied to the forecast revenues of the customers. Despite the fact that many 
of the customers have been purchasing from Ingrain for approximately 20 years, a more prudent 
approach has nonetheless been adopted and a useful life of 15 years has been calculated for the 
customers, based on the attrition rates calculated from the historical analysis. The useful life was 
extrapolated by implementing the straight line methodology.

Customer relationships were accordingly valued over 15 years.

The determination of the fair value, useful lives and residual values of the PPE acquired during the 
purchase price allocation in the Ingrain acquisition was also a significant consideration. Please refer 
to note 38.1

Post-employment benefit obligations
Actuarial valuations are based on assumptions which include employee turnover, mortality rates, 
the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of return of retirement plan assets, healthcare 
inflation cost and rates of increase in compensation costs.

Judgement is exercised by management, assisted by advisers, in adjusting mortality rates to take 
account of actual mortality rates within the schemes.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred taxation assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Five-year business plans are prepared annually and approved by the boards of the company and its 
major operating subsidiaries. These plans include estimates and assumptions regarding economic 
growth, interest rates, inflation, and competitive forces. The plans contain profit forecasts and cash 
flows, and these are utilised in the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Refer to 
note 12 for the inputs used in the assessment. Management also exercises judgement in assessing 
the likelihood that business plans will be achieved and that the deferred tax assets are recoverable. 
In certain circumstances further corroborative evidence is used, such as tax planning opportunities 
within the control of management, to support the recovery of the tax asset.

Lease term
The following factors were considered in determining whether it is reasonably certain the options 
will be exercised, thus whether there is an economic incentive to exercise:

• The strategic objectives of the business and annual business plans that observe a 5-year cycle;
• Whether the terms and conditions of the current lease are more favourable than the current 

market conditions;
• The proximity of the leased premises to core customers and other business hubs;
• Specifics for the premises/assets leased and any leasehold improvements, such as workshops or 

office building, undertaken by the group which are optimized to business needs;
• Costs relating to the termination of the lease;
• The availability of similar/alternative assets in the market suitable to the business needs; and
• All relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the lessee to exercise, 

or not to exercise, the option, including any expected changes in facts and circumstances from 
the commencement date until the exercise date of the option.

Lessees incremental borrowing rate (IBR)
The group engaged an external service provider to determine the IBRs which were distributed to 
and used by all divisions except for Barloworld Transport for leases of trucks and trailers as the IBRs 
could be determined from the contracts. The following judgements and estimates were applied in 
determining IBRs for Barloworld Transport:

• The purchase price of the assets is known from the invoice/contract;
• The lessors specify the residual value of the assets at the end of the lease period;
• The leases are secured by the asset and there are separate contracts for each truck and trailer;
• The present value, number of payments and actual payments are specified in the contracts; and
• The contracts have no option for extensions and no escalations.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Supplier finance arrangements
Judgement is exercised regarding whether these arrangements constitute trade payables or debt. 
Factors considered include the currency in which the financing arrangements are settled, the 
repayment terms of the facilities relative to standard supplier payment terms and the existence 
of breakage costs on these facilities. To ensure comparability and consistency, current industry 
practices are also considered as part of this determination.

Uncertain tax positions
The group is subject to income tax in several jurisdictions and significant judgement is required 
in determining the provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. As a result, the 
group recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will  
be due.

These tax liabilities are recognised when, despite the company’s belief that its tax return positions 
are supportable, the company believes it is more likely than not that a taxation authority would not 
accept its filing position. In these cases, the group records its tax balances based on either the most 
likely amount or the expected value in accordance with the group Tax Risk policy, which weights 
multiple potential scenarios. The company believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate 
for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors including past experience and 
interpretations of tax law.

4. Employee benefit costs

The cost of providing employee benefits is accounted for in the period in which the benefits are 
earned by employees.

The cost of short-term employee benefits is recognised in the period in which the service is 
rendered and is not discounted. 

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there 
is a legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance and a 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 

5. Deferred taxation assets and liabilities

Deferred taxation is recognised using the financial position liability method for all temporary 
differences, unless specifically exempt. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and such tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.
 
A deferred taxation asset represents the amount of income taxes recoverable in future periods in 
respect of deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax losses and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits. 

A deferred taxation liability represents the amount of income taxes payable in future periods in 
respect of taxable temporary differences. Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences, unless specifically exempt. 

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects immediately neither taxable income nor accounting profit.

Deferred taxation arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is recognised 
except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current taxation assets against current taxation liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a 
net basis.

The group has companies where deferred taxes are recognised for temporary differences that 
arise when an entity’s taxable profit or loss (and thus the tax basis of its non-monetary assets and 
liabilities) are measured in a currency different to its functional currency. Changes in the exchange 
rate result in a deferred tax asset or liability which is charged to profit and loss.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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6. Foreign currencies

The group’s presentation currency is South African Rand (R).

The US dollar has been selected as the functional currency for the group’s operations across the 
majority of the African territories, outside South Africa, Russia, and Mongolia. A combination of 
factors is considered in coming to this conclusion. These included the assessment of the economic 
environment where the operations are located and the currency that most influences the cost of 
goods and the pricing decisions. 

The financial statements of entities within the group whose functional currencies are different to 
the group’s presentation currency include the following significant currencies:

• US Dollar
• British Pound

Refer to the consolidated summary in other currencies which follows these consolidated financial 
statements for the exchange rates applied in the consolidation (spot and average rates).

Consolidated Financial Statements

7. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the results and financial position of Barloworld 
Limited, its subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates, and other entities where there is no shareholding 
but over which the group exercises control. Subsidiaries are entities which the group has power 
over and in respect of which it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with these entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over those entities. 
The results of any subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included from the date 
control was obtained and up to the date control ceased to exist. Total comprehensive income of the 
subsidiary is attributed to owners of the company and to the non-controlling interests even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a negative balance.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised profits that 
arise between group entities are also eliminated.

All changes in the parent’s ownership interests that do not result in the loss of control are accounted 
for within equity. The carrying amount of the group’s interest and the interest of the non-controlling 
shareholders is adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary.  
Any differences between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and  
the fair value of the consideration paid/received are recognised directly in equity.

When an entity loses control of a subsidiary, it de-recognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost and also derecognises the 
carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at that date. It recognises  
the fair value of any consideration received on the loss of control and recognises any of the 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at its fair value at the date when control is lost.  
Any resulting differences are reflected as a gain or loss in profit or loss attributable to the group.

8. Operating segments

The Executive Committee, as chief operating decision maker, has determined the operating 
segments based on the information it uses to allocate resources and assess segmental performance. 
Segments are analysed by operating activities. No operating segments have been aggregated in 
arriving at the reportable segments of the group as presented in Note 1.

Management evaluates the segment performance based on the operating results plus any other 
items that are directly attributable to segments including fair value adjustments on financial 
instruments. Interest costs are excluded due to the centralised nature of the group’s treasury 
operations.

Due to the restructure of the Automotive and Logistics businesses management have decided to 
review the aggregation of segments and have included Handling, Automotive Trading (remainder), 
Corporate office and Khula Sizwe into a combined segment reflected as Other segments. 
Comparative numbers have been restated to be in line with the current period information. 
Logistics segment is presented as part of the discontinued operations.
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As a result, the activities of the group’s operating segments are updated and described below:

• Equipment southern Africa (BWE snA) 
This segment delivers construction and mining equipment to the earthmoving industry.

• Automotive 
The Automotive division of this segment comprises of the following world class business units; 
Avis and Budget Rent a Car, and Avis Fleet.

• Ingrain 
This is the newly acquired business that is involved in the sale of starch, glucose, and other 
related products (co-products).

• Equipment Russia and Mongolia (Eurasia) 
This Eurasia segment delivers construction and mining equipment to the earthmoving industries 
across Russia and Mongolia.

• Other segments 
Handling, Automotive Trading (remainder), Corporate office and Khula Sizwe. 

Note that the Russia, Mongolia, and Europe operations are collectively referred to as Barloworld’s 
Eurasia operations.

For information purposes only certain segmental disclosure is also provided along the geographical 
lines southern Africa, Russia, Mongolia, and Europe.

Income Statement

9. Revenue

The group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

• Sale of goods and parts (new and used)
• Sales of service and maintenance
• Rendering of services
• Commission income

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the performance obligations for 
the transfer of goods and services are satisfied, this maybe over time or at a point in time, in the 
above major revenue sources. Revenue is recognised at the amount of the transaction price that is 
allocated to the specific performance obligations. The revenue is disaggregated based on the type 
of revenue. See note 2. 

Revenue represents the invoiced amounts excluding those earned on behalf of others, value-added 
tax or the amount measured using the percentage of completion, except for rental income which is 
recognised on a straight-line basis.
 
As a practical expedient, Barloworld does not adjust the amount of consideration for the effects 
of a significant financing component if the group expects, at contract inception, that the period 
between when the group transfers a good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for 
that good or service to be within one year.

In accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Barloworld has elected to apply 
the practical expedient by considering a portfolio of contracts with customers and performance 
obligations with similar characteristics as specified above.

Sale of goods and parts
The sale of goods and parts includes: 

• new and used Caterpillar earthmoving equipment, engines, and other complementary products, lift 
trucks, warehouse handling equipment and associated agricultural equipment (BWE snA and Eurasia; 

• starch, glucose, and other Co products (Ingrain) (Co products include gluten and germ)
• used motor retailing (Automotive – Salvage Management and disposal). 
• sale of used and rental and fleet vehicles.

Performance obligations from the sale of goods and parts are satisfied at a point in time.  
The point of delivery is where control over the goods is transferred to the customer and therefore 
the performance obligation is satisfied. Payment is then due as follows:

• Sales of used vehicles – ranges from cash on delivery to 30 days of invoice date
• Sales of new parts – ranges from cash on delivery to 90 days of invoice date
• Sales of used parts – ranges from cash on delivery to 90 days of invoice date
• Sale of starch, glucose and other related products referred to as co-products (Ingrain) –  

ranges from 30 days to 90 days of invoice date
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• Sales of new equipment – cash on delivery for construction machines and 7 days from 
commissioning for mining machines 

• Sales of used equipment – cash on delivery unless financed under instalment sale agreement

Rendering of services
Revenue from providing services includes:

• Rental income earned on contracts shorter than 12 months outside of IFRS 16  
(Automotive – Avis)

• Workshop, in-field support services and after sales services including equipment services, 
fitment, and repairs (Equipment and Handling); 

• Maintenance services, fitment, and repairs (Automotive); 
• Vehicle fleet management services (Automotive); and
• Logistics services and supply chain management solutions (Logistics);

Revenue from rendering services which is long term in nature is recognised over the life of the plan 
in the accounting period in which the services are rendered (over time). 

The percentage of completion (input) method, based on the costs incurred to date as a percentage 
of total estimated costs to be incurred to fulfil the performance obligations, is applied to recognise 
revenue on long-term maintenance and repair contracts (MARC) in the Equipment and Automotive 
businesses as a result of the performance obligations being satisfied over time. This method best 
depicts the transfer of services to customers as the costs incurred to date is indicative of the group’s 
satisfaction of the performance obligations under revenue contracts with its customers. 

As part of the MARC contracts the group receives monthly instalments from customers for the 
duration of the contract towards the maintenance and repair services to be performed in future.
For transport services in Logistics – for shorter trips locally, revenue is recognised at a point in 
time (same day delivery) but for longer trips (cross-border) it is recognised overtime based on 
the kilometres travelled to date over the total kilometres expected to be travelled to satisfy the 
promised transportation service (percentage of completion for input method).

The amount to be recognised as revenue over-time, typically long-haul transport services, is 
determined by taking the total expected revenue from the fulfilment of the obligations multiplied 
by the percentage of completion.

For supply chain management solutions in Logistics – revenue is over time using the input method 
where costs incurred are compared to the total expected costs to be incurred on the contract. 

Commission income
The group is an agent, and earns commission income, in the sale and auctioning of goods through 
Automotive. In these arrangements, the group does not recognise the gross amount as revenue 
but only the fee consideration it expects to be entitled to. Commission income is recognised at the 
point when the performance obligation which gives rise to the commission income is satisfied.

Warranty claims
Service and Assurance type warranties are provided on certain equipment, spare parts and services 
supplied to customers. Management exercises judgement in establishing provisions required on the 
basis of claims notified and past experience.

Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the 
estimated expenditure required to settle the group’s obligation. Warranties have not been identified 
as distinct performance obligations from the sale of the goods it relates to. 

Within the Equipment and Automotive divisions warranties are provided on certain equipment 
based on warranties supplied by the OEMs (original equipment manufacturers) for spare parts 
and service supplied to customers. Management exercises judgement in establishing provisions 
required on the basis of claims notified and past experience. For further detail refer to note 25 
included in the annual financial statements. 

Within the Equipment business certain sales are executed through sale and lease arrangements with 
financial institutions, whereby Barloworld sells the equipment to the financial institution and leases 
the equipment back to Barloworld. The initial sale to the financial institution meets the requirements 
of IFRS 15 for revenue recognition and is treated as an outright sale. In such transactions, the 
performance obligation is satisfied when Barloworld and the financial institution sign the certificate of 
delivery and payment is due on delivery. These leaseback agreements are generally for periods of less 
than 12 months, however, the leaseback results in an on balance sheet lease liability and right of use 
asset for Barloworld and these are treated as finance leases because the short-term lease exception 
does not apply to sale and lease back in terms of IFRS 16, with the resultant on-leasing of this right of 
use asset to an end-customer being accounted for as finance leases from Barloworld’s perspective as 
lessor to the end-customer. Further the group does not bear credit risk or any residual risk on these 
leases and no bargain purchases exist for the benefit of the group.

For further detail refer to note 2 included in the annual financial statements.
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Contract liability
A contract liability is recognised within the Equipment and Automotive divisions on receipt of the 
instalment or upfront payments, before performance obligations are satisfied, which is released to 
the income statement as revenue as the related performance obligations are satisfied and is non-
refundable. 

Contract asset
A contract asset is recognised within Equipment and Logistics when performance obligations 
(contractual maintenance and repair services/transport and Logistics services) are gradually 
satisfied over time, for which revenue is recognised, and the customer has not been billed. The 
contract asset is de-recognised when the customer is invoiced, and a trade receivable is recognised 
with the difference between the contract asset derecognised and trade receivable recognised as 
revenue or an impairment loss.

10. Finance costs

Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest 
rate method.

For interest on lease liabilities, please refer to note 5.

For further detail on finance costs incurred refer to note 5 included in the annual financial 
statements.

11. Income from investments

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on financial assets measured at amortised costs using the 
effective interest method.

12. Taxation

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for income that is 
exempt and expenses that are not deductible using tax rates that are applicable to the taxable 
income. Deferred taxation is recognised in profit or loss except when it relates to items credited or 
charged to other comprehensive income, in which case it is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

Statement of financial position

13. Business combinations 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the group, liabilities incurred by the group to the 
former owners of the acquiree in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed are recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 

• deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements 
are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and IAS 19 respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or 
share-based payment arrangements of the group entered into to replace share-based payment 
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date 
(see below); and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are 
measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net of the 
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

When the consideration transferred by the group in a business combination includes a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. 
Acquisition-related costs are accounted for as an expense when incurred and included in the 
operating profit line of the consolidated income statement.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do 
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration 
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent 
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent 
consideration (financial liability representing an obligation to settle the contingent consideration) 
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. 
Those interests of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling 
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. 
Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of  
those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes 
in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries 
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

14. Goodwill 

Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out in accounting policy 13 above. 

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually, and when there are 
indicators of impairment. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of 
the group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may 
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount 
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period. 

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and is not amortised.

15. Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

Items of PPE are stated at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land and capital work-in-progress 
which is shown at cost less accumulated impairment. 

Property, plant and equipment with the exception of rental/fleet assets (see below) are depreciated 
over its useful life taking into account residual values, where appropriate. 

The actual lives and usage of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may 
vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset lives and usage, factors such as 
technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance programmes are taken into account. 
Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of 
the asset and projected disposal values. 

The following methods and rates were used during the year to depreciate property, plant and 
equipment to estimated residual values:
  

Buildings Straight line 20 to 50 years

Plant Straight line 5 to 35 years

Vehicles Straight line 5 to 10 years

Equipment Straight line 5 to 10 years

Furniture Straight line 3 to 15 years

Equipment rental assets Usage 2 to 5 years

Vehicle rental/fleet assets
Vehicle rental fleets are accounted for as part of property, plant and equipment as they are held 
for rental to others. Once a vehicle is no longer utilised as part of the rental fleet, it is transferred 
to inventory. This accounting treatment is applied where it is in the ordinary course of the group’s 
activities to routinely sell PP&E that it has held for rental to others. The transfer such assets to 
inventories is done at the assets’ carrying amount. The proceeds from the sale of such assets are 
recognised as revenue.
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Rental/fleet assets are vehicles held for rental purposes for a period of up to 12 months which are 
generally sold at their calculated residual values. Short term Car Rental fleets are depreciated to 
guaranteed residual value or by 20% per annum where no residual values have been guaranteed. 

The group classifies fleet/rental assets as current assets when they are held for rental for a period 
less than 12 months and then subsequently held for sale. These assets are primarily realised through 
sale after being rented to customers for a period less than 12 months. 

Investment property
Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals, is measured initially at cost, including 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is carried at its cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, that range 
between 20 (twenty) and 50 (fifty) years, to their residual values.
 
An investment property is de-recognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period 
in which the property is de-recognised.
 
16. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost if acquired separately or at fair value if acquired as 
part of a business combination. 

The following methods and rates were used during the year to amortise the intangible assets:

Capitalised software Straight line 2 to 7 years

Patents Straight line 10 years

Trademarks Straight line 10 to 20 years

Customer relationships Straight line 5 to 15 years

Supplier relationships Indefinite life N/A

Supplier relationships are measured initially at fair value as part of a business combination. 
Supplier relationships are separately identifiable intangible assets from distribution agreements 
with suppliers specifying sales objectives, territory presence and service levels to be provided. 
Supplier relationships arise from the group’s long-standing relationships with its principals, namely 
Caterpillar, Contractually, these relationships do not have a finite term, thus qualifying as indefinite 
intangible assets. Supplier relationships are tested for impairment annually. Refer to note 13 for 
further details.

Customer relationships are measured initially at fair value as part of a business combination.

Development costs are capitalised only when and if it results in an asset that can be identified, it is 
probable that the asset will generate future economic benefits and the development cost can be 
reliably measured. Otherwise development costs are recognised in profit or loss.

17. Interest in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment. 

18. Interests in associates and joint ventures

The group has investments in associates and joint ventures in which it holds 50% equity interests. 
These investments are not controlled because the group does not have the power to direct the 
relevant activities, and there are no other arrangements granting the group this power, which are 
decided through majority vote of the board. 

Associates and joint ventures are measured using the equity method of accounting, applying the 
group’s accounting policies, from the acquisition date to the disposal date. The most recent audited 
annual financial statements of associates and joint ventures are used, which are all within three 
months of the year-end of the group. Adjustments are made to the associate’s or joint ventures 
financial results for material transactions and events in the intervening period.
 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the 
asset transferred. When the group’s share of losses or reversal of unrealised gains equals or exceeds 
its interest in the entity, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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19. Inventories

Inventories are diverse and materially consist of the following:

• Starch raw materials
• Finished goods which include vehicles, machines/equipment, glucose, and starch;
• Work in progress relating to above mentioned finished goods; and
• Merchandise such as parts etc.

Specific identification basis is used to arrive at the cost of items that are not interchangeable. 
Otherwise the first-in-first-out method or weighted average method for certain classes of inventory 
is used to arrive at the cost of items that are interchangeable.

Allowance for net realisable value of inventory
Equipment inventory consists of machines, parts, and work-in-progress.

Machine inventory is reviewed by country and by machine model taking into account the aging, 
market demand and condition of the machine to determine the net realisable value.
Parts inventory is categorised as follows:

• Strategic parts with longer lead times or parts required to support new machine models;
• Non-strategic parts that are generally faster moving parts;
• Perishable parts with a limited shelf life;
• Re-manufactured components;
• Returnable and non-returnable;
• Rebuilt components

Obsolete, slow-moving, and damaged inventories are identified for each parts category. Returnable 
slow-moving parts are reduced to the net realisable value based on inventory returns and by 
applying a sliding provisioning scale.

Automotive inventory consists of used and demo vehicles as well as parts stock.
The net realisable value of all used, demo and parts stock are assessed at every reporting date 
taking into account the ageing, condition, and the current market demand for such items. 

Rental assets that become available for sale after being removed from rental fleets are transferred 
to inventories (policy note 19) at their carrying amount. Sale proceeds from such rental assets are 
recognised as revenue in accordance with policy note 9.

20. Financial assets and financial liabilities (Financial instruments)

The group’s financial instruments comprise:

• Investments in equity securities;
• Loans receivable;
• Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments);
• Cash and cash equivalents;
• Borrowings;
• Bank overdrafts;
• Derivatives;
• Trade and other payables; and
• Other non-current liabilities

Classification of financial assets
The group classifies financial assets into the following categories:

• Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
• Amortised cost (AC); and
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

Financial assets are classified in their entirety based on how their performance is managed and 
evaluated (business model), and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows.
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Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured as follows:

Financial asset Measurement category

Derivatives FVTPL

Trade and other receivables (excl. prepayments) AC

Derivatives (cash flow hedge) FVTOCI

Debt instruments AC

Cash and cash equivalents AC

Investment in equity securities FVTOCI

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade 
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Classification of financial liabilities
The Automotive and Equipment businesses utilise floor plan and trade financing facilities to 
efficiently manage working capital flows. Judgement is exercised regarding whether these 
arrangements constitute trade payables or debt, see note 3 above. These floor plans are classified as 
payables (interest bearing) as presented in note 28.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
All financial liabilities, excluding derivative liabilities and those that are part of a hedging 
relationship (refer to policy note 22), are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Derivative liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.
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21. Post-employment benefit obligations

It is the policy of the group to encourage, facilitate and contribute to the provision of retirement 
benefits for all permanent employees. To this end the group’s permanent employees are usually 
required to be members of either a pension or provident fund, depending on their preference and 
local legal requirements. The group also guarantees a funded defined benefit scheme for qualifying 
employees in the United Kingdom.

Payments to defined contribution plans are recognised as an expense as they fall due. Payments 
made to industry-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution 
plans where the group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

The cost of providing defined benefits is determined using the projected unit of credit method. 
Valuations are conducted every three years and interim adjustments to those valuations are made 
annually. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the statement of other comprehensive 
income. 

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised in profit or 
loss when the group is demonstrably committed to the curtailment or settlement.

Past service costs are recognised in profit and loss immediately to the extent that the benefits are 
already vested. Otherwise they are amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until 
the amended benefits become vested. Finance costs are also recognised in profit and loss.

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as adjusted for the unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the 
fair value of plan assets. Any asset is limited to the unrecognised actuarial losses, plus the present 
value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.



Barloworld Annual financial statements 2021 35

Review and reports Company financial statementsConsolidated financial statements Additional information

Transactions and Events

22. Hedge accounting

Foreign currency hedging instruments are used to manage the group’s currency and interest rate 
exposures. Details of the groups risk management policies and practices are outlined in note 34. The 
group still applies IAS 39 for hedge accounting.

Hedging relationships are designated as cash flow and fair value hedges. 

Cash flow hedge
When these cash flow hedges meet the conditions for hedge accounting the portion of the gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. A hedge of the 
foreign currency risk of a firm commitment is designated and accounted for as a cash flow hedge. 
When the transaction that gave rise to a firm commitment is recognised, the reserve is derecognised 
and capitalised to the item as a basis adjustment.

In terms of IAS 39.97 the following accounting is used
If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or 
a financial liability, the associated gains or losses that were recognised in other comprehensive 
income in accordance with paragraph 95 shall be reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment (see IAS 1 (as revised in 2007)) in the same period or periods during 
which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss (such as in the periods that interest 
income or interest expense is recognised). However, if an entity expects that all or a portion of a loss 
recognised in other comprehensive income will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it 
shall reclassify into profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment the amount that is not expected to 
be recovered.

In terms of IAS 39.98 If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of 
a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, or a forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or 
non-financial liability becomes a firm commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied, 
then the entity shall adopt (a) or (b) below. Barloworld as noted above has chosen option (b) and 
thus recognises a basis adjustment.

(a)  It reclassifies the associated gains and losses that were recognised in other comprehensive 
income in accordance with paragraph 95 to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment (see 
IAS 1 (revised 2007)) in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability 
assumed affects profit or loss (such as in the periods that depreciation expense or cost of sales 
is recognised). However, if an entity expects that all or a portion of a loss recognised in other 
comprehensive income will not be recovered in one or more future periods, it shall reclassify 
from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment the amount that is not expected to 
be recovered.

(b)   It removes the associated gains and losses that were recognised in other comprehensive 
income in accordance with paragraph 95 and includes them in the initial cost or other carrying 
amount of the asset or liability.

Fair value hedge
The group applies fair value hedge accounting to its priced maize procurement contracts and the 
commodity futures designated to hedge these exposures. At inception of the hedge relationship, 
the group documents its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge 
transactions, the economic relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as whether changes in the fair values of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes 
in the fair values of hedged items. The group’s risk management strategy is to align the pricing of 
the procurement and sales contracts as much as possible to mitigate its exposure to maize price 
volatility. The execution of this strategy is achieved by selling the requisite number of SAFEX maize 
futures once procurement contracts with farmers/traders have been priced. The SAFEX futures are 
closed out once the underlying sales contracts with customers are priced, effectively matching the 
SAFEX-linked purchase and sales price elements.

The hedging instruments (SAFEX futures contracts) are recognised and subsequently measured at 
fair value, with gains or losses recorded in profit or loss. Fair values are determined using quoted 
SAFEX prices.

Provided that the hedging relationship meets the qualifying hedge effectiveness criteria, any 
changes in the fair value of the firm commitment being hedged (purchase of maize from the farmer) 
are recognised in the statement of financial position as a firm commitment asset/liability, with a 
corresponding entry recorded in profit or loss.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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23. Leasing

The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.

In the capacity of a lessor
Long term vehicle fleet is leased to customers for periods ranging from 24 to 60 months as finance 
leases. For further detail refer to policy note 3 for impairment of lease receivables and notes 15 and 
19 included in the annual financial statements.

Rental income: this consists of rental of Caterpillar earthmoving equipment, engines, and other 
complementary products (Equipment and Handling); fleet management solutions and short-term 
vehicle rentals (Automotive)

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the statement of cash flows, the cash payments to acquire assets held for rental and subsequently 
held for sale, and receipts from rentals and sales of such assets are presented as part of operating 
activities.

In the capacity of a lessee
The group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease 
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease 
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (R85 000,00). For these leases, the group 
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Right-of-use assets are carried at their cost less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

Lease term
The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus any optional renewal period less any 
optional early terminations where it is reasonably certain that the options will be exercised. The 
lease term was determined considering these options, where applicable, and involves judgement to 
determine whether the options will be exercised on a lease-by-lease basis. 

Lease payments are allocated to reduce the lease liability, between finance costs and the capital 
repayments, using the effective interest method. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot 
be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate. Right of use assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or their useful lives using the following methods  
and rates:

Land and buildings Straight line 1 to 29 years

Plant, equipment, and IT Straight line 1 to 6 years

Vehicles Straight line 1 to 8 years

For further detail refer to notes 11 for right-of-use asset and 27 for lease liabilities included in the 
annual financial statements.

24. Share-based payments

Equity settled share options
Executive directors and senior executives have been granted equity settled share options in terms 
of the Barloworld Share Option Scheme. 

After the date on which the options are exercisable and before the expiry date, the options can be 
exercised to purchase shares for cash in which event the shares issued are accounted for in share 
capital and share premium at the amount based on the exercise price.

Forfeitable Share Plan and Conditional Share Plans
Executive directors and senior executives have been granted equity settled shares in terms of the 
Barloworld Forfeitable Share Plan (FSP) and Conditional Share Plan (CSP). Equity settled share-based 
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) 
at the date of grant and recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the estimated number of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of 
non-market-based vesting conditions. Fair value is measured using a binomial pricing model.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Equity settled share appreciation rights
Equity settled share appreciation rights have been granted to employees in terms of the Barloworld 
Share Appreciation Rights scheme (SAR). Equity settled share-based payments are measured at 
fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant and 
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the estimated 
number of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions. Fair value is measured using a binomial pricing model.

Cash settled SARs and FSPs
Cash settled share appreciation rights and FSPs granted to employees for services rendered or 
to be rendered are raised as a liability and recognised in profit or loss immediately or, if vesting 
requirements are applicable, over the vesting period. The liability is measured annually until settled 
and any changes in value are recognised in profit or loss. 
Fair value is measured using a binomial pricing model.

Khula Sizwe shares
The khula Sizwe share scheme is for employee (through the employee and management Trusts) 
of a certain grade and are accounted for as equity settled share-based payments. Equity settled 
share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions) at the date of grant and recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the estimated number of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for 
the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions. Fair value is measured using a binomial pricing 
model.

For the purpose of the Trusts formed for the benefit of Barloworld Group employees (including 
managers) and as structures established for the purpose of executing share-based payment 
transactions, Barloworld Limited assumes the Trust’s rights and obligations. The Trusts have no 
decision-making powers as all the activities of the Trust are determined by Barloworld upfront at the 
signing of the Trust Deeds. As such, these trusts are consolidated into the group.

25. Financial guarantee contracts and contract liabilities

Commitments and contingencies on Risk Share Agreements – Equipment southern African 
and Equipment Russia
Our equipment businesses, as part of the ordinary course of business, have entered into a risk 
sharing arrangements with certain Caterpillar subsidiaries (financing arms of Caterpillar) in terms 
of which Barloworld will fund a certain percentage of losses suffered by Caterpillar in the event that 
certain higher risk customers default on their commitments.

These guarantees will result in the recognition of a financial liability (financial guarantee) in the 
statement of financial position, recognised as an ECL balance to the extent that the underlying 
customer defaults, or is expected to default, on their obligations to Caterpillar. These are financial 
instruments as there is a contractual obligation to pay cash should a default occur. A customer is 
considered to have defaulted when they have not met their contractual obligations for payment 
due to Caterpillar. In determining expected default, the forward-looking factors under the expected 
credit loss model for receivables are applied. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within trade and other 
receivables) at fair value, based either on the premium received or the expected fulfilment amount. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Barloworld’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the 
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the income 
statement, and an ECL allowance as set out in Note 19.

The premium received is recognised in the income statement in Net fees and commission income 
on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Financial guarantee contracts are in the scope 
of the ECL requirements. 

When Barloworld limited issues a financial guarantee free of charge for the obligations of its 
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates, this is a capital contribution and therefore, the cost of 
the investment in the subsidiary or joint venture or associate is increased with the initial value of the 
financial guarantee and apply the accounting policy for investment in subsidiary, joint ventures, or 
associates per above.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees is not recorded in the statement of financial 
position. The nominal values of these instruments together are disclosed in Note 34 Credit risk.
The ECL recognised is disclosed in note 19 trade and other receivables.

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Contract liabilities
A contract liability for Automotive and Equipment to incur contractual costs of service, 
maintenance, and warranty work to be carried out in the future and the unearned margin to be 
recognised over the life of the plans is recognised. Actuarial experts are used to determine the 
inputs required to establish the adequacy of the liability and the resulting revenue to be recognised 
and the final liability. This valuation takes into account the future usage; maintenance, tyres and 
service costs of each vehicle projected based on the estimated future usage and the experience 
adjusted maintenance tables. Funds for which there are insufficient claims history are recognised in 
profit and loss to the extent of the claims cost incurred without any profits being attributed. 

At the end of the plan, any remaining profits are recognised in profit and loss. When these contracts 
contain a significant financing component, the transaction price is adjusted for the financing 
component and the financing component is recognised separately as financing expense over the 
life of the plan. 

26. Classification of Cash flow Activities

For the purposes of the cash flow statement the following are classified as operating activities due 
to the nature of the operations they relate to:

• Investment in Car Rental Vehicles
• Investment in Fleet and Rental Assets

Consideration of the impact of Covid-19 
The group at large continues to be concerned about the effects of Covid-19, particularly in supply 
chain constraints experienced globally and for our Car Rental business which remains the most 
affected by constraints to travel and the impact of lockdowns.

We remain encouraged by the performance of our Industrial Equipment and Services businesses 
and their opportunities in the year ahead. Equipment southern Africa’s firm order book remains 
strong supported by a positive outlook for mining. The construction industry is also expected to 
recover as infrastructure and energy projects gather momentum.

Equipment Eurasia’s outlook for 2022 also remains positive as the recovery in the coal market
is expected to continue and we expect to realise further benefits from the integration of Mongolia
into the Eurasia division. In Ingrain, the outlook is for maize prices trading closer to international 
prices, which will support margins going forward, with international starch and glucose prices 
remaining high.

Further information on our consideration of Covid-19 and its impact on our business are provided 
below and in the commentary that accompanies the financial statements: 

• Events after the reporting period Note 42.

Social unrest
In July 2021, the province of KwaZulu-Natal and parts of Gauteng in South Africa experienced civil 
unrest, which escalated into widespread looting and destruction of property. Despite some losses 
in our Logistics and NMI-DSM businesses the impact of the looting was not considered material and 
operating activity has since resumed to normal levels. 

Accounting policies continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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R million Notes 2021 
Restated*

2020

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 2  41 553  33 909

Operating profit before items listed below  6 942  4 711

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets 3 (59) (245)

Depreciation (2 312) (2 241)

Amortisation of intangible assets (181) (87)

Operating profit before B-BBEE transaction charge  4 390  2 138

B-BBEE transaction charge 3.1 (95) (180)

Operating profit 3  4 295  1 958

Fair value adjustments on financial instruments 4 (190) (335)

Finance costs 5 (944) (971)

Income from investments 6  124  138

Profit before non-operating and capital items  3 285 790
Non-operating and capital items comprising of:
Reversal of impairment/(Impairment) of investments 14  52 (194)

Impairment of goodwill 12 (687)

Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets 13 (708)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangibles  
and other assets 10, 11, 13 (49) (210)

Other non-operating and capital items 7   192 36

Profit/(loss) before taxation 3 480 (973)

Taxation 8 (644) (1 068)

Profit/(loss) after taxation 2 836 (2 041)

Loss from associates and joint ventures 14 (13) (43)

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 2 823 (2 084)

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million Notes 2021 
Restated*

2020
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Loss from discontinued operations  22 (23) (415)

Profit/(loss) for the year 2 800 (2 499)
Attributable to:

Owners of Barloworld Limited 2 756 (2 476)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries  44 (23)

2 800 (2 499)
Earnings/(loss) per share from group (cents)

– basic 9 1 390.9  (1 236.0)

– diluted 9 1 375.8  (1 236.0)

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations (cents)
– basic 9 1 395.6    (1 033.8)

– diluted 9 1 380.5    (1 033.8)

Loss per share from discontinued operation (cents)
– basic 9 (4.7) (202.2)

– diluted 9 (4.7) (202.2)

* The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36).    
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Consolidated statement of financial position
at 30 September 2021    

R million Notes 2021 
 

2020 
ASSETS
Non-current assets  21 237  20 470

Property, plant and equipment 10 11 417 12 239

Investment property 10 1 000
Right-of-use assets 11  634  1 611

Goodwill 12  2 756  1 352

Intangible assets 13  2 370  1 632

Investment in associates and joint ventures 14  1 880  2 148

Long-term trade and other receivables* 15  134  187

Long-term financial assets 16  198  287

Deferred taxation assets 17  848  1 014

Current assets  29 220  27 379

Vehicle rental fleet 10  2 819  1 889

Inventories 18  8 111  10 170

Trade and other receivables 19  6 949  7 916

Contract assets 20  424  514

Taxation  196  147

Cash and cash equivalents 21  10 721  6 743

Assets classified as held for sale 22  2 387  29

Total assets  52 844  47 878

R million Notes 2021 
 

2020 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 23 (1 200) (1 121)

Other reserves 4 911  5 856

Retained income 17 711  14 769

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited  21 422  19 504

Non-controlling interest  283  246

Interest of all shareholders  21 705  19 750

Non-current liabilities  10 139  11 251

Interest-bearing 24  7 401  5 897

Deferred taxation liabilities 17  1 186  806

Lease liabilities 27  770  1 977

Provisions and other accruals 25  140  129

Contract liabilities  29  445  436

Other non-current liabilities 26  197  2 006

Current liabilities  19 214  16 877

Trade and other payables 28  10 441  11 096

Contract liabilities 29  2 131  1 272

Lease liabilities 27  133  351

Provisions and other accruals 25  859  622

Taxation  155  38

Amounts due to bankers and short-term loans 30  5 495  3 498

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 22  1 786
Total equity and liabilities  52 844  47 878

* Long-term trade and other receivables was previously referred to as Long-term finance lease receivables. The current year amount  
 includes long-term trade receivables. (Refer to note 15).
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R million 2021 
 

2020 
Profit/(loss) for the year 2 800 (2 499)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: (1 069)  1 190

Exchange (loss)/gain on translation of foreign operations (1 252)  1 244

Translation reserves realised on disposal of subsidiaries 135 (41)

Gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges  62  (24)

Deferred taxation on cash flow hedges  (14)  11 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:  826  (139)

Actuarial gain/(loss) on post-retirement benefit obligations  1 020  (172)

Taxation effect of actuarial gain/(loss) (194) 33

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of taxation (243)  1 051

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  2 557 (1 448)
Total other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Barloworld Limited shareholders  2 513 (1 425)

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries*  44 (23)

 2 557 (1 448)

* Non-controlling interest includes R14 million (FY2020: R10 million) related to discontinued operations.

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 September 2021    
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Restated*
R million Notes

Share capital 
and premium

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserves

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserves

Revaluation 
and legal 
reserves

Equity 
compensation 

reserves
Total  

reserves
Retained 

income

Net actuarial 
losses

 on post-
retirement 

benefits

Total 
retained 
income

Attributable 
to Barloworld 

Limited 
shareholders

Non-
controlling 

interest
Interest of all 
shareholders

Balance at  
1 October 2019  441  4 514  7  146  (144)  4 523  21 647  (2 988)  18 659  23 623  272  23 895 
Cumulative 
adjustments for new 
standards  (281)  (281)  (281)  (281)
Adjusted opening 
balance for IFRS 16  441  4 514  7  146  (144)  4 523  21 366  (2 988)  18 378  23 342  272  23 614 
Other 
comprehensive 
income  1 203  (13)  1 190  (139)  (139)  1 051  1 051 
Loss for the year    (2 476)  (2 476)  (2 476)  (23)  (2 499)
Total comprehensive 
income for the year*  1 203  (13)  1 190 (2 476)  (139) (2 615) (1 425) (23) (1 448) 
Share buy back  (1 562)  (1 562)  (1 562)
Khula Sizwe B-BBEE 
charges  223  223  223  223 
Equity settled IFRS 2 
charges  60  60  60  60 
Share scheme receipts  (88)  (88)  (88)  (88)
Acquisition of 
subsidiary  8  8 
Disposal of 
subsidiaries  16  16  75  75  91  91 
Transfer of reserves  (15)  (39)  (54)  54  54 
Other reserve 
movements  (12)  (2)  (14)  (9)  (9)  (23)  (23)
Other changes in non-
controlling interest  2  2 
Dividends 31  (1 114)  (1 114)  (1 114)  (13)  (1 127)
Balance at  
30 September 2020  (1 121)  5 717  (18)  147  10  5 856  17 896  (3 127)  14 769  19 504  246  19 750 

*  The prior year disclosure included a formula error on the Total comprehensive income for the year which has been corrected in the current year. This has no impact on any closing balances

Amounts as previously 
stated 441 5 717 (6) 146 (144) (5 713) 18 890 (3 127) 15 763 21 917 249 22 166 

Restated amounts 1 203 (13) 1 190 (2 476) (139) (2 615) (1 425) (23) (1 448)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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R million Notes
Share capital 

and premium

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserves

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserves

Revaluation 
and legal 
reserves

Equity 
compensation 

reserves
Total  

reserves
Retained 

income

Net actuarial 
losses

 on post-
retirement 

benefits

Total 
retained 
income

Attributable 
to Barloworld 

Limited 
shareholders

Non-
controlling 

interest
Interest of all 
shareholders

Other 
comprehensive 
income  (1 117)  48  (1 069)  826  826  (243)  (243)
Profit for the year 2 756 2 756 2 756  44 2 800
Total comprehensive 
income for the year  (1 117)  48  (1 069) 2 756  826 3 582  2 513  44  2 557 
Share buy back  (79)  (79)  (79)
Khula Sizwe B-BBEE 
charges  137  137  137  137 
Equity settled IFRS 2 
charges  89  89  89  89 
Share scheme receipts  (99)  (99)  (99)  (99)
Transfer of reserves   (15)  (15)  15  15 
Other reserve 
movements  (3) 2  13  12 1 1 13 13
Other changes in non-
controlling interest  (1)  (1)
Dividends 31  (656)  (656)  (656)  (6)  (662)
Balance at  
30 September 2021  (1 200) 4 600  27 149 136 4 911 20 012  (2 301) 17 711  21 422  283  21 705 

2021 
Cents

2020 
Cents

Dividend per share* 437 Nil

* Refer to the detailed dividends per share on note 31.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve: This reserve accounts for the difference between the translation of assets, liabilities of the group’s non-ZAR functional currency entities into ZAR at the period end rate 
versus the historical rate applied to the income statement/equity of these entities. Movements in the year represent the current year currency differences between period end spot and the historical average.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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R million Notes 2021 2020 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers  53 989  50 747

Cash paid to employees and suppliers (43 324) (44 867)

Cash generated from operations before investment in rental 
fleets and leasing receivables A  10 665  5 880

Inflow of investment in Leasing receivables  60  65

Fleet Leasing and equipment rental fleet (445) (673)

Additions (2 484) (2 347)

Proceeds on disposal  2 039  1 674

Vehicles rental fleet (1 745)  524

Additions (3 785) (2 192)

Proceeds on disposal  2 040  2 716

Cash generated from operations  8 535  5 796

Finance costs (1 092) (1 274)

Realised adjustments on financial instruments (114) (223)

Dividends received from investments, associates and joint 
ventures  173  20

Interest received  140  155

Taxation paid B (1 196) (933)

Cash inflow from operations  6 446  3 541

Dividends paid (including non-controlling interest) (657) (1 127)

Cash retained from operating activities  5 789  2 414
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of subsidiaries C (5 329) (2 766)

Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries D   878  14

Investments realised  389  367

Acquisition of intangible assets (51) (84)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (521) (536)

Replacement capital expenditure (415) (254)

Expansion capital expenditure (106) (282)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment   338  39

Net cash used in investing activities (4 296) (2 966)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing activities  1 493 (552)

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 September 2021  

R million Notes 2021 2020 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares repurchased for equity-settled share-based payments (98) (87)

Share buy back (79) (1 562)

Proceeds from long-term borrowings  4 552  2 760

Repayment of long-term borrowings (1 439) (1 978)

Movement in short-term interest-bearing liabilities  316  444

Repayments of lease liabilities (399) (343)

Net cash received from (used in) financing activities E  2 853 (766)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  4 346 (1 318)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  6 743  7 274

Cash and cash equivalents held for sale at the beginning of year  29

Effect of foreign exchange rate movement on cash balance (250)  443

Effect of foreign exchange rate movement on USD  
denominated cash (187)

Cash balance held in Escrow  502

Effect of cash balances classified as held for sale (118)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  10 721  6 743
Cash balances not available for use due to reserving restrictions 
(note 21)  79   911

dfsfsd
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R million 2021 2020 

A. Cash generated from operations is calculated as follows:
Profit/(loss) before taxation – continued operations 3 480 (973)

Loss before taxation – discontinued operations (314) (590)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation  2 435  2 661

Amortisation of intangible assets  189  136

Loss on disposal of rental plant and equipment  266
Profit on disposal of plant, property, equipment and intangible (38) (13)

Dividends received (51) (20)

Interest received (143) (155)

Finance costs  1 120  1 274

Fair value adjustments on financial instruments  217  334

Impairment of goodwill, intangibles assets and investments in associates 
and joint ventures   290  1 907

Non-operating and capital items (164)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and investments  6

IFRS 2 charge  254  263

Non-cash movement in provisions and inventory valuation allowances  179  358

Non-cash movement related to IFRS 16 lease modifications  18

Non-cash movements in financial instruments  87
Other non-cash flow items  27  4

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  7 834  5 210

Movement in working capital  2 831  670

Movement in inventories  983 (221)

Movement in receivables and contract assets  151  1 065

Movement in payables and contract liabilities  1 697 (174)

Cash generated from operations before investment in rental fleets  
and Leasing receivables  10 665  5 880

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 2020 
B. Taxation paid is reconciled to the amounts disclosed in the income 

statement as follows:
Amounts overpaid/(underpaid) at beginning of year  109 (4)

Per the income statement (excluding deferred taxation) – group (note 8) (1 289) (867)

Adjustments in respect of subsidiaries acquired and sold including 
translation adjustments  25  47

Net amounts overpaid at end of year (41) (109)

Cash amounts paid (1 196) (933)

C. Acquisition of subsidiaries:
Inventories acquired (787) (1 386)

Receivables acquired (749) (463)

Trade and other payables acquired  837  539

Cash (24) (162)

Intangible assets (53) (8)

Property, plant and equipment, non-current assets and goodwill (2 611) (548)

Lease liabilities  29
Non-controlling interest  8

Total net assets acquired (3 358) (2 020)

Goodwill arising on acquisitions (1 640) (328)

Supplier relationship intangible arising on acquisition in terms of IFRS 3 
Business Combinations (773)

Customer relationship intangible arising on acquisition in terms of IFRS 3 
Business Combinations (1 011)
Deferred taxation on acquisition  704  193

Cash amounts paid to acquire subsidiaries (5 305) (2 928)

True up payment on Mongolia acquisition (48)
(5 353) (2 928)

Bank balances and cash in subsidiaries acquired  24  162

Total acquisitions (5 329) (2 766)

Refer to note 38 for more details of the Ingrain acquisition. 
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R million 2021 2020 

D. Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries:
Inventories disposed  1 617 15 

Receivables disposed  446  62

Payables, taxation and deferred taxation balances disposed and settled  (1 718) (74)

Borrowings net of cash  (744)  10

Property, plant and equipment, non-current assets, goodwill and 
intangibles    911  18

Investment in cell captives  32
Deferred tax  4
Net assets disposed   548  31

Profit/(loss) on disposal  515 (32)

Non-cash translation reserves realised on disposal of foreign subsidiary  41

Payments to be received in future (150)
Net cash proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries 913  40

Bank Balances and cash in subsidiaries disposed  (35) (26)

Cash proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries   878  14

Effective 1 June 2021 the group divested in the Motor Retail businesses to NMI Durban South 
Motors. Refer to note 22 for more detail. 

Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement continued
for the year ended 30 September 2021

E. Changes in liabilities arising 
from financing activities 1 October

Opening 
retained 
income 

adjustment Cash flows New leases
IFRS 2  

charges

Reflected  
as held  
for sale

Minority  
share of 

profits Other

Transfers to 
or from short 

term loans

Acquisition/
(Disposal) of 
subsidiaries

Translation 
differences 30 September

2021
Net cash (used in)/generated 
from financing activities is 
reconciled as follows:
Share capital (1 121)  (79) (1 200)
Non-current interest  
bearing loans  5 897  3 113  (155)  (1 468)  14  7 401 
Current interest bearing loans*  3 498  316  (94)  375  1 468  (68)  5 495 
Current and non-current  
lease liabilities  2 328  (399)  149  (423)  5  (750) (8)  903 
Equity compensation reserve 
movements  10  (98)  254  (203)  (37)
Non-controlling interest 
movements  246  44  (7)  283 

 10 858  2 853  149  254  (672)  44  170  (750)  (62)  12 845 
2020
Net cash (used in)/generated 
from financing activities is 
reconciled as follows:
Share capital 441 (1 562) (1 121)

Non-current interest  
bearing loans  4 621  782  (67)  537  25  5 897 

Current interest bearing loans 
(including held for sale)  3 748  444  (90)  (537)  (68)  3 498 

Current and non-current  
lease liabilities  2 302  (343)  295  57  18  2 328 

Equity compensation  
reserve movements  (144)  (87)  263  (22)  10 

Non-controlling interest 
movements  272  (23)  (11)  8  246 

 8 938  2 302  (766)  295  263  (23)  (133)  8  (25)  10 858 

 * Other movement includes the cash balance held in escrow in 2020 to the value of R502 million.
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements    
for the year ended 30 September 2021

Continuing operations Discontinued operation

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Ingrain

Automotive

Other segments^ Motor Retail LogisticsCar Rental  
Southern Africa Leasing

R million
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
Operating and 
geographical segments**
Revenue

Southern Africa  30 708  26 369  18 230  17 590  4 217  5 302  5 123  2 128  3 046   831  609  8 915  11 988  3 371  3 785

Australia  168  168
Eurasia  10 677  7 540  10 677  7 540

 41 553  33 909  28 907  25 130  4 385  5 302  5 123  2 128  3 046   831  609  8 915  11 988  3 371  3 785

Inter-segment revenue*** (3 234) (3 065)  2 332  1 943  3  3  91  154  808  964  1  376  328

 41 553  33 909 (3 234) (3 065)  31 239  27 074  4 385  5 305  5 126  2 219  3 200  1 639  1 573  8 915  11 989  3 747  4 113
EBITDA  6 883  4 466  4 066  2 879  772  975  636  1 260  1 280 (189) (330)  254  86  47  277

Depreciation (2 312) (2 241) (834) (764) (171) (615) (751) (754) (832)  61  106 (20) (75) (103) (344)

Amortisation of intangibles (181) (87) (89) (57) (67) (1) (2) (24) (29) (2) (8) (46)

Operating profit/(loss)  4 390  2 138  3 144  2 058  534  359 (116)  506  448 (152) (253)  234  9 (64) (113)

Southern Africa  3 287  1 417  1 972  1 224  522  359 (116)  506  448 (72) (138)  234  9 (64) (113)

Europe (80) (114) (80) (115)

Australia  12  12
Eurasia  1 171  834  1 171  834

Operating profit before 
B-BBEE transaction charge  4 390  2 138  3 143  2 058  534 359 (116)  506  448 (152) (253)  234  9 (64) (113)

B-BBEE transaction charge (95) (180) (26) (33) (11) (26) (3) (4) (55) (117) (21) (23) (21) (33)

Fair value adjustments on 
financial instruments (190) (334) (86) (141) (8) (1) (1) (7) (10) (88) (182) (2) (2)  1 (3)

Total segment result  4 105  1 624  3 031  1 884  526  347 (143)  496  434 (295) (552)  211 (17) (84) (149)

1. Segmental summary
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Continuing operations Discontinued operation

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Ingrain

Automotive

Other segments^ Motor Retail LogisticsCar Rental  
Southern Africa Leasing

R million
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
By geographical region

Southern Africa  3 048  1 006  1 862  982  515  347 (143)  496  434 (172) (268)  211 (17) (84) (149)

Europe (125) (284) (123) (284)

Australia  11  11
Eurasia  1 169  902  1 169  902

Total segment result  4 105  1 624  3 031  1 884  526  347 (143)  496  434 (295) (552)  211 (17) (84) (149)

(Losses)/Income from 
associates and joint 
ventures (13) (43) (105) (39)  3  2   89 (6) (2) (5)

Finance costs (944) (971) (370) (502) (151) (118) (257) (179) (273) (126)  61 (81) (151) (95) (152)

Income from investments  124  138  137  175  2  1  5  2 (20) (40)  2  1  16  16

Non-operating and  
capital items 195 (1 763)  16 (898) (2)  6 (654) (2) (16)  177 (194) (5) (1) (278) (136)

Taxation (644) (1 068) (684) (769) (63) (87)  141 (95) (40)  285 (401) (1)  81 (94)  98

Profit on disposal of Motor 
Retail businesses*  515
Taxation on disposal of 
Motor Retail businesses (127)
Profit from discontinued 
operation (23) (415)

Net profit 2 800 (2 499) 2 025 (149) 312 148 (913) 228 110 110 (1 132)  512 (92) (535) (323)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued   
for the year ended 30 September 2021

1. Segmental summary continued
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Continuing operations Discontinued operation

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Ingrain

Automotive

Other segments^ Motor Retail LogisticsCar Rental  
Southern Africa Leasing

R million
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
Assets
Property, plant and 
equipment 11 417 12 239  4 010  4 869  2 475  119  137  3 464  3 675 1 349 2 263  515  780

Investment property 1 000 1 000
Right of use assets  634  1 611  1 089  1 244  19  322  353  9  10 (805) (2 374)  1 902  476

Intangible assets  2 370  1 632  1 249  1 425  999  8  9  54  54  60  16  87  41

Investment in associates 
and joint ventures  1 880  2 148  1 054  1 387    3  826  54  704  

Long-term finance lease 
receivables  134  187  9      125  137     50

Long-term financial assets  198  287  11  113       187  101  64  9

Vehicle rental fleet  2 819  1 889    2 819  1 889    

Inventories  8 111  10 170  6 681  7 895  1 098  288  438  19  90  25 (4)  1 713  38

Trade and other receivables  6 949  7 916  5 372  5 643  676  485  258  460  616 (44) (265)  627  1 037

Contract assets  424  514  424  466      48

Assets classified as held 
for sale  2 387  29   29   13 (29)   2 403
Segment assets  38 323  38 623  19 899  23 072  5 267  4 052  3 084  4 132  4 585  2 570 (209)   5 612  2 403  2 479
By geographical region

Southern Africa  30 819  30 751  12 556  15 360  5 190  4 052  3 084  4 132  4 585  2 486 (369)   5 612  2 403  2 479

Europe  84 160  84  160

Australia  77  77
Eurasia  7 343  7 712  7 343  7 712

Total segment assets  38 323  38 623  19 899  23 072  5 267  4 052  3 084  4 132  4 585  2 570 (209)  5 612  2 403  2 479

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued   
for the year ended 30 September 2021

1. Segmental summary continued
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Continuing operations Discontinued operation

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Ingrain

Automotive

Other segments^ Motor Retail LogisticsCar Rental  
Southern Africa Leasing

R million
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
Goodwill  2 756  1 352  506  564  1 640  176  176  282  282  152  215   115

Taxation  196  147

Deferred taxation assets  848  1 014

Cash and cash equivalents  10 721  6 743

Consolidated total assets  52 844  47 878
Liabilities
Long-term non-interest 
bearing including 
provisions  782  2 135  63  100    469  23   250  1 989   6   16

Trade and other payables 
including provisions  11 300  11 718  7 108  7 544  1 397  1 623  642  817  700   355 (274)  2 349   759

Lease liabilities  903  2 327  1 264  1 345  22  533  552  30  30 (946) (2 671)  2 365  707

Contract liabilities  2 131  1 708  1 801  963    330  744    
Liabilities directly 
associated with assets 
classified as held for sale  1 786  (928)    2 714
Segment liabilities  16 902  17 888  10 236  9 952  1 419  2 156  1 194  1 647  1 497 (1 272) (956)   4 720  2 714  1 482
By geographical region

Southern Africa  13 068 13 251  6 785 7 467  1 371  2 156  1 194  1 647  1 497 (1 605) (3 108)   4 720  2 714  1 482

Europe  335  2 152  335  2 152

Australia  47  47
Eurasia  3 451 2 485  3 451 2 485

Segment liabilities  16 902  17 888  10 236  9 952  1 419  2 156  1 194  1 647  1 497 (1 272) (956)   4 720  2 714  1 482

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued    
for the year ended 30 September 2021

1. Segmental summary continued



Barloworld Annual financial statements 2021 52

Review and reports Company financial statementsConsolidated financial statements Additional information

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued    
for the year ended 30 September 2021

1. Segmental summary continued

Continuing operations Discontinued operation

Consolidated Eliminations Equipment Ingrain

Automotive

Other segments^ Motor Retail LogisticsCar Rental  
Southern Africa Leasing

R million
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
30 Sep 

2021
30 Sep

2020
Interest-bearing liabilities 
(excluding held for sale 
amounts)  12 896  9 395

Deferred taxation liabilities  1 186  806

Taxation  155  38

Consolidated total 
liabilities  31 139  28 126
Invested capital

Southern Africa  20 961  20 713  7 186  9 167  4 846  2 753  2 803  2 643  3 191  2 410  32  3 604  1 123  1 916

Europe  75 (1 578)  75 (1 578)

Australia  29  29
Eurasia  4 272  5 594  4 272  5 594

 25 336  24 729  11 458  14 761  4 874  2 753  2 803  2 643  3 191  2 485 (1 546)  3 604  1 123  1 916

* The consolidated total excludes discontinued operations for income statement items but includes it for the statement of financial position. 
** The geographical segments are determined by the location of assets. 
*** Inter segment revenue is priced on an arm’s-length basis. 
### Effective 31 October 2020 the group acquired the assets of Tongaat Hulett Starch (“Ingrain”) which is separately disclosed as a new segment  
 for the group. 
^  Due to the restructure of the Automotive and Logistics businesses during the current year, management have decided to review the 

operating segments and have included Handling, Automotive Trading (remainder), Corporate and Khula Sizwe into a combined segment 
reflected as Other segments. The prior year has been restated.
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R million 2021 
Restated^

2020
REVENUE
The group revenue disaggregation has been determined as follows:

Revenue recognised in terms of IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts  
with customers
Sale of goods (earned at a point in time)  31 506  23 681 

Equipment (new and used)  12 801  10 979 

Vehicles (new and used)  3 886  4 261 

Parts (new and used)  10 434  8 441 

Starch and glucose – local markets  3 020 
Starch and glucose – export markets  460 
Starch and glucose – co-products  905 
Rendering of services (earned over time)  8 320  8 450 

Parts revenue earned over time as services  1 381  1 189 

Service  3 934  4 118 

 – Workshop and in-field service  2 838  2 958 

 – Fitment and repairs  1 096  1 159 

Commissions  326  307 

Rental (outside the scope of IFRS 16)  2 679  2 836 

 39 826  32 131 
Revenue recognised in terms of IFRS 16: Leases
Fixed Leasing income 1585  1 586 

Variable Leasing income* 142  192 

Total Leasing income  1 727  1 778 

Total continuing operations  41 553  33 909 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 
Restated^

2020
Discontinued operations (Note 22) 
Sale of goods  8 060  10 853 

Vehicles (new and used)  6 959  9 323 

Parts (new and used)  1 101  1 530 

Rendering of services  4 225  4 921 

Parts revenue earned over time as services, maintenance and repairs  
under contracts are performed  36  49 

Service  579  952 

– Workshop and in-field service  497  846 

– After-sales  82  106 

Commissions  242  330 

Freight forwarding  53  117 

Supply chain support solutions  1 120  1 164 

Transportation  2 195  2 309 

Total discontinued operations  12 285  15 774 

Total group  53 838  49 683

^ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 22 and 36). 
* Variable Leasing income earned mainly relates to excess kilometres and additional maintenance costs invoiced.

2. Revenue



Barloworld Annual financial statements 2021 54

Review and reports Company financial statementsConsolidated financial statements Additional information

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

2. Revenue continued

The transaction price allocated to partially unsatisfied performance obligations at 30 September are 
as set out below: 

Expected to be recognised  
as follows

Total Within 1 year 2-5 years

R million  2021
Equipment

Workshop and in-field support services 4 123 807 3 316
After sales equipment and vehicle services 57 57  
Fitment and repairs  89  89 

4 269 953 3 316
Avis Fleet

After sales vehicle services  774  317  457 
Total continuing operations 5 043 1 270 3 773
Logistics – Supply chain management services 707 514 193
Total discontinued operations 707 514 193
Total group 5 750 1 784 3 966

Expected to be recognised  
as follows

Total Within 1 year 2-5 years

R million 2020
Equipment

Workshop and in-field support services  5 118  1 407  3 711 

After sales equipment services  12  12 

Fitment and repairs  26  26 

 5 156  1 445  3 711 
Avis Fleet

After sales vehicle services  744  308  436 

Total continuing operations  5 900 1 753 4 147
Logistics – Supply chain management services 2 254 866 1 388

Total discontinued operations 2 254 866 1 388
Total group  8 154  2 619  5 535
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

3. Operating profit 

Operating profit is arrived at as follows:

R million 2021 
Restated^

2020
Revenue  41 553  33 909 

Less: Net expenses  37 258  31 951 

Cost of goods sold  30 151  25 370 

Other operating costs  7 107  6 581 

Total continuing operations  4 295  1 958 

Discontinued operations operating profit/(loss)  128  (161)

Total group  4 423  1 797 
Expenses include the following:
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from acquisitions  105  14 

Continuing operations*  104  11 

Discontinued operations  1  3 

Operating leases – low value assets equipment, IT, plant and vehicles  122  306 

Continuing operations  112  276 

Discontinued operations  10  30 

Operating leases – low value assets property  34  54 

Continuing operations  31  54 

Discontinued operations  3 
Expense relating to short-term leases  43  42 

Continuing operations  24  16 

Discontinued operations  19  26 

Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in  
measure of lease liability  42  49 

Continuing operations  42  49 

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets  (2)  (2)

Continuing operations  (1)  (1)

Discontinued operations  (1)  (1)

Auditors’ remuneration:  93  73 

Audit fees  74  69 

Continuing operations  62  57 

Discontinued operations  12  12 

R million 2021 
Restated^

2020
Fees for other services  19  4 

Continuing operations  17  3 

Discontinued operations  2  1 

Staff costs (excluding directors' emoluments)  7 014  7 126 

Continuing operations  5 280  5 440 

Discontinued operations  1 734  1 686 

Restructuring costs (excluding staff costs)  22  304 

Continuing operations  259 

Discontinued operations  22  45 

Amounts recognised in respect of retirement benefit plans (note 24):
Defined contribution funds  606  692 

Continuing operations  476  550 

Discontinued operation  130  142 

Defined benefit funds  27  17 

Continuing operations  27  17 

Inventory movements  61  116 

  Amount of write-down of inventory to net realisable value and losses  
of inventory  162  131

 Amount of reversals of inventory previously written down (101) (15)

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets  57  292

Continuing operations  59  245

Discontinued operations (2)  47

Total IFRS 2 B-BBEE charges (3.1)  137  236

Continuing operations#  95  180

Discontinued operation  42  56

# includes other B-BBEE charges related to the Khula Sizwe transaction of R3 million (FY2020: R13 million).  
*  The amortisation amount includes R62 million relating to customer relationship arising from the acquisition of Ingrain on   
 31 October 2020.
^  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 22 and 36).  
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3. Operating profit continued

3.1  The group’s B-BBEE deal Khula Sizwe was implemented on 1 October 2019. At 30 September 
2021, 63 (FY2020: 57) of the 64 properties had transferred to Khula Sizwe. The IFRS 2 Share 
Based Payment charges for the employee trust has been fully accounted for. The IFRS 2 Share 
Based Payment charges expected to be incurred for the remaining management grant is  
R90 million over the next 3 years, in line with the service conditions attached to these shares. 
Khula Sizwe shares awarded to employees that were retrenched remained with 

 the employees.

The IFRS 2 charges in Barloworld arose from the benefits received by staff members which 
were facilitated by the group providing funding/donations to the trusts so that employees 
could acquire their shares at less than market value. The employee trust was allocated 
17,430,080 shares and the management trust was allocated 20,698,220 shares, this was then 
allocated as units to employees of 18,059,822 and 18,460,296 respectively. The employees 
will have an exercise price of nil, and management has contributed R7.1 million for their 
shares.

The IFRS 2 charges in Khula Sizwe arose from the per share discount given to Khula Sizwe 
shareholders in the initial share offering. The Khula Sizwe shares were valued using a Monte 
Carlo approach, with share prices following a geometric Brownian model. The following were 
the primary model inputs, estimates and judgements:

The net asset value of Khula Sizwe, assuming all properties had transferred on 1 October 2020
Share volatility determined with reference to the SA REIT index
Adjustments for the lock in periods applicable to the shares  
Expected dividend yield
The valuation outcome was compared to the R10 per share offer price and the estimated 
discount of R2.77 was accounted for as an IFRS 2 charge in Khula Sizwe.

The IFRS 2 charges incurred by Barloworld segments in the period were as follows:

R million 2021 2020
Employee Trust  66  108

Current year  62  87

Acceleration due to disposal of businesses or retrenchments  4  21

Management Trust  28  30

Current year  19  21

Acceleration due to disposal of businesses or retrenchments  9  9

Total IFRS 2 charges incurred by Barloworld segments  94  138

IFRS 2 charges incurred by the Khula Sizwe segment were as follows:

Employee Trust  25  24

Management Trust  15  16

Black Public (once off charge)  45

Total IFRS 2 charges incurred by the Khula Sizwe segment  40  85

Total IFRS 2 charge incurred by the Barloworld Group  134  223

Note that the Employee Trust charge will be recognised over 2 years and the Management Trust 
charge will be recognised over 5 years in line with the service conditions attached to these shares. 
The Black Public charge is a day 1 charge and not recurring. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020

(Costs) Income included in operating profit as valuation of insurance 
companies^ (25)  11

Disclosed as fair value loss on financial instruments (190) (335)

Total continuing operations (215) (324)

Discontinued operations (note 22)  3 (11)

Total group (212) (335)
Per IFRS 9 category

Net foreign exchange profit/(loss) on loans, cash, receivables and payables  232 (184)

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value loss through profit or loss (422) (151)

Total continuing operations (190) (335)

Discontinued operations (note 22) (1) (5)

Total group (191) (340)

^ This relates to the fair value movement of investment in insurance cell captives within other segments on note 1.

4. Fair value adjustments on financial instruments

5. Finance costs

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Corporate bonds and other long-term borrowings (500) (480)

Bank and other short-term borrowings (319) (357)

Floor plan (3) (7)

Defined benefit plan (22) (36)

Lease liability interest (100) (90)

Total continuing operations (944) (971)

Discontinued operations (note 22) (176) (303)

Total group (1 120) (1 274)

6. Income from investments 

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Dividends – received from insurance companies  51
Interest on financial assets at amortised cost (income from investments)  124  138

Total continuing operations  175  138

Discontinued operations (note 22)  18 17

Total group  193 155
Included in operating profit as dividends received from insurance 
companies  51
Disclosed in income statement as income from investments  124  138

Total continuing operations  175  138

Discontinued operations (note 22)  18 17

Total group  193 155

7. Other non-operating and capital items 

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Profit on liquidation/disposal of subsidiaries 147  18

Profit on disposal of property, plant, equipment, intangibles and  
other assets  45 18

Total continuing operations   192 36

Discontinued operations (note 22)  9 (29)

Total group 201  7

*  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36). 
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8. Taxation

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
South African normal taxation

Current year (1 074) (728)

Prior year  9 (9)

(1 065) (737)
Foreign and withholding taxation

 Current year (158) (193)

(158) (193)
Deferred taxation

 Current year  478 (105)

 Prior year  36 (26)

 Attributable to a change in the rate of income tax  65 (7)

 579 (138)

Taxation attributable to the company and its subsidiaries (644) (1 068)
Discontinued operations (note 22)
Normal taxation (26)  63

Deferred taxation (70)  116

Normal taxation on disposal of business (40)
Deferred taxation on disposal of business (87)
Total group (867) (889)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

% 2021 2020
South Africa normal taxation rate 28.0 28.0

Foreign rate differential  (2.0)  (9.0)
Reduction in rate of taxation (16.8) 19.2
Exempt income and special allowances^^  (1.6)  16.8 
Taxation losses of prior periods  (5.9)  0.9 
Non-operating and capital items taxation^  (2.8)
IAS12.41 adjustment**  (3.2)
Rate change adjustment  (1.9)  1.5 
Prior year taxation  (1.4)
Increase in rate of taxation  9.3  (147.9)
Disallowable charges***  3.8  (40.7)
Non-operating and capital items taxation^  (59.3)
Prior year taxation  (3.6)
IAS12.41 adjustment**  (10.4)
Withholding tax  5.1  (17.8)
Current year losses not utilised  0.4  (16.1)
Taxation as a percentage of profit/(loss) before taxation**** 18.5  (109.6)
Taxation (excluding prior year taxation and non-operating and capital 
items taxation) as a percentage of profit before taxation (excluding  
non-operating and capital items) 25.2 123.8

*  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36). 
**  This amount represents a recognition in deferred tax of the effect of the movement of the exchange rate on the USD equivalent of the 

local currency tax base of non-monetary assets (i.e. inventories and fixed assets) and the reversals of deferred tax previously raised when 
the related items of inventory of fixed assets are sold. It applies to the group’s companies in Zambia, Angola, Mozambique, Malawi, 
Mongolia and Russia where the functional currency and tax reporting currency is not the same.    

***  Disallowable charges relate largely to non deductible legal and consulting fees incurred in implementing the group’s revised strategy, 
expenses incurred in the production of dividend income, unproductive interest and capital gains on the sale of rental assets. 

****  The effective tax rate is below the statutory rate of 28% largely because of tax losses previously not recognized in deferred tax now being 
utilised, mainly in the UK group (5,9%), a partial release of the deferred tax liability raised in terms of IAS12.41 in light of the appreciation 
of local currencies against the USD in Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia, Angola, Russia and Mongolia (3.2%), the measurement of deferred 
tax assets that will unwind post the UK tax rate increase from 19% to 25% effective 1 April 2023 (1.9%) and the recognition of deferred tax 
asset on the intangible impairments that were included in non-operating and capital items in 2020. In addition to disallowable expenses, 
withholding taxes on dividends declared and provided for through deferred tax in relation to retained earnings as well as withholding 
taxes on management fees, interest and license fees, increased the tax rate (5.1%). 

^  Non-operating and capital items taxation refer to expenses/income that are unrelated to Barloworld’s core operations and fall outside the 
normal course of business. This would include items excluded from the headline earnings of the group, refer to note 9.  

^^  Exempt income and special allowances largely comprise learnerships allowances, dividends, investment income taxed at lower rates and 
other capital income/gains.
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8. Taxation continued

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Group tax losses at the end of the year:
South African – taxation losses (917) (918)

Foreign – taxation losses (1 279) (1 087)

(2 196) (2 005)

Utilised to reduce deferred taxation liabilities or create deferred  
taxation assets  1 059  1 389

Losses on which no deferred taxation assets raised due to uncertainty 
regarding utilisation (1 137) (616)

The losses for which no deferred taxation asset has been raised  
are as follows:
South African tax losses
Barloworld Siyakhula (8)
Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd (101)

Foreign tax losses
Equipment Russia (122) (134)

Avis Fleet (50) (63)

UK group (56)
Total continuing operations (236) (299)
Discontinued operations
Automotive (29)

Barloworld Logistics Africa (375) (274)

Barloworld Transport Solutions (500) (3)

Logistics (26) (12)

Total discontinuing operations (901) (317)
Total group (1 137) (616)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

The Logistics and Barloworld Transport companies continued to incur losses and due to uncertainty 
around the utilisation of the losses, no deferred tax assets were recognised. This resulted in an 
impairment of deferred tax assets previously raised.
   
In relation to all the other losses listed above, there is no expiry date, or limit of carry forward, 
provided that the businesses continue trading.
  
Barloworld operates in numerous countries around the world and accordingly is subject to, and 
pays annual income taxes, under the various income tax regimes in the countries in which it 
operates. The group has historically filed, and continues to file, all required income tax returns and 
to pay the taxes reasonably determined to be due. In some countries, tax authorities are yet to 
complete their assessments for previous years. The tax rules and regulations in many countries are 
highly complex and subject to interpretation. From time to time, the group is subject to a review 
of its historic income tax filings and in connection with such reviews, disputes can arise with the 
tax authorities over the interpretation or application of certain rules in respect of the group’s 
business conducted within the country involved. Significant judgement is required in determining 
the worldwide provisions for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are some 
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business.

The United Kingdom (“UK”) government published the 2021/2022 Bill on 4 November 2021 
which contains provisions requiring large businesses to notify HMRC where they have adopted an 
uncertain tax treatment applicable to returns filed after April 2022. We do not believe that any of 
the Barloworld companies in the UK group will have anything to report.

The proposed decrease in the South African tax rate from 28% to 27% announced by the Minister 
of finance in the February 2021 Budget Speech is not contained in any of the 2021/2022 Tax Bills.  
It can therefore not be said to have been substantively enacted as at 30 September 2021 and has 
therefore not been taken into account for purposes of financial reporting.  
 *  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36).
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9. Earnings and headline earnings per share

9.1 Diluted weighted average number of shares

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (net of share buy-back) 198 158 482 200 329 550

Increase in number of shares as a result of unexercised share options and 
unvested forfeitable shares 2 171 069  394 964

Fully converted weighted average number of shares 200 329 551 200 724 514
Account is taken of the number of ordinary shares in issue for the period 
in which they are entitled to participate in the net profit of the group.

Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders of  
Barloworld Limited 2 756 (2 476)

Net profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations attributable to 
shareholders of Barloworld Limited 2 765 (2 071)

Net loss for the year from discontinued operations attributable to 
shareholders of Barloworld Limited (9) (405)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

9.2 Earnings per share 

2021 2020 
2021
Cents 

2020 
Cents

Earnings per share
BASIC
The weighted average number of  
ordinary shares 198 158 482 200 329 550

Earnings/(loss) per share (basic) 1 390.9  (1 236.0)

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing 
operations (basic) 1 395.6  (1 033.8)

Loss per share from discontinued 
operations (basic)  (4.7)  (202.2)

DILUTED
Fully converted weighted average 
number of shares (note 9.1) 200 329 551 200 724 514

Earnings/(loss) per share (diluted) 1 375.8  (1 236.0)

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing 
operations (diluted) 1 380.5  (1 033.8)

Loss per share from discontinued 
operations (diluted)  (4.7)  (202.2)

Percentage dilution  1.1  0.0

*  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36).
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9. Earnings and headline earnings per share continued

9.3 Headline earnings per share

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020

BASIC
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to Barloworld Limited shareholders 2 756 (2 476)

Adjusted for the following:

Remeasurements excluded from headline earnings (388)  1 940

(Profit)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries and investments (515) 6

Tax impact of profit on disposal of subsidiaries and investments 127
Profit on disposal of plant, property, equipment and intangible assets (55) (13)

Capital gain tax on profit on disposal of property 6 99

Tax charge on profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 2

Impairment of goodwill 115 702

Tax impact on impairment of goodwill (4) (3)

Foreign currency translation on liquidation of subsidiaries (147)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right of use assets, 
intangible and other assets 226 303

Tax impact on impairment on plant and equipment, right of use assets, 
intangibles and other assets (6) (14)

Non-controlling interest in remeasurements related to impairment of 
property, plant and equipment (2)

Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets 708

Tax benefit of impairment of indefinite life intangible assets (76) (48)

Tax impact of reversal on impairment of investment (5)
(Reversal)/Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures (52) 194

Impairment of property, plant and equipment – associate and joint  
venture share 16 8

Profit on sale of property – associate and joint venture share (2) (2)

Deferred tax on acquisition of business related to associate and joint 
venture share (14)
Non-controlling shareholders interest on share of non-operating and 
capital items (6)
Headline earnings/(loss)  2 368 (536)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations 2 823 (2 084)

Non-controlling shareholder's interest in net profit from continuing operations  (58) 13

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to Barloworld Limited 
shareholders 2 765 (2 071)

Adjusted for the following items in continued operations:

Gross remeasurements excluded from headline earnings from 
continuing operations (266)  1 811

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries and investments (18)

Profit on disposal of plant, property, equipment and other assets excluding 
rental assets (45) (19)

Capital gain tax on profit on disposal of property  6 99

Tax charge/(benefit) on profit of disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 3

Impairment of goodwill 687

Tax benefit of impairment of goodwill (3)

Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets  708

Tax benefit of impairment of indefinite life of intangible assets  (76) (48)

Foreign currency translation on liquidation of subsidiaries (147)
Impairment of plant and equipment and intangibles and other assets  49  210

Tax impact of Impairment of plant and equipment and intangibles and 
other assets (6)

Non-controlling interest in remeasurements related to impairment of 
property, plant and equipment (2)

Tax impact of reversal on impairment of investment  (5)
(Reversal)/Impairment of investments in associates and joint ventures  (52)  194

Impairment of property, plant and equipment – associate and joint  
venture share  16  8

Tax benefit of impairment on property, plant and equipment – associate 
and joint venture share (2)

Profit on sale of property – associate and joint venture share (2)
Deferred tax on acquisition of business related to associate and joint 
venture share (14)
Headline earnings/(loss) from continuing operations  2 499 (260)

*  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36).
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9. Earnings and headline earnings per share continued

9.3 Headline earnings per share continued

R million 2021 
Restated*

2020
Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barloworld Limited 
shareholders (23) (415)

Non-controlling shareholders interest in net profit from discontinued 
operations  14 10

Loss from discontinued operations attributable to Barloworld Limited 
shareholders (9) (405)

Adjusted for the following:

Gross remeasurements excluded from headline earnings from 
discontinuing operations (122)  129

(Profit)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries and investments (515)  24

Tax impact of profit on disposal of subsidiaries and investments  127
(Profit)/loss on disposal of plant, property, equipment and other assets 
excluding rental assets (10)  6

Tax impact on profit on disposal of plant, property, equipment and other 
assets excluding rental assets (1)

Impairment of goodwill  115  15

Tax impact on impairment of goodwill (4)
Impairment of plant and equipment and intangibles and other assets  177  93

Tax impact on Impairment of plant and equipment and intangibles and 
other assets (6) (8)

Non-controlling shareholders interest on share of non-operating and 
capital items (6)
Headline loss from discontinued operations (131) (276)

2021 2020 
2021
Cents 

2020 
Cents

Headline earnings per share
BASIC
The weighted average number of  
ordinary shares 198 158 482 200 329 550

Headline earnings per share (basic) 1 194.8  (268.0)

Headline earnings per share from 
continuing operations (basic)       1 261.2  (130.0)

Headline earnings per share from 
discontinued operations (basic)  (65.9)  (138.5)

DILUTED
Fully converted weighted average 
number of shares (note 9.1) 200 329 551 200 724 514

Headline earnings per share (diluted)   1 181.8  (268.0)

Headline earnings per share from 
continuing operations (diluted)     1 247.5  (130.0)

Headline earnings per share from 
discontinued operations (diluted)  (65.9)  (138.5)

Percentage dilution  1.1  0.0

*  The restatement is due to discontinued operation of Motor Retail and Logistics (Refer to note 36).    
 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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10. Property, plant and equipment and investment properties

2021 2020

R million

Freehold and
leasehold
land and 

buildings
Investment 

property

Plant, 
equipment 

and furniture Vehicles

Rental
assets

equipment

Rental
assets

vehicles Total

Freehold and
leasehold
land and 

buildings

Plant,
 equipment

and furniture Vehicles

Rental
assets

 equipment

Rental
assets

vehicles Total
COST
At 1 October 6 331  2 726  1 774  3 991  7 675  22 497  5 727  2 528  1 649  3 403  9 467  22 774
Subsidiaries acquired  604  1 967  7    2 578  322  333  35  444   1 134
Other additions  241  189  91  1 148  5 121  6 790  145  202  199  1 299  3 239  5 084
Business/Subsidiary disposed (209) (272) (12)   (493) (2) (111) (1) (114)
Other disposals (202) (346) (319) (1 960) (4 563) (7 390) (82) (238) (144) (31) (125) (620)
Reclassifications**^ (1 220) 1 198  22   24  24 19 (66) (8) (1 206) (4 934) (6 195)
Translation differences (250) (104) (53) (137) (48) (592)  202  78  44  82  28  434
At 30 September 5 295 1 198  4 182  1 488  3 066  8 185  23 414 6 331  2 726  1 774  3 991  7 675  22 497
ACCUMULATED  
AMORTISATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 October 1 704  2 144  972  1 383  2 136  8 339  1 314  2 015  886  1 071  2 114  7 400 
Depreciation  145  4  307  64  397  1 290  2 207  109  174  143  348  1 485  2 259 
Subsidiaries acquired        74  233  10  271  588 
Business/Subsidiary disposed (42) (194) (5)    (241)  (1)  (97)  (1)  (99)
Other disposals (8) (337) (206) (684) (1 501) (2 736)  (82)  (221)  (106)  (19)  (20)  (448)
Reclassifications**^ (196) 194  2   24 24 41  (23)  (1)  (355)  (1 452)  (1 790)
Impairment^^  73  13  58    144  201  7  14  222 
Translation differences (80) (82) (38) (92) (18)  (310)  48  63  34  53  9  207 
At 30 September 1 596 198  1 853  845  1 028  1 907  7 427 1 704  2 144  972  1 383  2 136  8 339 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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2021 2020

R million

Freehold and
leasehold
land and 

buildings
Investment 

property

Plant, 
equipment 

and furniture Vehicles

Rental
assets

equipment

Rental
assets

vehicles Total

Freehold and
leasehold
land and 

buildings

Plant,
 equipment

and furniture Vehicles

Rental
assets

 equipment

Rental
assets

vehicles Total
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 30 September 3 699 1 000  2 329  643  2 038  6 278  15 987 4 627  582  802  2 608  5 539  14 158 
Less: Vehicle rental fleet assets 
reflected under current assets       2 819  2 819  1 889  1 889 

Classified as held for sale 
(note 22)   181   43  527     751  28  1  29 

Classified as investment 
property on statement of 
financial position. 1 000 1 000
Balance reflected as property, 
plant and equipment 3 518  2 286  116  2 038  3 459 11 417 4 599  581  802  2 608  3 650 12 239
Net book value of capitalised 
leases included in above balance  119  119  57  341  398

** In the normal course of business reclassifications within rental assets relates to assets that are recognised as property, plant and equipment and reclassified to inventory during the current year.
^  After divesting the Motor Retail businesses into NMI-DSM ,external party to the group, the Khula Sizwe properties are leased to NMI-DSM and are therefore reclassified as investment properties for the group. The fair value of investment properties at 30 September 2021 is R3 289 million.

The fair value measurement of the properties is considered a level 3 measurement in accordance with IFRS13. The calculation of the fair values of the properties was based on the income approach method in which the estimated net annual rent for the forward period of 120 months is 
capitalised at an appropriate rate of interest to reflect the perceived risk in the investment. A period of 120 months was considered appropriate because this was the determined expected future net income. There are no unobservable inputs for which a reasonable change in an input 
would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. There are also no significant unobservable inputs for which there are interrelationships which significantly influence the valuation.

 There are no known restrictions on the realisable value of the investment properties.

10. Property, plant and equipment and investment properties continued

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

2021 
Rm

2020 
Rm

Rental income derived from investment properties 51

^^  The impairments relate to the land and buildings held within the Other segment that has been classified as held for sale at  
30 September 2021 and as a result has been impaired to fair value less costs to sell. Impairments also include the write down  
of assets within the Logistics segment to fair value less costs to sell.  
These assets form part of the assets that are currently disclosed as being held for sale. Refer note 22.
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10. Property, plant and equipment and investment properties continued

Future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases for Avis Fleet:

R million 2021 2020 
Within one year  757  323

Two to five years  831  799

More than five years  1  497

 1 589  1 619

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

The carrying amounts of assets encumbered for which title is restricted was R2 213 million 
(FY2020: R 2 444 million) for properties (mortgage bond).     
      
Refer to note 24 where mortgage bonds are disclosed and note 28 for payables secured by 
vehicles. 

Vehicle rental assets include long-term fleet in southern Africa leased to customers for periods 
in excess of 12 months with an average lease term of 44 months (FY2020: 45 months) and an 
average residual value of 44% (FY2020: 45%). 
 
Refer to note 32 for contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment and vehicle rental fleet.
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11. Right of use assets

2021 2020

R million
Land and 
buildings

Equipment,  
IT and Plant Vehicles Total

Land and 
buildings

Equipment,  
IT and Plant Vehicles Total

COST
At 1 October  1 612  11  469  2 092
Adoption on 1 October 2019 upon transition to IFRS 16 Standard  1 333  11  415  1 759

Subsidiaries acquired  20  6  26
Business/Subsidiary disposed (622) (622) (1) (1)

Additions 71  3  48 122  199  33  54  286

Lease Modifications 29 (1) (101) (73)
Lease retirements (61) (43) (104) (12) (33) (45)

Reclassifications (4) (4)  62  62

Translation differences (24) (24)  31  31

At 30 September  1 025   19  369  1 413  1 612  11  469  2 092
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 October  288  4  189  481 
Adoption on 1 October 2019 upon transition to IFRS 16 Standard  27  27 

Depreciation  169  2   58  229  209  4  189  402 

Business/Subsidiary disposed (84) (84) (1) (1)

Reclassifications  13  13

Lease Modifications (110) (110)
Lease retirements (57) (44) (101) (3) (3)

Impairment*   41  12   53  37  37

Translation differences (7) (7)  6  6

At 30 September    349  6  106 461  288  4  189  481

Net balance reflected as Right of use assets  675  13  264  952  1 324  7  280  1 611
Less: Classified as held for sale (note 22) (54) (264) (318)
Total group   621  13   634  1 324  7  280  1 611

* Impairments resulted from the underlying CGU’s indicating an impairment. There were several properties which became vacant or were exited due to locations being consolidated in the financial period.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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12. Goodwill

R million 2021 2020 
COST
At 1 October  2 241  1 957 

Subsidiaries acquired*  1 640  328 

Other (3)
Business/Subsidiary disposed#  (95)  (70)

Translation differences  (60)  26 

At 30 September 3 723  2 241 
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 October  889  258 

De-consolidation of subsidiary

Business/Subsidiary disposed#  (33)  (70)

Impairment@  115  702 

Translation differences (4)  (1)

At 30 September    967  889 

CARRYING AMOUNT 2 756  1 352 

* Refer to note 38 for details of the acquisition of Ingrain during the current year.   
# Relates to the disposal of the Motor Retail businesses.  
@ Relates to the impairment within the Logistics operating segment (Refer to note 22).   

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued   
for the year ended 30 September 2021

11. Right of use assets continued

2021

Right of use 
assets

No of 
right of 

use assets 
leases

Range of 
remaining 
lease term

Average 
remaining 
lease term

No of 
leases with 

extension 
options

No of 
leases with 

variable 
payments 

linked

No of 
leases with 

termination 
options

Land and 
buildings  213  1 to 26 years  7  127  18 

Equipment,  
IT and Plant  56  1 to 5 years  3  29  29  29 

Vehicles  709  1 to 6 years  3 

 978  156  29  47 

2020

Right of use 
assets

No of 
right of 

use assets 
leases

Range of 
remaining 
lease term

Average 
remaining 
lease term

No of 
leases with 

extension 
options

No of 
leases with 

variable 
payments 

linked

No of 
leases with 

termination 
options

Land and 
buildings  266  1 to 29 years  5  127  44 

Equipment,  
IT and Plant  60  1 to 6 years  2  42  42  42 

Vehicles  1 024  1 to 8 years  3 

 1 350  169  42  86 
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12. Goodwill continued

Goodwill is allocated to the following cash generating units for impairment testing purposes: 
 

Significant cash-generating  
units (CGUs)

Geographical  
Location

Reportable segment to  
which the CGU belong

Carrying amount  
of Goodwill

Accumulated 
impairments

2021 
R million

2020 
R million

2021 
R million

2020 
R million

Avis Rent a Car southern Africa Southern Africa Car Rental southern Africa 176  176  (619)  (619)

Avis Fleet southern Africa Southern Africa Leasing 282  282  (11)  (11)

Equipment Russia Russia Equipment Eurasia 217  240 

Equipment Botswana Zambia Angola 
Mozambique Malawi (BZAMM) 

Rest of Africa Equipment southern Africa 
 (57)  (57)

Equipment Mongolia Mongolia Equipment Eurasia 289  324 

Ingrain& South Africa Ingrain 1640 
Other^ Various Various 152  330  (130)  (15)

CARRYING AMOUNT 2 756  1 352  (817)  (702)

^ The aggregate of the remaining immaterial goodwill balances consists of 2 cash generating units in 2021 (FY2020: 10).
& Refer to note 38 for details of the acquisition of Ingrain during the current year. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculation for the CGU’s shown above are as follows:

The discount rate applied to the five year forecast period has been outlined for each cash 
generating unit in the table below. Discount rates applied to cash flow projections are based 
on a country or region-specific discount rate, dependent upon the location of cash-generating 
operations.  

At each impairment testing interval a discounted cash flow valuation model is applied using a 
five-year strategic plan as approved by the board. The financial plans are the quantification of 
strategies derived from the use of a common strategic planning process followed across the group 
adjusted for the estimated impact of Covid-19 on the various businesses in the medium term and 
the expected prolonged recovery from this global crisis which has impacted long term growth rates 
across our businesses. The process ensures that significant risks and sensitivities are appropriately 
considered and factored into strategic plans.     
 
       
       

Goodwill is allocated to the appropriate CGUs based on which CGU is expected to benefit from the 
synergies arising in a business combination. External and internal factors surrounding the business 
operations play a role in determining an indication of impairment. In addition, the carrying amount 
of goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test. 

Impairment of goodwill arises when the recoverable amount of the CGU, including goodwill, is less 
than the carrying value. The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of the fair value less 
costs to sell or the value in use.

The current year trading results for the three Logistics CGU’s reflected poor performance, due  
to number of factors, loss making contracts and reduced activity. The goodwill in all three  
CGU’s within the Logistics division were written off as at 30 September 2021 based on the 
above testing (Refer note 22).
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

12. Goodwill continued

The pre-tax nominal discount rates applied are as follows:     

Significant cash-generating units 
(CGUs)

Geographical 
Location Currency 2021 2020 

Avis Rent a Car southern Africa Southern Africa ZAR 26.9% 25.3%

Avis Fleet southern Africa Southern Africa ZAR 26.1% 23.3%

Equipment Russia Russia USD 13.2% 13.3%

Equipment Mongolia Mongolia USD 14.7%
Ingrain South Africa ZAR 16.5%

Other Various Various 
 14.5%  

to 14.6%
14.6%  

to 28%

Long term growth rates applied to extrapolate cash flows are as follows:

Significant cash-generating units 
(CGUs)

Geographical 
Location Currency 2021 2020 

Avis Rent a Car southern Africa South Africa ZAR 4.6% 4.7%

Avis Fleet southern Africa South Africa ZAR 4.6% 4.7%

Equipment Russia Russia USD 2.0% 1.9%

Equipment Mongolia Mongolia USD 2.0%
Ingrain South Africa ZAR 4.6%
Other Various Various 4.6% 4.7%

Key operating assumptions: 
      
Sales growth rates: sales growth rates have been derived by analysing historical data, considering 
growth rates projected by the senior management teams which includes price and volumes and 
considering the economic and trading conditions of each area within South Africa and the rest of 
the world. 

Gross margins: gross margins have been derived by analysing historical data, approved forecast 
gross margins for the forecast period, and considering the impact of currency fluctuations.  

Operating costs: Operating costs have been derived by analysing historical data, considering 
economic and trading conditions, committed and uncommitted capital expenditure, and operating 
requirements coupled by various operational improvement initiatives.

Working capital: working capital requirements are driven by required stock turn ratios, credit terms 
and capital expenditure requirements. 

Long-term growth rates: long-term growth rates are based on the longer term inflation and 
currency expectations for the various industries in South Africa and the rest of the world.  
     
As at 30 September 2021, management have performed sufficient sensitivity analysis to conclude 
that a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the 
group’s individual cash-generating units to exceed their value in use.    
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13. Intangible assets

2021 2020

R million
Capitalised 

software

Patents,  
trademarks,

development 
costs

Supplier
relationships

Customer 
relationships, 

order backlog

Total  
intangible

assets
Capitalised 

software

Patents, 
trademarks, 

development 
costs

Supplier  
relationships

Customer 
relationships,

order backlog

Total  
intangible

assets
COST
At 1 October  1 240  139  2 176  168  3 723  1 179  210  1 327  204  2 920

Subsidiaries acquired#  52  1 011  1 063  9  773  782

Additions  48  4  52  80  3  83

Business/Subsidiary disposed (28) (7) (24)  (59) (7) (1) (8)

Disposals (223) (5) (228) (85) (21) (37) (143)

Reclassification  9 (9)  63 (60)  3

Translation differences (5) (1) (165)  (171)  10 (1)  76  1  86

At 30 September  1 093  126  1 987  1 174  4 380  1 240  139  2 176  168  3 723
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 October  932  140  901  118  2 091  831  190  194  145  1 360

Charge for the year  85 (25)  34  95  189  114  7  4  11  136

Reclassification  2 (2)  37 (37)

Business/Subsidiary disposed (26) (7) (4) (37) (5) (5)

Disposals (192) (5) (197) (79) (21) (37) (137)

Impairment* 1  1 3  5  26  1  708  735

Translation differences (3) () (69)  (72)  8 (5) (1)  4

At 30 September  799  107  862  211  1 979  932  140  901  118  2 091
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 30 September  294  19  1 125  963  2 401  308  1 276  50  1 632

Less: Classified as held for sale (note 22) (30) (1)  (31)
Total group  264  19  1 125  962  2 370  308  1 276  50  1 632

          
#  Acquisition of Ingrain in the current financial year included customer relationships that arose from non-contractual customer 

relationships which represent loyal customers that will continue their relationship after the acquisition by a market participant.  
Refer to note 36 for more detail on the Ingrain acquisition. 

* Impairments in the current year relate to licenses in Mongolia and software and minor customer relationships in South Africa.  
        

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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13. Intangible assets continued

Significant cash- 
generating units (CGUs) Useful life

Geographical  
Location

Reportable segment  
to which the CGUs belong

Carrying value Accumulated impairments

2021
R million

2020
R million 

2021
R million

2020
R million 

Equipment Russia Indefinite Russia Equipment Eurasia 193 214

Equipment South Africa Indefinite South Africa Equipment South Africa 277 277

Equipment Mongolia Finite Mongolia Equipment Eurasia 655 764

Equipment BZAMM Indefinite Rest of Africa Equipment southern Africa 708 708

Other Indefinite Various Various 21

Supplier Relationship 
intangible assets  1 125  1 276  708  708
Ingrain Finite South Africa Ingrain  949
Other Finite Various Various  14  50

Customer relationships and 
order backlog intangible 
assets  963  50

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

The Equipment South Africa and Russia indefinite life intangible assets classified as Supplier 
Relationships are in relation to a dealer agreement which has no fixed termination date. The 
indefinite useful life is supported by Barloworld’s long standing relationship with Caterpillar 
Incorporated, (CAT) as the exclusive CAT mining equipment dealer in South Africa, BZAMM  
and parts of Russia and Mongolia. 

Customer relationships arose in Ingrain from non-contractual customer relationships, which 
represent loyal customers that will continue their relationship after the acquisition. The write  
off period is 15 years. 

The key assumptions used in the recoverable amount calculation for the CGU’s shown above 
(indefinite life) are as follows: 

At each impairment testing interval a discounted cash flow valuation model is applied using a 
five-year strategic plan as approved by the board. The financial plans are the quantification of 
strategies derived from the use of a common strategic planning process followed across the group 
adjusted for the estimated impact of Covid-19 on the various businesses in the medium term and 
the expected prolonged recovery from this global crisis which has impacted long term growth rates 
across our businesses. The process ensures that significant risks and sensitivities are appropriately 
considered and factored into strategic plans. 

The discount rate applied to the five year forecast period has been outlined for each cash 
generating unit in the table below. Discount rates applied to cash flow projections are based on a 
country or region-specific discount rate, dependent upon the location of cash-generating segment 
operations.
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13. Intangible assets continued

The pre-tax nominal discount rates applied are as follows:

Significant cash-generating units 
(CGUs)

Geographical 
Location Currency

2021
% 

2020
% 

Equipment Russia Russia  USD 13.2% 13.3%

Equipment South Africa South Africa  ZAR 18.9% 17.7%

 
          

Long term growth rates applied to extrapolate cash flows are as follows:
   

Significant cash-generating units 
(CGUs)

Geographical 
Location Currency

2021
% 

2020
% 

Equipment Russia Russia USD 2.0% 1.9%

Equipment South Africa South Africa ZAR 4.6% 4.7%

As at 30 September 2021, management have performed the appropriate sensitivity analyses to 
conclude that a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause the carrying 
amount of the group’s individual cash-generating units to exceed their recoverable amount. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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14. Investment in associates and joint ventures

(Loss)/Income from associates 
and joint ventures

Carrying value of  
the investment 

R million 2021 2020 2021 2020 
Associates  108  52  778  745

Joint ventures (121) (95)  1 102  1 403

Total continuing operations (13) (43)  1 880  2 148

Discontinued operations (note 22) (2) (5)

Total group (15) (48)  1 880  2 148

     
Impairment of investments arises when the recoverable amount of the Investment is less than the carrying value. 
The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing the above Investments for impairment, the recoverable amount was based on the fair 
value less costs to sell method.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

The following key assumptions have been used in determining the fair value less costs to sell of 
each investment at 30 September 2021:

Bartrac 
Equipment 

Limited*

BHBW South 
Africa (Pty) 

Limited

NMI Durban 
South Motors

(Pty) Ltd

Pre-tax nominal discount rate 16.0% 19.4% 15.4%
Terminal growth rate 2.0% 4.6% 4.6%

The following key assumptions have been used in determining the fair value less costs to sell of 
each investment at 30 September 2020:

Bartrac 
Equipment 

Limited*

BHBW South 
Africa (Pty) 

Limited

NMI Durban 
South Motors

(Pty) Ltd

Pre-tax nominal discount rate 19.7% 17.4% 15.3%

Terminal growth rate 1.9% 4.7% 4.7%

  
* US Dollar based

As at 30 September 2021, management have performed sufficient sensitivity analysis to conclude 
that a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the 
group’s individual cash-generating units to exceed their recoverable amount (fair value less costs  
to sell).         

(Reversal)/Impairments 
recognised in the year 

Geographical 
Location Reportable segment

2021
R million 

2020
R million 

BHBW South Africa (Pty) 
Limited^ South Africa Other segments  (40) 187

BHBW Zambia Limited* Zambia Other segments  (12) 7

Barloworld Maponya (Pty) 
Limited* South Africa Other segments 2 16

Total  (50) 210

^  It should be noted that the impairment of the investment in BHBW South Africa (Pty) Ltd was partially reversed by R40 million in the current 
financial year due to better financial outlook. Management has embarked on a turnaround business strategy that will improve future 
operations and thus improve working capital. Securing additional funders has already lead to increased sales and will further enhance the 
opportunity for growth. The business continues to identify complementary product lines to drive growth and diversify the revenue. 

* Relates to (reversal) or impairments of loans to joint venture.      
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14. Investment in associates and joint ventures continued

DETAILS OF MATERIAL JOINT VENTURES     

Details of material joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follows:   
 

Name of Joint 
Venture Principal Activity

Place of 
incorporation 

Proportion of ownership  
interest and voting rights held 

by the group

2021 2020 
Bartrac Equipment 
Limited

Caterpillar dealer Mauritius
50% 50%

The joint venture operates in Mauritius and the DRC.

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s material joint venture is set out below, 
the summarised financial information represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

R million 2021 2020 
Bartrac Equipment Limited
Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents 247  401 

Total current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) 1 404  1 621 

Non-current assets 986  1 389 

Total current liabilities 527  506 

Total non-current liabilities 74  205 

Net asset value 2 036 2 700 

Barloworld share of net asset value 1 018 1 350 

Income statement
Revenue 2 630  2 966 

Depreciation and amortisation (70) (103)

Interest expense (29) (24)

Income tax expense (27) (83)

Net loss after tax (224) (82)

     

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 2020 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of the interest in Bartrac 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements
Original cost 38  38 

Equity accounted earnings to date 1 438  1 550 

Dividends (809) (719)

Foreign Currency Translation 351  481 

Carrying amount of the group's interest in Bartrac Equipment Limited 1 018 1 350 
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14. Investment in associates and joint ventures continued

Name of Joint Venture Principal Activity Place of incorporation 

Proportion of ownership  
interest and voting rights  

held by the group

2021 2020 
BHBW South Africa 
(Proprietary) Limited

Supply of Agricultural 
and Materials Handling 
goods and services

South Africa

50% 50%

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s material joint venture is set out below, 
the summarised financial information represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

R million 2021 2020 
BHBW South Africa (Proprietary) Limited
Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents  1
Total current assets  402  639 

Non-current assets  328  428 

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables  
and provisions)  110  41 

Total current liabilities  255  603 

Total non-current liabilities  42
Net asset value 434  464 

Barloworld share of net asset value 217  232 

Income statement
Revenue  1 628  1 193 

Depreciation and amortisation (39)  (69)

Interest expense (17)  (37)

Income tax expense  (2)

Net loss after tax (31)  (116)

Aggregate information of other joint ventures that are not individually material:   
 

R million 2021 2020 
Group’s share of income/(loss) 6  4

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million 2021 2020 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of the interest in BHBW South 
Africa (Proprietary) Limited recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements
Original cost  301  301 

Equity accounted loss to date (84)  (69)

Impairment recognised (147)  (187)

Carrying amount of the group's interest in BHBW South Africa 
(Proprietary) Limited  70  45 
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14. Investment in associates and joint ventures continued

(Loss) Income from 
 joint venture

Carrying value of  
the investment 

R million 2021 2020 2021 2020 
Reconciliation of income statement/
statement of financial position
Bartrac Equipment Limited and BHBW 
South Africa (Proprietary) Limited  (127)  (99) 1 088 1 395 

Aggregate profit/carrying value of  
non-material joint ventures 6  4 14 8 

Total income and carrying value of  
joint ventures (121)  (95)  1 102 1 403 

     

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

DETAILS OF MATERIAL ASSOCIATES

Name of Associates Principal Activity Place of incorporation 

Proportion of ownership  
interest and voting rights  

held by the group

2021 2020 
NMI Durban South 
Motors (Pty) Ltd

Sale and servicing of 
motor vehicles and sale 
of parts

South Africa

50% 50%

     
Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s material associates is set out below, the 
summarised financial information represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS.
    
The group accounts for NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd using the equity accounting method as 
Barloworld has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decision of the investee 
but in control or joint control of these policies. 
 
Although Barloworld has 50% interest, joint control does not exist because the remaining 50% 
investment in NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd is held by two parties.     
 

R million 2021 2020 
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd
Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents  204  209

Total current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)  2 991  780

Non-current assets  4 071  1 400

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)  183  31

Total current liabilities  3 057  873

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)  2 671  59

Total non-current liabilities  2 746  206

Net asset value 1 462 1 310 

Barloworld share of net asset value excluding goodwill 731 656 

Goodwill 10 10 

Barloworld share of net asset value including goodwill 741 666 

Income statement
Revenue  9 027  3 644

Depreciation and amortisation (131) (43)

Interest income  4  2

Income tax expense (19) (11)

Net profit after tax and share of associate profit  208  110

R million 2021 2020 
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of the interest in NMI Durban South 
Motors (Pty) Ltd recognised in the consolidated financial statements
Original cost  451  451

Goodwill  212  212

Equity accounted earnings to date  152  56

Adoption on 1 October 2019 upon transition to IFRS 16 Standard (3) (3)

Dividends (71) (50)

Carrying amount of the group's interest in NMI Durban South Motors 
(Pty) Ltd  741 666

During the current year the Motor Retail business was sold to NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd. 
Refer note 22 and notes to the cash flow statement.
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14. Investment in associates and joint ventures continued

Aggregate information of other associate that are not individually material:
    

R million 2021 2020 
Group’s share of income/(loss)  7 (3)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

Reconciliation of income statement/statement of financial position

Income/(loss)  
from associate

Carrying value of  
the investment 

R million 2021 2020 2021 2020 
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd  101  55  741  666

Aggregate profit/(loss)/carrying value of 
other non-material associates#  7 (3)  37  79

Total continuing operations  108  52  778  745

Discontinued operations (note 22)  (2)  (5)

Total group 106 47 778 745 

     
#  Included in the carrying value of associates, that are not individually material, Irene Khaya Property Investment (Pty) Ltd, in which 

Barloworld also has a 50% shareholding and Optron (Pty) Ltd in which Barloworld has a 20% shareholding. These entities are not jointly 
controlled and as such are classified as associates.       
   

All of the associates and joint ventures are incorporated and operational in South Africa, except:

Name of the Associate/Joint Ventures Principal Activity Place of incorporation Year-end

Barzem Enterprises (Pty) Limited Caterpillar dealer Zimbabwe 31 December*

Bartrac Equipment Limited Caterpillar dealer Mauritius 31 December*

Africa United Equipment Liaison Office Hong Kong 31 December*

BHBW Zambia Ltd Handling Zambia 31 December*

*  The different year ends of the associates and joint ventures listed above have been agreed to based on the tax year ends of the 
jurisdictions in which these businesses operate and/or to coincide with our partners’ financial year ends and do not have a material 
impact on the results.

There are no restrictions on the ability of the group’s joint ventures and associates to transfer funds 
to the group in the form of cash dividends or to repay loans or advances owing to the group.

The group has no commitments arising from its involvement with joint ventures and associates.  
Refer to note 34 for guarantees given on behalf of joint ventures and associates.

Financial liabilities arising from the issuance of guarantees over obligations of the joint ventures 
and associates are disclosed in credit risk note 34.2.d. The group considers the probability of loss 
arising from these guarantees as remote as the financial position of these investments is considered 
sufficient to repay debts as and when they are due and payable. 
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15. Long-term trade and other receivables

R million 2021 
Restated

2020
Amounts receivable under finance leases:
Net investment  302  381
Less: Unearned finance income (49) (67)
Total group  253  314
Classified as held for sale (note 22) (50)
Total long and short term finance lease receivables  203  314

Long term finance lease receivables  162  187
Long term trade receivables*  9
Total group  171  187
Classified as held for sale (note 22) (37)
Total long and short term finance lease receivables  134  187
Receivable as follows:
Present value
Within one year – included in trade and other receivables (note 19)  91  127
Year 2  91  93
Year 3  38  41
Year 4  25  40
Year 5  7  12
Year 6 and onwards  1  1

 253  314
Minimum lease payments
Within one year  106  146
Year 2 98  94
Year 3 57 74
Year 4 32 44
Year 5 9 22
Year 6 and onwards 1

 302  381
Less: Unearned finance income (49) (67)

 253  314
Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance leases  42  42

* Long term trade receivables are reflected net of expected credit losses of R4 million (FY2020: Nil).   

Long term vehicle fleet is leased to customers for periods ranging from 15 to 60 months.   
The average lease term is 44 months (FY2020: 45 months) and the majority of these leases are at 
interest rates linked to the South African prime rate. The weighted average interest rate on lease 
receivables for the year 30 September 2021 was 7.88% per annum (FY2020: 11.03%). The group 
remains the title holder of the vehicles under finance lease and there are instances where surety  
or guarantees are held as collateral. 

The profit related to finance leases amounts to R6 million (FY2020: R7 million) within Equipment 
operating segment. 

Investment income earned on the net investment in the leases amounts to R30 million  
(FY2020: R43 million).

No variable income portion has been excluded in the measurement of the net investment in the lease.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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17. Deferred taxation

R million 2021 2020
Movement of deferred taxation
Balance at beginning of year

– deferred taxation assets  1 014  766

– deferred taxation liabilities (806) (572)

Net asset at beginning of the year  208  194

Reclassified as held for sale at the beginning of the year  16

Deferred taxation on adoption of new standards  73

Recognised in income statement this year  579 (138)

– Current movements  513 (131)

– Rate change adjustment  66 (7)

Recognised in income statement this year – discontinued operations (156)  116

Business/Subsidiary disposed (4)
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries* (749) (193)

Translation differences  14  38

Accounted for directly in other comprehensive income (213)  103

16.  Long-term financial assets

R million 2021 2020
Listed investments at fair value  2  2

Unlisted investments at fair value  19  78

Unlisted debt instruments  102

Other receivables^  181  105

Total group  202  287
Classified as held for sale (note 22) (4)
Total long term financial assets  198  287

^  Other receivables includes an amount of R67 million (FY2020: Nil) which relates to the long term portion of the tranche payable by NMI-DSM 
on the second anniversary of the closing date of the disposal on 1 June each year. Refer to note 22 for more details.

The above assets have been assessed for impairment based on the historical and forecast dividends 
received and no impairment is required. 

R million 2021 2020

Net deferred taxation classified as held for sale (note 20) (13)
Other movements (4) (1)

Net (liability) asset at end of the year (338)  208

– deferred taxation assets  848  1 014

– deferred taxation liabilities (1 186) (806)

Analysis of deferred taxation by type of temporary difference
Deferred taxation assets
Capital allowances (362) (147)

Right of use assets (459) (176)

Provisions, long term loans and payables  527  298

Prepayments and other receivables  188  64

Effect of tax losses  254  380

Retirement benefit obligations  33  365

Lease liabilities  610  233

Other temporary differences  57 (3)

 848  1 014
Deferred taxation liabilities
Capital allowances (1 282) (1 097)

Right of use assets (350) (560)

Provisions, long term loans and payables  89  141

Prepayments and other receivables  19  54

Effect of tax losses  5 (105)

Lease liabilities  370  764

Other temporary differences (37) (3)

(1 186) (806)

* Refer to note 38 on the acquisition of Ingrain 

Refer to note 8 for information on unutilised tax losses. 
Provision has been made for South African income tax or foreign taxes that may result from future 
remittances of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries or foreign corporate joint ventures, 
where the group is able to assert that the undistributed earnings are not permanently reinvested. 
In all other cases, the foreign subsidiaries reinvest the undistributed earnings into future capital 
expansion projects, maintenance capital and ongoing working capital funding requirements. 
Unrecognised taxable temporary differences pertaining to undistributed earnings totalled   
R76 million (FY2020: R63 million)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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18.  Inventories

R million 2021 2020
Work in progress  570  608

Equipment  7 013  8 618

Vehicles  315  2 258

Starch Raw Materials  787
Starch Finished goods  185
Other inventories  365  76

Inventory provision^ (1 095) (1 390)

Total group  8 140  10 170
Classified as held for sale (29)
Total per statement of financial position  8 111  10 170

Inventories to the value of R nil (FY2020: R1 091 million) have been encumbered under the 
Floorplan facilities which are included in other trade payables (The reduction is due to the sale  
of the Motor retail businesses). 

The value of inventories has been determined on the following bases:

R million 2021 2020
First-in first-out  1 134  2 341

Specific identification  3 919  5 704

Weighted average  3 058  2 125

 8 111  10 170
^ Included within inventory provision are the following: 

Amount of write-down of inventory to net realisable value and losses  
of inventory  162  270

Inventory recognised as an expense 10 867 5 792

Amount of reversals of inventory previously written down*  101  33

* The reversal of inventory previously written off mainly relates to an increase in the inventory turn resulting in a reversal of aged inventory  
 provisions in the Equipment business.

19.  Trade and other receivables

R million 2021 2020
Trade receivables 6 879  6 596

Less: Expected credit losses (ECL) (943) (1 027)

Net Trade receivables  5 936  5 569

Other financial assets
Finance lease receivables (note 15)  91  127

Fair value of derivatives^^  89  15

Unlisted debt instruments**  93  427

Other Receivables*** 72
Non-financial assets classified as other receivables
VAT receivables 375 523

Prepayments  303 331

Other receivables^ 795 924

Total group  7 754  7 916
Classified as held for sale (note 22) (804)
Total per statement of financial position  6 950  7 916 

**  The group remains invested in dollar linked Angolan government bonds. On maturity the bonds will be settled in Kwanza.  
At 30 September 2021, the group’s short term investment was R 92 million ($6.1 million) (FY2020: total R 529 million ($ 31.7 million)  
of which R 427 million ($25.6 million) was short term).

*** The 2021 financial year relates the short term portion of the tranche payable by NMI-DSM on the first anniversary of the closing date of  
 the disposal on 1 June each year. Refer to note 22 for more details. 
^  Other receivables mainly relates to refunds from OEM’s regarding discount claims or shipment returns within Equipment operating 

segment of R213 million (FY2020: R251 million) as well warranty claims, insurance claims, rebates and licence fee receivables. The 2021 
financial year also includes the short term portion of the tranche payable by NMI-DSM on the first anniversary of the closing date of the 
disposal on 1 June each year. Refer to note 22 for more details.

^^  The foreign currency contracts have been acquired to hedge the underlying currency risk arising from a firm commitment to acquire 
equipment machines as well as the forecast purchases of spare parts. All cash flows are expected to occur and affect profit or loss 
within the next twelve months.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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19.  Trade and other receivables continued

R million 2021 2020
Expected credit losses (ECL)#

At 1 October 1 027  798 

Current year expected credit losses  66  276 

Transfer to credit-impaired  3 

Transfer from credit-impaired  (3)

Write off  (112)  (65)

Business/Subsidiary disposed  (11)  (3)

Translation differences  (27)  21 

At 30 September 943  1 027 
Classified as held for sale (note 22)  (61)
Total per statement of financial position 882  1 027 

#   The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. Refer to note 34 for further analysis 
of credit risk related to ECL.   

20.  Contract assets 

R million 2021 2020
Balance at 1 October  514  981 

Acquisition of subsidiaries  11 

Recognition of revenue (using percentage of completion)  2 910  3 507 

Transfer to receivables (on invoicing)  (2 955)  (4 008)

Impairment (loss)/gain upon reclassification to trade receivables  (1)  1 

Expected credit losses movement (refer to reconciliation below)  (5)  (1)

Translation differences  (11)  23 

30 September  452  514 
Classified as held for sale (note 22)  (28)
Total per statement of financial position  424  514 
Current portion  424  514 

Amounts relating to contract assets are balances due from customers in the Equipment and 
Logistics segments that represent the group’s right to consideration, when the group performs 
the contracted performance obligations over-time. Payment is conditional on completion of the 
performance obligations. The contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which 
it is invoiced to the customer.

R million 2021 2020
Expected credit losses (ECL)
At 1 October  5  4 

Current year expected credit losses  5  1 

10 5

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

21.  Cash and cash equivalents

R million 2021 2020
Cash on deposit 10 804  6 228 

Other cash and cash equivalent balances 35  515 

Total group  10 839  6 743 

Classified as held for sale (note 22)  (118)
Total per statement of financial position  10 721  6 743 
Per currency:
South African Rand  5 677  2 792 

United States Dollar  2 066  1 933 

British Sterling  2 536  1 472 

Other foreign currencies  442  546 

 10 721  6 743
Cash balances not available for use due to other contractual and foreign 
exchange restrictions*  79  911 

*  September 2020 included Angolan Kwanza (FY2020: R364 million ($19.5 million) which was not easily accessible in 2020 as well as  
R502 million in escrow in respect of trade payables owed by Wagner Asia Equipment LLC. The current year restricted cash relates mainly 
to cash held in Malawi R33 million ($2.1 million) which is not easily accessible, as well as R37 million (GBP 1.8 million) held in Barloworld 
Insurance.
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22.1 Discontinued operations
  
In January 2021 Barloworld announced that the Motor Retail business will be sold to NMI-DSM 
effective 1 June 2021 and in February 2021 the board took a firm decision to dispose of the Logistics 
business. Motor Retail and Logistics represents significant lines of business and have therefore 
been disclosed as discontinued operations at 30 September 2021, with the comparative September 
2020 restated for the income statement and cash flow information only. The prior year statement of 
financial position is not restated in terms of IFRS 5 non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued 
operations. The disposal of 50% of Motor Retail to NMI-DSM was concluded on the 1st of June 
2021 and therefore 8 months of trading is reported in the discontinued operations for Motor 
Retail. Further details regarding the progress of the Logistics disposal are disclosed in note 42. 
 

R million Notes 2021 
Restated*

2020
Loss before taxation (314) (589)

Taxation (95)  179

Net loss of after taxation (409) (410)

Loss from associates (2) (5)

Loss from discontinued operations (411) (415)

Profit on disposal of Motor Retail businesses**  515
Taxation on disposal of Motor Retail businesses (127)
Loss from discontinued operations per income statement (23) (415)

Loss on discontinued operations to the owners of Barloworld 
Limited after non-controlling interest (9) (405)
Taxation on trading loss (95)    179
Tax on disposal of Motor Retail businesses (127)
Total discontinued taxation (note 5) (222) 179

*  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations (Refer to note 36).
**  On 1 June 2021 all conditions precedent to the disposal of Motor Retail to NMI had been fulfilled or waived.The total proceeds of the 

Disposal, subject to customary closing mechanics, was R1 062 million. Of this amount, R912 million was paid in various tranches until  
31 July 2021. A further R150 million will be paid in two tranches, in equal instalments of R75 million each, on the first and second 
anniversary of the closing date of the disposal on 1 June each year. The net profit on disposal includes R12 million that relates to the 
recycling of the foreign currency translation reserves since acquisition.

R million Notes 2021 
Restated*

2020
Results from discontinued operations as reported are  
as follows:
Revenue  12 285  15 774

Operating profit before items listed below  299 411

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets  2 (47)

Depreciation (123) (420)

Amortisation of intangible assets (8) (49)

Operating profit/(loss) before B-BBEE transaction charge  170 (105)

B-BBEE transaction charge (42) (56)

Operating profit/(loss)  128 (161)

Fair value adjustments on financial instruments (1) (5)

Finance costs excluding finance charges on group debt or  
internal IFRS 16 leases (176) (303)

Income from investments  18 17

Loss before non-operating and capital items (31) (452)

Non-operating and capital items comprising of:
Impairment of goodwill 12 (115) (15)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangibles  
and other assets 10, 11, 13 (177) (93)

Non-operating and capital items  9 (29)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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22.1 Discontinued operations continued

The cash flows from the discontinued operation are as follows:

R million 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities (64)  172

Cash flows from investing activities  870  311

Cash flows from financing activities (999) (392)

When entering into the sale of Logistics management believed they could sell the businesses 
as a whole as a going concern. The disposal process commenced with a broad set of interested 
parties. Non-binding proposals from the interested parties were received however due to the riots 
in July the overall sale of the business as a whole were impacted. Subsequently, management 
have identified three separate transactions to different buyers. Strong buyer interest has emerged 
through the process for the underlying discrete businesses. Each of the disposal group’s have 
a single coordinated plan to dispose of the businesses in Logistics. The table below depicts the 
disposal groups reported at 30 September.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

2021 Total Motor Retail

Logistics 
disposal 
group 1

Logistics 
disposal 
group 2

Logistics 
disposal 
group 3

Revenue 12 285 8 915 354 983 2 033 
Operating profit/(loss) 128 213 20 (22) (83)
(Loss)/profit before taxation (314) 125 (21) (93) (325)
Taxation (95) (1) (8) (58) (28)
Net (loss) profit after 
taxation (409) 124 (29) (151) (353)

The impairments related to the fair value less costs to sell the business are listed below:

2021 Total Motor Retail

Logistics 
disposal 
group 1

Logistics 
disposal 
group 2

Logistics 
disposal 
group 3

Goodwill 115 53 62 
Property, plant and 
equipment 95 36 20 39 
Right of use assets 53 1 52 
Intangibles 4 1 2 1 
Provisions 25 25 
Total impairments 292 38 75 179 

The valuation techniques used to determine the fair value less costs to sell is a combination of the 
discounted cashflows, market multiple technique and offer prices received. 

2020 Total Motor Retail

Logistics 
disposal 
group 1

Logistics 
disposal 
group 2

Logistics 
disposal 
group 3

Revenue 15 774 11 988 357 966 2 463 

Operating profit/(loss) (161) (15) 2 (65) (83)

Loss before taxation (589) (173) (24) (105) (288)

Taxation 179 81 6 43 49 

Net loss after taxation (410) (92) (18) (62) (239)

     
Logistics disposal group 1: Refrigerated transport business    
Logistics disposal group 2: Manline and Timber transport business that run the hazardous fuel, 
chemicals and forestry industry      
Logistics disposal group 3: Conglomerate of the warehouse and distribution, managed solutions, 
industrial projects and global solutions businesses.     
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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22.2 Assets classified as held for sale

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are as follows:

2021

R million
Total Held 

for Sale Logistics1
Other 

Segments2

Property, plant and equipment  751  606 145

Right of use assets  318  318 

Intangible assets  31  31 

Long term finance lease receivables  37  37 

Long term financial assets  4  4 

Deferred tax asset  141  133  8 

Inventories  29  29 

Trade and other receivables 804 804

Taxation  126  126 

Contract assets  28  28 

Cash and cash equivalents  118  118 

Total assets classified as held for sale* 2 387 2 234  153 

Deferred tax liability  128  128 

Interest-bearing  155  155 

Short and long term lease liabilities  423  423 

Bank overdraft and short term loans  94  94 

Total current payables  681  681 

Provisions and other accruals  179  179 

Tax provision  126  126 

Total liabilities associated with assets classified  
as held for sale**  1 786  1 786 

Net assets classified as held for sale  601 448 153

Note 1.  This represents the assets and liabilities of the Logistics business classified as held for sale and a discontinued operation.
Note 2.  The assets held for sale within the Other segments related to various properties that are in the process of being sold. 
* Includes financial assets of R 990 million.   
** Includes financial liabilities measured at amortised cost of R1 352 million

The valuation techniques used to determine the fair value less costs to sell is a combination of 
the discounted cashflows, market multiple technique and offer prices received. In terms of the 
valuation techniques the fair value of assets held for sale will be classified as level 3 as the valuation 
techniques are based on unobservable market data and adjusted for based on management’s 
experience and knowledge of the business. Management have considered and concluded that no 
reasonable change in the significant unobservable inputs would result in a material change in the 
fair value.
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23. Share capital and premium

R million 2021 2020
Authorised share capital
500 000 (FY2020: 500 000) 6 % Non-redeemable cumulative preference 
shares of R2 each  1  1

400 000 000 (FY2020: 400 000 000) Ordinary shares of 5 cents each  20  20

 21  21
Issued share capital
375 000 (FY2020: 375 000) 6% Non-redeemable cumulative preference 
shares of R2 each  1  1

201 025 646 (FY2020: 201 025 646) Ordinary shares of 5 cents each  
(note 3)  10  10

 11  11

Share premium (1 211) (1 132)

Balance at beginning of year (1 132)  429

Share buy-back and cancel (note 3 below) (79) (1 561)

Total issued share capital and premium (1 200) (1 121)
Issued shares:
Number of shares in issue at beginning of year 194 447 525 212 692 583

Share buy-back (note 3 below) (775 740) (18 245 058)

Total number of ordinary shares in issue at end of year, excluding 
B-BBEE shares 193 671 785 194 447 525

Other shares issued in respect of B-BBEE transaction (note 4 below) 6 578 121 6 578 121

Total number of ordinary shares in issue at end of year, including 
B-BBEE shares 200 249 906 201 025 646

Less treasury shares (note 5 below) (2 760 687) (1 690 217)

Net number of ordinary shares in issue at end of year 197 489 219 199 335 429
Unissued shares (note 1 below):

Ordinary shares reserved to meet the requirements of the Barloworld  
Share Option Scheme (note 2 below) 23 129 182 23 129 182

Ordinary shares 176 620 912 175 845 172

199 750 094 198 974 354
6% Non-redeemable cumulative preference shares 125 000 125 000

   

Notes:
1. The directors have no general authority to issue shares.   
2.   The shareholders at the general meeting on 20 January 2005 reserved shares for the purpose of 

the Barloworld Share Option Scheme.   
3.   During the year 775 740 (FY2020: 18 245 058) shares were repurchased as part of the group’s 

formal buy-back program and were cancelled on 29 October 2021. The average price per share 
for the buy back was R102.49 (FY2020:R85.59) per share.   

4.   At the general meeting of the company held on 14 February 2019 the groups’ B-BBEE transaction 
Khula Sizwe was approved. During the 2020 year 6 578 121 shares were issued during the year to 
the Barloworld Empowerment Foundation. There were no costs incurred in issuing these shares. 
    

R million 2021 2020
5. Reconciliation of Treasury shares:

Balance on 1 October 1 690 217 1 423 734

Acquisition of shares for employee share-based scheme 1 702 249 1 268 300

Shares vested and exercised (312 276) (606 304)

Shares lapsed in term of the employee share scheme (319 503) (395 513)

Balance on 30 September 2 760 687 1 690 217

   
The directors have a general authority to buy back up to 10% of the ordinary shares issued by  
the company. 

There are no rights preferences or restrictions on the ordinary shares in issue with the exception of 
those shares issued to the Barloworld Empowerment Foundation (note 4 above) where any sale of 
these shares must first be approved by Barloworld management. Preference shares have rights to 
fixed dividend payments at each interim and year end. 
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24. Interest-bearing liabilities  

R million Notes 2021 2020
Total long-term borrowings 34.2  10 621  7 494

Less: Current portion redeemable and repayable within one year (note 30) (3 065) (1 597)

Total group  7 556  5 897
Classified as Held for Sale 22 (155)
Total per Statement of Financial Position*  7 401  5 897
 
The current portion of long-term borrowings will be paid from available cash whilst the rest will be refinanced at maturity.

Repayable during the year ending 30 September

R million Notes
Total owing 

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 
2026 and 
onwards

Total owing 
2020 

Summary of group borrowings by currency and by year of redemption  
or repayment 
Total South African Rand  10 256  2 972  1 488  2 773  1 248  1 775  7 292

Total foreign currencies  365  156  32  103  40  34  202

Total South African Rand and foreign currency liabilities  10 621  3 128  1 520  2 876  1 288  1 809  7 494
Classified as Held for Sale 22 (155) (63) (53) (18) (11)  (10)

Total 10 466 3 065 1 467 2 858 1 277 1 799 7 494

*  The net book value of assets encumbered and liabilities secured is R2 213 million (FY2020:R2 444 million) and R 2 398 million (FY2020: R1 976 million) respectively. 
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24. Interest-bearing liabilities continued

Included in interest-bearing liabilities

Comparable  
Treasury Stock 

Spread  
bps Certificate Issued Maturity  Yield %  Type 

2021 
R million

2020
R million

BAW18 05-Dec-13 05-Dec-20 3-month Jibar  170  5.14  Floating rate  355 

BAW19 05-Dec-13 05-Dec-20 Fixed  Fixed  9.56  Fixed rate (NACS)  472 

BAW21 24-Mar-15 24-Mar-22 Fixed  Fixed  9.30  Fixed rate (NACS)  574  710 

BAW22 07-Dec-15 07-Dec-22 3-month Jibar  200  5.67  Floating rate  252  252 

BAW26U 11-May-17 11-May-21 3-month Jibar  195  5.59  Floating rate  250 

BAW27U 11-May-17 11-May-22 3-month Jibar  210  5.78  Floating rate  250  250 

BAW28 06-Jun-17 06-Jun-22 3-month Jibar  205  5.72  Floating rate  500  500 

BAW29 22-Feb-18 22-Feb-23 3-month Jibar  180  5.48  Floating rate  400  400 

BAW30 05-Dec-18 05-Dec-21 3-month Jibar  139  5.06  Floating rate  700  700 

BAW31 30-Sep-19 30-Sep-22 3-month Jibar  130  4.98  Floating rate  500  500 

BAW32U 14-May-20 15-May-23 Fixed  Fixed  6.73  Fixed rate (NACS)  700  700 

BAW33 08-Oct-20 08-Oct-23 Fixed Fixed  6.15  Fixed rate (NACS)  330
BAW34 09-Oct-20 09-Oct-23 3-month Jibar 200  5.68  Floating rate  500
BAW35 18-Feb-21 18-Feb-22 3-month Jibar 105  4.73  Floating rate  324
BAW36 18-Feb-21 18-Feb-24 3-month Jibar 169  5.37  Floating rate  714
Fees Capitalised (3)  (6)

5 741  5 083
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R million
Total 
2021 

Warranty
claims

Maintenance
contracts

Other
Provisions 

and accruals

Balance at beginning of year per 
statement of financial position  751  270  40  441

Amounts added  1 020  240  52  728 

Amounts used  (515)  (199)  (49)  (267)

Amounts reversed unused  (34)  (15)  (19)

Business/Subsidiary disposed  (5)  (5)

Translation adjustments          (39)  (14)  (3)  (22)

Total per statement of financial 
position  1 178  282  40   856
Classified as held for sale current (note 22) (179)  (179)

Total per statement of financial 
position 999 282 40 677
To be incurred
2021 
Within one year  859  275  16  568

Between two to five years  140  7  24  109

 999  282  40   677
2020 
Within one year  622  265  16  341

Between two to five years  129  5  24  100

 751  270  40 441

25. Provisions and other accruals

R million 2021 2020
Non-current  140  129

Current  1 038  622

Total group  1 178  751

Classified as held for sale current (note 22) (179)
Total per statement of financial position  999  751

Warranty claims    
The provisions relate principally to warranty claims on capital equipment, spare parts and services. 
The estimate is based on claims notified and past experience. 

Maintenance contracts    
This relates to deferred revenue on maintenance and repair contracts on motor vehicles. 
Assumptions include the estimation of maintenance and repair costs over the life cycle of the assets 
concerned. The timing of these cash flows is an area of judgement. 

Other provision and accruals     
Other provisions include various small amounts making up a large total including legal and onerous 
contract provisions R60 million (FY2020:R87 million) and insurance claim provisions R42 million 
(FY2020: R31 million) and de-fleeting provisions of R30 million (FY2020: R31 million). In the current 
year the de-fleeting provision is disclosed as held for sale. 
   
Other accruals include various smaller employee related amounts for retention plans R17 million 
(FY2020: R23 million) and FSP cash settled provisions R21 million (FY2020:R8 million) and salary 
and performance related accruals of R 259 million (FY2020: R16 million).   
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26. Other non-current liabilities     

R million 2021 2020
Retirement benefit obligation  173  1 916

Other payables  23  90 

Total per statement of financial position  196  2 006

RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION
     
It is a term and condition of employment that each permanent employee of Barloworld participate 
and contribute to the Retirement Fund. The employer through the provision of the employer 
contribution further provides for benefits that are facilitated through the Retirement Fund. To this 
end the group’s permanent employees are required to be members in line with the local regulatory 
requirements. The Retirement Funds currently in place are all defined contribution funds except 
for one. There is one defined benefit fund in our UK office and as it is outside South Africa, it is not 
subject to the provisions of the Pension funds Act of 1956.

Defined contribution plans
The total cost charged to profit or loss of R578 million (FY2020: R692 million) represents contributions 
payable to these schemes by the group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes. 

Defined benefit plans
The group sponsors a funded defined benefit scheme for qualifying employees and ex-employees 
in the UK. 

The UK defined benefit scheme is administered by a board of trustees which manages the assets 
held in trust for the benefit of the scheme members. The trustee board of the pension scheme 
is composed of one employer representative, one member nominated representative and one 
independent professional trustee. The trustee board is required by the trust deed and rules, pension 
law and by its articles of association to act in the interests of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme, 
i.e., current employees, former employees, retirees, and dependents. The scheme closed to future 
accrual on 31 December 2016.    
     
     
 

The scheme exposes the Company to a number of risks, the most significant for the balance sheet are:

Changes in bond yields A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the balance 
sheet of the scheme's liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an 
increase in the value of the scheme's bond holdings.

Asset volatility The balance sheet liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference 
to corporate bond yields. If assets underperform this yield, this can result in 
a worsening of the balance sheet position. The scheme holds a significant 
proportion of growth assets (equities and absolute return funds) which, though 
expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term, create volatility risk in 
the short-term. The allocation to growth assets is monitored to ensure it remains 
appropriate given the scheme's long term objectives.

Inflation risk A significant proportion of the scheme's benefit obligations are linked to inflation, 
and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most cases, caps on 
the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). 
A significant proportion of the assets are either unaffected by or only loosely 
correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the 
deficit (although the scheme assets do, in part, hedge inflation risks).

Life expectancy The majority of the scheme's obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the 
member and their dependants, so increases in life expectancy will result in an 
increase in the liabilities.

As the scheme is closed to future accrual, future contributions into the Scheme comprise solely recovery 
plan and expense contribution if considered necessary. Following the latest triennial valuation at  
1 April 2020 the deficit is planned to be funded via recovery plan contributions and investment returns 
from return-seeking assets. The current annual recovery plan contribution of £13.6 million (R 276 million)
will be paid up to 1 April 2026. An additional contribution of £20 million (R406 million) was paid 
by the Company in the current year, bringing the total contributions to £33.6 million (R675 million) 
over the financial year and £37 million (R819 million) total contributions in the prior year.

Amounts recognised in the Income Statement in respect of defined benefit scheme are as follows:

R million 2021 2020
Past service cost  9 
Plan administration expenses   18  17 

Net loss recognised in profit or loss (note 3)  27  17 

Net interest expenses  22  36 

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss 49 53 
Actual return on plan assets  492  240

    

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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26. Other non-current liabilities continued   

The scheme is valued by independent actuaries on a triennial basis with the valuation as at 1 April 2020 
being the most recent funding valuation. The scheme’s IAS 19 accounting valuation at 30 September 
2021 reflected a deficit of R173 million which represents a decrease compared to the deficit in 2020 
of R1.9 billion. The IAS 19 discount rate increased from 1.5% in 2020 to 2.0% in 2021. The increased 
discount rate, alongside positive asset performance, the company’s contributions of £33.6 million 
(R675 million) (FY2020: £37 million (R819 million)), and other changes in financial and demographic 
assumptions are the main reasons for the improvement in the balance sheet position over the year.

The trustee board carry out a strategic investment review following completion of each triennial 
valuation to ensure that the assets are managed in a manner appropriate to the nature and duration 
of the expected future retirement benefits payable under the scheme. 

The trustee board and the group are actively considering mechanisms to reduce risk in the scheme. 
The scheme has concluded two buy-ins in prior years with an IAS 19 value of £90 million as at  
30 September 2021. The trustees continue to seek risk mitigation opportunities to reduce scheme 
volatility and, when appropriate, hedge against factors which can increase the liabilities. The interest 
rate and inflation hedging, including the buy-in policies, has recently been increased to cover 95%  
of the scheme liabilities. The scheme invests in Liability Driven Investments (LDI) to provide its 
interest and inflation hedging. 

The scheme’s assets consist primarily of equities (local and offshore), corporate bonds, LDI and 
insurance policies. The markets performed well during the financial year, resulting in strong returns 
from the equity and bond markets, which resulted in returns over the year being £24.5 million  
(R492 million) (FY2020: £44.8 million (R837 million)) higher than projected under the 2020  
discount rate.

Following a High Court case concluded in October 2018 and subsequent further judgement 
in November 2020, it was confirmed that Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP) needed to be 
equalized. The IAS 19 balance sheet liabilities include a new allowance for 30 September 2021  
of £470k (R9.4 million) (FY2020: £0) relating to the potential costs of equalizing GMP for members 
who have previously transferred their benefits out of the scheme. This cost was recognized as  
a Past Service cost in the current year’s pension expense.    

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the group’s obligations in respect of the 
defined benefit scheme is set out below:
     

R million 2021 2020
Present value of funded obligation  12 277  13 885

Fair value of plan assets (12 104) (11 969)

Net liability per statement of financial position  173  1 916
Movement in present value of funded obligation:
At beginning of year  13 885  11 891 

Interest cost  190  261 

Actuarial (gains) arising from changes in demographic assumptions  (194)  (131)

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions  (251)  684 

Actuarial (gains) arising from experience  (83)  (78)

Benefits paid  (482)  (572)

Past service cost  9 
Exchange differences (797)  1 830 

At end of year  12 277  13 885 
Movement in fair value of plan assets:
At beginning of year  11 969  9 780 

Interest income  169  223 

Actuarial gains recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  492  247 

Plan administration expenses  (17)  (17)

Contributions  675  819 

Benefits paid  (482)  (572)

Exchange differences  (702)  1 489 

At end of year  12 104  11 969 
Current actuarial (gains)/losses  (988)  222

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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26. Other non-current liabilities continued   

The defined benefit funds was valued by an independent actuary as follows:    
 

Valuation interval Latest statutory valuation

Barloworld UK Pension Scheme Triennial 1 April 2020

Key assumptions used:     

2021 2020
Discount rate (%) 2.0 1.5

Retail price inflation (%) 3.4 2.9

Future pension increases (%) 3.3 2.8

Mortality (table using year of birth) S3PA S2PA

Operating 
expenses Net interest

Total income 
statement 

expense
Scheme 

assets

Defined 
benefit 

obligation Deficit

Sensitivity to key assumptions £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s
Current Values  1 340  1 082  2 422  596 650  (605 188)  (8 538)

Following a 0.2% p.a. decrease in the discount rate  1 340  1 082  2 422  598 608  (623 070)  (24 462)

Following a 0.2% p.a. increase in the inflation assumption  1 340  1 082  2 422  598 041  (617 525)  (19 484)

Following a one year increase in life expectancy  1 340  1 082  2 422  602 018  (633 746)  (31 728)

       
In assessing the group’s post-retirement liabilities, the group, following actuarial advice, has used standard mortality tables adjusted to reflect the 
mortality experience of the Defined Benefit Scheme. The mortality assumptions were updated in the current year.  
       
       

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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27. Lease liabilities    

R million 2021 2020
At 1 October  2 328
Adoption on 1 October 2019 upon transition to IFRS 16 Standard  2 302 

Liability arising on new leases entered into during the year  149  295 

Reclassifications  67 

Business/Subsidiary disposed  (778)
Acquisition of subsidiary  29 
Repayments of lease obligation (cash flow excluding interest component)  (399)  (342)

Liability adjustments upon entering into modifications of lease terms 
during the year  5  (10)

Translation differences (8)  16 

Gross lease liabilities  1 326  2 328 
Less: Payable within one year included in current liabilities  (133)  (351)

Total group long term portion of lease liabilities 1 193  1 977 
Classified as held for sale current (note 22)  (423)
Total per statement of financial position  770  1 977 

R million 2021 2020
Lease liabilities are made of the following classes:
Land and buildings  1 107  1 975 

Equipment, IT and Plant  14  38 

Vehicles  205  315 

Total  1 326  2 328 

The lease liabilities of R144 million (FY2020:R237 million) are secured by the related underlying 
assets with a carrying amount of R264 million (FY2020: R346 million).

The undiscounted maturity analysis of lease liabilities at 30 September is as follows:

R million 2021 2020
Within one year  416  748 

Between two to five years  1 049  2 564 

More than five years  477  3 722 

 1 942  7 034 

Lease payments not recognised as a liability.

The group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases of expected 
term of 12 months or less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are 
expensed on a straight-line basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to 
be recognised as lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

For more information on the group’s liquidity risk and interest rate risk management, refer to note 34.2.d.

R million 2021 2020
Lease payments in terms of IFRS 16 629 626

Short term and low value asset lease payments 199 402

Variable lease payments 42 49

Total lease payment for the year including short term leases 870 1 077

   
28. Trade and other payables 

R million 2021 2020
Trade and other payables*  9 439  8 657

Interest bearing floor plans  1 674  2 279

Fair value of derivatives  9  160

Total group  11 122  11 096
Classified as held for sale (note 22) (681)
Total per statement of financial position  10 441  11 096

*  In the Equipment division trade payables of R1 481 million (FY2020: R1 039 million) are due to CAT as part of the CAT 180 program. In terms of 
the agreement the amounts relate to machines, engines and parts ordered for inventory and payment is due six months from statement date.     

Refer note 18 for details of inventory pledged as security for payables.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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29. Contract liabilities

R million 2021 2020
Current portion  2 131  1 272

Non-current portion  445  436

Total per statement of financial position  2 576  1 708
Balance at 1 October  1 708  1 237 

New contracts (amounts)  5 150  2 798 

Reclassifications  67 

Amounts recognised in revenue  (3 822)  (2 039)

Amounts used  (312)  (189)

Unwinding of discount on present value amounts  (140)  (184)

Translation adjustments  (8)  18 

Total per statement of financial position  2 576  1 708

Refer to note 2 for the transaction price allocated for partially satisfied/unsatisfied performance 
obligations. 

30. Amounts due to bankers and short-term loans 

R million 2021 2020
Bank overdrafts and acceptances  689  398

Short-term loans  1 585  1 252

Commercial paper  250  251

Current portion of long-term borrowings (note 24)  3 065  1 597

Total group  5 589  3 498
Classified as held for sale current (note 22) (94)
Total per statement of financial position  5 495  3 498
Per currency:
South African rand  4 551  2 377

Foreign currencies  944  1 121

 5 495  3 498

 Refer to note 34 for salient loan terms and interest rate sensitivity analysis.

31. Dividends 

R million 2021 2020
Ordinary shares
No dividend payment during January 2021  
(FY2020: No 182 – 297 cents per share) 631 

Special dividend No 183 paid on 28 June 2021: 200 cents per share  
(FY2020: No 182 – 228 cents per share) 389 483 

Interim dividend No 183 paid on 28 June 2021:137 cents per share  
(FY2020: Nil) 267 
Paid to Barloworld Limited shareholders 656 1 114 
Paid to non-controlling shareholders 6 13 

662 1 127 

 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

Cents 2021 2020
Analysis of dividends declared in respect of current year's earnings:
Ordinary dividends per share 
Interim dividend  137 
Final dividend 300

437
Special dividends per share
Interim dividend  200 
Final dividend 1 150

1 350

6% cumulative non redeemable preference shares
Preference dividends totalling R22 500 were declared on each of the following dates:
7 June 2021 (paid on 5 July 2021) 
12 October 2021 (paid on 2 November 2021) 
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32. Commitments       

R million 2021 2020
Capital expenditure commitments to be incurred:
Contracted – Property, plant and equipment  87 94 

Contracted – Intangible assets  9 56 

Contracted – Vehicle rental fleet^ 3 094  702

Approved but not yet contracted*  618 65 

Total group 3 808  917

Capital expenditure will be financed by funds generated by the business, existing cash resources 
and borrowing facilities available to the group.

^ The increase in the capital commitments for vehicle rental fleet compared to the prior year is due to the return of capacity post Covid-19.  
 The prior year was also lower due to the strategy to not replace luxury vehicles and the mixture of smaller vehicles as part of our Covid-19  
 response strategy. The group has long standing contracts with the OEM’s and commitment is based on orders made with OEM’s.
*  The group has approved R434 million for the revised Barlow Park development plan which will be carried out in different phases over an 

estimated 5 year period.         
   

33. Contingent liabilities    

R million 2021 2020
Performance guarantees given to customers and other guarantees  
and claims  193  110

Buy-back and repurchase commitments not reflected on the statement  
of financial position  18  85

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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34. Financial instruments

The group’s financial instruments consist 
mainly of deposits with banks, short-term 
investments, accounts receivable and payable, 
bank borrowings, money and capital market 
borrowings, leases, hire-purchase agreements 
discounted with recourse and derivatives. 
Derivative instruments are used by the group 
for hedging purposes. Such instruments 
include forward exchange, currency option 
contracts and interest rate swap agreements. 
The group does not speculate in the trading  
of derivative instruments.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

2021

R million Notes

Fair value 
through  

profit and loss

Fair value 
through other 

comprehen-
sive income

 (OCI)*
Amortised 

cost

Total 
financial 

liabilities
Non-financial 

liabilities
Liabilities 

Held for Sale
Total  

amount
LIABILITIES
Non-Current
Interest-bearing  
non-current liabilities 24  7 493  7 493  63  (155)  7 401 
Current
Lease liabilities non-current 27 1 193 1 193  (423)  770 
Other non-current liabilities 26  23   23  174  197 
Lease liabilities current 27  133  133  133 
Trade and other payables 28  9  9 432  9 441  1 681  (681)  10 441 
Amounts due to bankers 
and short term loans 30  5 589  5 589  (94)  5 495 
Total liabilities 32 23 840  23 872  1 918  (1 353)  24 437 

*   This relates to forward exchange contracts that are part of a cash flow hedging relationship (of which the effective portion has been recognised through OCI and the ineffective portion has been 
recognised through profit and loss).

34.1.1 Categories of financial instruments
          

2021

R million Notes

Fair value 
through  

profit  
and loss

Fair value 
through other 

comprehen-
sive income 

(OCI) *
Amortised 

cost
Finance lease 

receivables

Total 
financial 

assets
Non-financial 

assets
Assets Held 

for Sale
Total 

amount
ASSETS
Non-Current
Finance lease receivables 15  162  162 9  (37)  134 
Long-term financial assets 16  21  164  185  17  (4)  198 
Current
Trade and other receivables 19  7  82  6 028  91  6 208  1 545  (804)  6 949 
Cash and cash equivalents 21  10 839  10 839  (118)  10 721 
Total assets  28  82  17 031 253 17 394 1571  (963)  18 002 
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.1.1 Categories of financial instruments continued

2020

R million Notes

Fair value 
through 

profit  
and loss

Fair value 
through other

 comprehen-
sive income

 (OCI)
Amortised 

cost
Finance lease 

receivables

Total 
financial  

assets
Non-financial 

assets

Assets  
Held  

for Sale
Total 

amount
ASSETS
Non-Current
Finance lease receivables 15  187  187  187 

Long-term financial assets 16  80  198  278  9  287 

Current
Trade and other receivables 19  15  6 096  127  6 238  1 678  7 916 

Cash and cash equivalents 21  6 743  6 743  6 743 

Total assets  94  13 037  314  13 446  1 687  15 133 

2020

R million Notes

Fair value 
through 

profit  
and loss

Fair value 
through other

 comprehen-
sive income

 (OCI)
Amortised 

cost

Total  
financial 

liabilities
Non-financial 

liabilities

Liabilities 
Held  

for Sale
Total 

amount
LIABILITIES
Non-Current
Interest-bearing non-
current liabilities 24  5 897  5 897  5 897 

Lease liabilities non-current 27  1 977  1 977  1 977 

Other non-current liabilities 26  84  442  525  1 481  2 006 

Current
Lease liabilities current 27  351  351  351 

Trade and other payables 28  9  151  9 917  10 077  1 020  11 097 

Amounts due to bankers 
and short term loans 30  3 498  3 498  3 498 

Total liabilities  93  151  22 081  22 324  2 501  24 825 

* This relates to forward exchange contracts that are part of a cash flow hedging relationship.        
 

All financial instruments are carried at fair 
value or amounts that approximate fair value, 
except for the following:

• The non-current portion of fixed rate 
receivables, payables and interest-bearing 
borrowings, which are carried at amortised 
cost. 

• The Angolan Bonds included within Trade 
and Other Receivables where the fair value 
as at 30 September 2021 exceeds the 
carrying value by R9 million (30 September 
2020: R22 million). Note that the Angolan 
Bonds are measured at amortised cost 
however had they been measured at 
fair value they would represent a level 2 
financial instruments valued in line with 
comparable hedging instruments.

• Non-current interest bearing liabilities 
where the fair value as at 30 September 
2021 has been calculated as R7 534 million 
(FY2020: R5 992 million). These liabilities are 
measured in terms of level 2 based on swap 
curves.

 
The carrying amounts for investments, cash, 
cash equivalents as well as the current portion 
of receivables, payables and interest-bearing 
borrowings approximate fair value due to 
the short-term nature of these instruments. 
The fair values have been determined using 
available market information and discounted 
cash flows.
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.1.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position  

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent 
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair 
value is observable. 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets. The markets from which these quoted prices are obtained are the 
bonds market, the stock exchange as well other similar markets.

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) 
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The valuation techniques used in deriving level 2 fair 
values are consistent with valuing comparable hedging instruments (foreign exchange contracts 
and interest rate swaps). The primary input into these valuations are foreign exchange rates and 
prevailing interest rates which are derived from external sources of information.

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  
The valuation techniques used in deriving level 3 fair values are discounted cash flows as well as 
the net asset value approach of the investment that is being valued. This information is based on 
unobservable market data, and adjusted for based on management’s experience and knowledge 
of the investment.       
 

2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Long term financial assets  2  19  21
Trade and other receivables  7  7
Financial assets irrevocably designated 
at FVOCI*

Trade and other receivables  82  82
Total  2  89  19  110
Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Other non-current liabilities  23  23 
Trade and other payables  9  41 50 
Total  32  41 73 

2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
Long term financial assets  2  78  80

Trade and other receivables  15  15

Total  2  15  78  95

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
Other non-current liabilities**  84  84 

Trade and other payables  9  9

Financial liabilities at FVOCI* 
Trade and other payables  151  151 

Total 160  84 244

    
*  This relates to forward exchange contracts that are part of a cash flow hedging relationship (of which the effective portion had been 

recognised through OCI and the ineffective portion had been recognised through profit or loss).
**  At September 2020 the Mongolia earn out was disclosed as a level 2 financial liability instead of a level 3 financial liability. The 2020   
 disclosure was updated for this.

Refer to note 22 regarding assets and liabilities held for sale as level 3 fair value measurements.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.1.2 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position 

Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value through profit and loss: 

Unlisted 
shares 
Note 1

Investment in 
cell captives 

Note 2

Earn out 
liability 
Note 3 Total

Balance as at 1 Oct 2019 5 57 62

Total gains recognised in profit and loss  11  5  16

Acquired (84) (84)

Balance 30 September 2020  16  62 (84) (6)
Balance as at 1 Oct 2020  16  62 (84) (6)
Disposals (32) (32)
Total gains recognised in profit and loss (27)  43 16
Balance 30 September 2021 16 3 (41) (22)

Note 1
Unlisted shares are measured at fair value considering the latest arm’s length share trade 
information available for this investment. Sensitivity to inputs is considered immaterial for further 
disclosure. 

Note 2
The valuation techniques used in deriving fair value of investments in cell captures are based on Net 
asset value approach of the underlying cell captives. Sensitivity to inputs is considered immaterial 
for further disclosure. 

Note 3
This relates to the earn-out liability as a result of the Mongolia acquisition. This is a liability for an 
amount to potentially be paid to the sellers in the future (4 years from acquisition) should revenues 
and profits of Mongolia exceed certain thresholds as per the sales agreement. The unobservable 
inputs in this valuation thus relates to estimation of future profits to measure against thresholds as 
per the sales agreement. Sensitivity to these inputs are considered immaterial for further disclosure.

34.2 Financial risk management

a. Capital risk management      
The group manages its capital to ensure that all entities in the group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of debt and 
equity. The overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous year.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt (notes 24 and 30), cash and cash equivalents 
(note 21) and equity attributable to equity holders of Barloworld Limited, comprising issued capital 
(note 23), reserves and retained earnings (statement of changes in equity). 

A finance committee consisting of senior executives of the group meets on a regular basis to 
review the capital structure based on the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of 
capital, to analyse currency and interest rate exposure and to re-evaluate treasury management 
strategies in the context of most recent economic conditions and forecasts. The group has targeted 
gearing ratios for each major business segment. The group’s various treasury operations provide the 
group with access to local money markets and provide group subsidiaries with the benefit of bulk 
financing and depositing.

b. Market risk      

i) Currency risk 

Trade commitments
Currency risk arises because the group enters into financial transactions denominated in the 
functional currency of the transacting entities. The group’s currency exposure management policy 
for the southern African operations is to hedge substantially all material foreign currency trade 
commitments in which customers have or will not be accepting the currency risk. In respect of 
offshore operations, where there is a traditionally stable relationship between the functional and 
transacting currencies, the need to take foreign exchange cover is at the discretion of the divisional 
board. Each division manages its own trade exposure within the overall framework of the group 
policy. In this regard the group has entered into certain forward exchange contracts which do not 
relate to specific items appearing in the statement of financial position, but were entered into to 
cover foreign commitments not yet due or proceeds not yet received. The risk of having to close out 
these contracts is considered to be low. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

Net currency exposure and sensitivity analysis
The following table represents the extent to which the group has monetary assets and liabilities 
in currencies other than the group companies’ functional currency. The information is shown 
inclusive of the impact of forward contracts and options in place to hedge the foreign currency 
exposures. There has been no change to the group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in 
which these risks are managed and measured. Based on the net exposure below it is estimated that 
a simultaneous 10% change in all foreign currency exchange rates against divisional functional 
currency will impact the fair value of the net monetary assets/liabilities of the group to the extent 
of R102 million (FY2020: R58 million), of which R10 million (FY2020: R13 million) will impact other 
comprehensive income and R92 million (FY2020: R45 million) will impact profit or loss.

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(liabilities)

Currency of assets/(liabilities)

SA rand
Millions

Euro
Millions

British sterling
Millions

US dollar
Millions

Total  
Millions

Functional currency of 
group operation:

SA rand  n/a  3  (76)  (876)  (949)
British sterling  34  70  n/a  6  110 
US dollar  (77)  90  13  n/a  26 
Other currencies  (80)  0  (133)  (213)
As at 30 September 2021  (123) 163  (63) (1 003) (1 026)
SA rand  n/a  8  21  (624)  (595)

British sterling  4  n/a  1  5 

US dollar  12  123  1 052  n/a  1 186 

Other currencies  (129)  (1 049)  (1 178)

As at 30 September 2020  (112)  131  1 072  (1 673)  (582)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

Fair value

R million 2021 2020
Hedge accounting applied in respect of foreign currency risk
Cash flow hedges
– fair value of (asset)/liability – foreign currency forward exchange contracts  82  151

The foreign currency contracts have been acquired to hedge the underlying currency risk arising 
from a firm commitment to acquire equipment machines as well as the forecast purchases of spare 
parts. All cash flows are expected to occur and affect profit or loss within the next twelve months.
The foreign currency contracts are included in Trade and Other Receivables.
 
ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises when the absolute level of interest rates on the group’s interest-bearing 
borrowings are subject to fluctuations. The group manages the exposure to interest rate risk by 
maintaining a balance between fixed and floating rate borrowings. The interest rate characteristics 
of new borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are structured according to expected 
movements in interest rates. There has been no change in the current year to this approach. 
   

The interest rate profile of total borrowings is as follows:

Currency

Year of 
redemption/
repayment

Interest 
rate (%)

2021 
Rm

2020 
Rm

Liabilities in foreign 
currencies

Bank Overdrafts and short 
term loans USD

2021: Local bank 
rates 3.6% -3.8% 
(FY2020: Libor* + 3%  
& 3.6%-3.8%)*  596 589

AOA
2 & 3 months BNA 
rate + 2.5%  213 427

ZMK (11.5%) +8.3% 10

MZM
Prime (MT) – 3% & 
5% p.a,  107 86

BWP Prime – 2.5%  28 8

Total short-term foreign 
currency liabilities (note 30) 944  1 121

USD 2021 3%  365 202 
Total long-term foreign 
currency liabilities (note 24) 365  202

Liabilities in South African 
rand
Bank borrowings and bank 
overdrafts 4 645 2 377 

Total South African rand 
liabilities (note 30) 4 645  2 377

Secured loans
2021 to 2025 
onwards 7 2 398 12 

Unsecured loans
2021 to 2025 
onwards 8.3 – 9.56 4 652 7 048 

Liabilities under capitalised 
finance leases

2021 to 2025 
onwards 5.6 – 10 141 231 

Total South African rand 
liabilities (note 24) 7 191  7 292

Total South African rand 
 and foreign currency 
liabilities (note 24 & 30) 13 145  10 991 

*  Libor – London inter-bank offered rate. Facilities linked to Libor are managed on a case by case basis. The undrawn Libor linked facility was   
 cancelled subsequent to year end. None of the local bank rates are linked to any IBOR rates and as such none of the facilities utilised above   
 are exposed to IBOR reform.
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

R million 2021 2020
Interest rates
Loans at fixed rates of interest 2 260 1 091 

Loans linked to floating rates of interest 6 082 6 207 

Loans linked to offshore money markets 2 279 196 

Long term interest rate exposure (note 24) 10 621  7 494 
Loans at fixed rates of interest 2 848  472 

Loans linked to floating rates of interest 1 797  1 905 

Loans linked to offshore money markets 944  1 121 

Short term interest rate exposure (note 30) 5 589  3 498 
Interest rate exposure (note 24 & 30) 16 210  10 991 

R million 2021 2020
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
Impact of a 1% increase in South African interest rates

– charge to profit or loss  118  97

Impact of a 1% increase in offshore interest rates

– charge to profit or loss  13  13

Barloworld’s treasury follows a centralised cash management process, including cash management 
systems across bank accounts in South Africa to minimise risk and related interest costs. Barloworld’s 
international cash management is managed by the treasury departments in the respective 
businesses.

iii) Commodity price risk
Due to the acquisition of Ingrain the group is now exposed to variability in the maize price via its 
procurement of maize and the sale of starch within Ingrain, which is also linked to the maize price. 
The group’s risk management strategy is to align the pricing of the procurement and sales contracts 
as much as possible to mitigate its exposure to maize price volatility. The execution of this strategy 
is achieved by selling the requisite number of SAFEX maize futures once procurement contracts 
with farmers/traders have been priced. The SAFEX futures are closed out once the underlying sales 
contracts with customers are priced, effectively matching the SAFEX-linked purchase and sales 
price elements. Similarly, if the customer has priced its contracts before the procurement contracts 
with the farmers/traders have been priced then the requisite number of SAFEX maize futures are 
purchased. The SAFEX futures are closed out once the underlying procurement contracts with the 
farmers/traders are priced.

iv) Other price risk 

The group is exposed to price risk arising out of the following:

Barloworld share price
The group has a liability to option holders in terms of the long term share based payments  
(note 35.2, 35.3 and 35.4)
       
Barloworld share price sensitivity analysis
      

2021 2020
Impact of a 10% increase in the Barloworld share price as at  
30 September

– charge to profit or loss in respect of the liability  2  1

       
There has been no change during the current year in the group approach to managing other price risk.
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

c. Credit risk       

Credit risk exposure
Each of the group’s operating segments has credit terms appropriate for their industry. The average 
credit period on these sales ranges from 30 to 90 days. When dealing with sales to external retail, 
construction or mining customers, full settlement or confirmation of financing from a respected 
financial institution is required before delivery. These measures minimise the credit risk. Credit 
risk exposures to customers for parts, services, maintenance and repair contracts, vehicle rental, 
fleet Leasing and starch are managed by monthly review of trade receivables ageing. The risk is 
mitigated by stringent background checks and credit limits for all customers, continuous review of 
credit limits, as well as legal action against defaulting customers. The average credit period on these 
sales is 30 days, however, extended credit terms may be negotiated during the account application 
process. It is group policy to deposit cash with major banks and financial institutions with strong 
credit ratings. 

The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking into consideration any collateral provided as presented in note 34.1

No credit guarantee insurance is held against the carrying value of trade and other receivables 
within the group, therefore expected credit losses are considered across all operating debtors.
  
Since the outbreak of Covid-19, businesses have been negatively impacted by the cash flow 
generating ability of many companies which increased credit risk in parts and service sales which 
are considered riskier and appropriate and adequate expected credit losses were raised. Due to 
the short-term nature of the credit terms given, the expected credit loss allowance can be assessed 
upfront and on an ongoing basis with little change arising from changes in general economic 
circumstances.

The following forward looking information was utilised to estimate the expected credit loss:

• The geography and industry in which the customers operate, sales to entities based in other 
African countries outside of South Africa as well as sales related to part and services are 
considered riskier.

• Period overdue and time taken to settle underlying receivables, the older accounts are 
considered a higher risk.

• Past default experiences of the operating segments, examples include the Financial Services 
operations, which have a very low default experience.     
  

The expected credit loss allowance has decreased from 15.6% to 13.7% taking into consideration 
the factors disclosed above. There has been no material change in the estimation techniques 
applied in determining the ECLs from the prior year with the exception of the newly acquired 
Ingrain business. The credit policy of Ingrain is similar to that of Barloworld with payment terms 
within 30 days from statement in South Africa and export customers on average 45 days from FOB. 
The gross receivables, disclosed below, are inclusive of VAT applicable to various jurisdictions and 
the allowance for credit losses excludes VAT. 
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued
 
The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the group’s provision matrix. 
As the group’s historical credit loss experience shows significantly different loss patterns for the 
different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance is further distinguished between the 
group’s different operations.      

2021 2020 

Gross  
carrying amount

R million
Lifetime ECL

R million

Average ECL/
Impairment ratio 

 (%)

Gross  
carrying amount

R million
Lifetime ECL

R million

Average ECL/
Impairment ratio 

 (%)

Equipment 4 137  (340) 8.2%  4 270  (678) 15.9%

Fully performing  2 989  (20) 1%  2 384  (13) 1%

Up to 90 days past due  831  (110) 13%  910  (52) 6%

91 days to 180 days past due  51  (26) 51%  180  (168) 94%

181 days to 270 days past due  51  (9) 17%  318  (99) 31%

greater than 271 days past due 215  (176) 82%  479  (346) 72%

Ingrain  602  (1) 0.2%
Fully performing  585 0%
Up to 90 days past due  17  (1) 8%
Car Rental and Leasing  1 311  (542) 41.4%  1 317  (575) 43.7%

Fully performing  608  (21) 1%  578  (10) 1%

Up to 90 days past due  118  (11) 14%  150  (14) 14%

91 days to 180 days past due  77  (39) 90%  40  (36) 90%

181 days to 270 days past due  41  (35) 75%  49  (37) 75%

greater than 271 days past due  467  (436) 96%  500  (479) 96%

Logistics  777  (61) 7.8%  866  (49) 5.6%

Fully performing  611  (6) 0%  651  (1) 0%

Up to 90 days past due  108  (15) 7%  109  (8) 7%

91 days to 180 days past due  17  (2) 10%  51  (5) 10%

181 days to 270 days past due  1  38%  28  (11) 38%

greater than 271 days past due  40  (38) 90%  27  (24) 90%

Other segments  65  (3) 4.0%  143  (1) 0.4%

Total group 6 892  (947) 13.7%  6 596  (1 027) 15.6%

The above breakdown has been adjusted in line with the new operating segments refer note 1.
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

d. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the group cannot meet its contractual cash outflows as they fall due and 
payable. The group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows, maintaining a balance 
between long term and short term debt and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities 
are maintained. Unutilised bank facilities amounted to R9.5 billion (FY2020: R15.7 billion). There has 
been no change to this approach during the current year.

Maturity profile of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the financial instruments is summarised as follows (based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows):

Repayable during the year ending 30 September 2021

R million
Total

owing
Within one 

year 
two to five 

years
greater than 

five years

Interest-bearing liabilities  16 893  7 806  7 479  1 608

Trade payables and other non-interest 
bearing liabilities  9 432  9 432

Lease liabilities  1 942  416  1 049  477

FEC's  32  32

Maturity profile of financial guarantees  
contracts as at 30 September 2021

R million
Total

owing
Within one 

year 
two to five 

years

Risk share debtors  378  93  285
Financial guarantees on behalf of joint ventures and 
associates  1 234  1 234

Repayable during the year ending 30 September 2020

R million
Total  

owing
Within one 

year 
two to five 

years
greater than 

five years

Interest-bearing liabilities  7 278  1 771  5 507

Trade payables and other non-interest 
bearing liabilities  9 917  9 917

Lease liabilities  7 034  748  2 564  3 722 

FEC's  243  243

Maturity profile of financial guarantees  
contracts as at 30 September 2020

R million
Total  

owing
Within one 

year 
two to five 

years

Risk share debtors  275  12  263

Financial guarantees on behalf of joint ventures and 
associates  679  679

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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34. Financial instruments continued

34.2 Financial risk management continued

d. Liquidity risk continued

During 2018 the Barloworld Equipment division entered into a Risk Share Agreement with 
Caterpillar Financial Corporation Financeira, S.A., E.F.C. – Sucursal em Portugal and Barloworld 
Equipment UK Limited. The Risk Share Agreement only relates to certain agreed upon customer 
risk profiles and relates to exposure at default less any recoveries. As at 30 September 2021 the 
maximum exposure of this guarantee was estimated to be R189 million (FY2020: R106million) 
representing 25% of the capital balance outstanding.

During 2018 the Barloworld Equipment division entered into Risk Share Agreement with Caterpillar 
Financial Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd. The Risk Share Agreement only relates to certain agreed 
upon customer risk profiles and relates to exposure at default less any recoveries. As at  
30 September 2021 the gross maximum exposure of this guarantee was estimated to be  
R139 million (FY2020: R148 million) representing 25% of the capital balance outstanding.

During 2018 the Vostochnaya Technica Equipment division entered into a Risk Share Agreement 
with Caterpillar Financial LLC. The Risk Share Agreement only relates to certain agreed upon 
customer risk profiles and relates to exposure at default less any recoveries. As at 30 September 
2021 the maximum exposure of this guarantee was estimated to be R49 million (FY2020: R54 million) 
representing 40% – 60% of the capital balance outstanding.

Barloworld also provides certain guarantees on behalf of NMI, Maponya, Bartrac and BHBW of which 
non-performance by these associates & joint ventures will result in contractual cashflows to be 
made by Barloworld which has been included in above-mentioned maturity analysis.

As these risk share agreements relate to a contractual payment in the event of default they are 
accounted for as financial instruments (Financial Guarantee contracts)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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35.2 Forfeitable share plan        
 
On 28 January 2010 the group introduced the Barloworld Forfeitable share plan (FSP).

The scheme allows executive directors and certain senior employees to earn a long-term incentive 
to assist with the retention and reward of selected employees.

Shares are granted to employees for no consideration. These shares participate in dividends and 
shareholder rights from grant date.

The vesting of the shares is subject to continued employment for a period of three years or the 
employee will forfeit the shares.

Prior to the 2016 awards, shares issued to the executive directors were subject to performance 
conditions. From 30 March 2016 shares issued to the executive directors and certain senior employees 
are subject to performance conditions which will be measured over the three-year vesting period.

The performance conditions over the vesting period include a market condition based on total 
shareholder return and non-market conditions based on return on net operating assets and 
headline earnings per share. 

On resignation, the employee will forfeit any unvested shares. On death or retirement only a portion 
of the shares will vest, calculated based on the number of days worked over the total vesting period, 
subject to any performance condition being met.

The scheme is settled in shares and therefore the scheme is equity-settled. In jurisdictions where 
the delivery of shares is impractical, cash will be paid to employees in lieu of shares. These shares are 
cash-settled share-based payments.

Fair value estimates

Equity-settled

In terms of IFRS 2, the transaction is measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. 
The fair value takes into account that the employees are entitled to the dividends from grant date. 
The fair value of the equity-settled shares subject to non-market conditions is the closing share price 
at grant date. The estimated fair value of the equity-settled shares subject to market conditions were 
calculated at grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation model with the following inputs:

Date of grant:
4 December 

2020
9 March  

2020
27 February 

2019
Non-market conditions

Number of shares granted  1 702 249  1 268 300  726 149 

Share price at grant date (R)  87.46  78.00 131.12

Estimated fair value per share at grant date (R)  87.46  78.00 131.12
Market conditions

Number of shares granted 135 261

Share price at grant date (R) 131.12

Expected volatility (%)  29.0 – 34.0 

Expected dividend yield (%)  3.5 

Risk free rate (%)  7.4 

Estimated fair value per share at grant date (R) 96.32

The 4 December 2020 and 9 March 2020 grants does not have any performance conditions.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments

35.1 Financial effect of share-based payment transactions     
 

R million 2021 2020

Income statement effect
Compensation expense arising from equity and cash-settled forfeitable 
share plan   96  38

Compensation expense arising from equity and cash-settled share 
appreciation rights incentive plan  7  6

Share-based payment expense included in operating profit  103  44

Taxation benefit on forfeitable share plan and share appreciation rights (29)  (12)

Net share-based payment expense after taxation  74  32
Financial position effect
Liability raised for cash-settled shares (to be incurred within one to five 
years)  (49)  (15)

Deferred taxation asset raised on share-based payment transactions 14 10

Net reduction in shareholders' interest as a result of share-based payment 
transactions  (35)  (5)
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments continued

35.2 Forfeitable share plan continued
 
Cash-settled
In terms of IFRS 2, liabilities relating to cash-settled share-based payments are adjusted to fair value 
at financial position date. The estimated fair value of the cash-settled shares was calculated by using 
the closing share price at the reporting date, risk free rate at reporting date and discounting future 
expected dividends.

Date of grant:
4 December 

2020
9 March 

2020
27 February 

2019
30 January 

2018
Number of cash-settled shares granted  298 031  179 500  65 250  608 280 

Share price at grant date (R) 87.46 78.00 131.12 171.30

Risk free rate (%) 4.9  7.8  7.0  6.6 

Estimated fair value per cash-settled  
share at grant date (R)  89.81  74.51 127.83 168.65

Estimated fair value per cash-settled  
share at year end (R) 78.00 58.51 66.44 61.05-72.49

35.3 Share appreciation rights scheme

During 2007 the group introduced the Barloworld Cash Settled Share Appreciation Right Scheme.

The scheme allows executive directors and certain senior employees to earn a long-term incentive 
amount calculated based on the increase in the Barloworld Limited share price between the grant 
date and the vesting and exercise of such rights. During 2011, the scheme rules were amended to 
change all future awards to be equity-settled in shares.

The objective of the scheme is to recognise the contributions of senior staff to the group’s financial 
position and performance and to retain key employees. 

The vesting of the rights are subject to specific performance conditions, based on group headline 
earnings per share. Rights are granted for a period of six years and vest one-third after three years 
from grant date, a further one-third after four years and the final third after five years.

The grant price of these appreciation rights equals the volume weighted average market price of 
the underlying shares on the three trading days immediately preceding grant date.

On resignation, share appreciation rights which have not yet vested and those vested but not 
exercised, are forfeited. On death or retirement the Barloworld remuneration committee may 
permit a portion of unvested rights to be exercised within one year (or such extended period as the 
committee may decide) of the date of cessation of employment. 

It is group policy that employees should not deal in Barloworld Limited shares (and this is extended 
to the forfeitable share plan, share appreciation rights and share options schemes) for the periods 
from 1 April for half year end and 1 October for year end until 24 hours after publication of the 
results and at any other time during which they have access to price sensitive information.

Fair value estimates

Equity-settled 
In terms of IFRS 2, the transaction is measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The estimated fair value of the share appreciation rights was calculated using a binomial pricing 
model, with inputs as set out below. 

Equity-settled 

Date of grant:
27 February 

2019
29 March 

2017
30 March 

2016
30 March 

2015
Number of share appreciation rights 
granted  541 920  150 300  330 240  3 026 700 

Grant price (R) 130.02 121.53 72.77 90.77

Share price at grant date (R) 131.12 120.00 77.80 90.50

Expected volatility (%)  24.6  30.0  28.7  28.7 

Expected dividend yield (%)  3.5  2.9  4.4  3.5 

Risk free rate (%)  8.2  7.9  8.6  7.4 

Exercise multiple (share price at exercise 
date/option exercise price)  1.8  1.8  1.9  1.9 

Estimated fair value per share 
appreciation right at grant date (R) 45.16 38.89 24.06 26.59

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments continued

35.3 Share appreciation rights scheme continued

The volatility was based on historical volatility of the shares over a 5 year period. It was assumed 
that, given the long time frame, historical volatility could be used to estimate expected or implied 
volatility.

The above breakdown has been adjusted in line with the new segmental group refer note 1.

Cash-settled share appreciation rights
All cash settled share appreciation rights lapsed during the current year.

35.4 Conditional share plan

During the prior year the group introduced the Barloworld Conditional Share Plan Scheme with the 
discontinuation of the Share Appreciation Rights Scheme.

The scheme will only apply to Group Executives including executive directors and prescribed 
officers and is designed to align the long-term incentive scheme with the company’s strategy.

The objective of the scheme is to recognise the contributions of senior staff to the group’s financial 
position and performance and to retain key employees. 

The vesting of the shares are subject to specific performance conditions, based on return on invested 
capital, free cash flow conversion and headline earnings per share. The vesting of shares is subject to 
continued employment for a period of three years and a two year holding period. 

On resignation the employee will forfeit any unvested shares, on death or retirement only a portion 
of the shares will vest based on the number of days worked over the total vesting period subject to 
the performance condition being met. 

The scheme is settled in shares and therefore equity-settled. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments continued

Fair value estimates 

Equity-settled
In terms of IFRS 2, the transaction is measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the grant 
date. The fair value of the equity-settled shares subject to non-market conditions is the closing share 
price at grant date. 
 

It is group policy that employees should not deal in Barloworld Limited shares (and this is extended 
to the forfeitable share plan, share appreciation rights and share options schemes and conditional 
share plan) for the periods from 1 April for half year end and 1 October for year end until 24 hours 
after publication of the results and at any other time during which they have access to price-
sensitive information.

Date of grant:
4 December  

2020
9 March  

2020
Non-market conditions

Number of shares granted  639 990  394 600 

Share price at grant date (R)  89.81  78.00 

Estimated fair value per share at grant date (R)  89.81  78.00 
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments continued

35.5 Total forfeitable shares and appreciation rights unexercised

The following forfeitable shares and share appreciation rights granted are unexercised:

Number of options/rights

Date of grant:

Date  
from which 
exercisable

Expiry  
date

Contractual  
life remaining  

(years)

Original  
exercise price  

(R)
Barloworld 

directors
Barloworld 
employees#

Total
unexercised**

30 Mar 2016 29 Mar 2019 29 Mar 2022 0.5 72.77

29 Mar 2017 29 Mar 2020 29 Mar 2023 1.5 121.53  85 920  29 950  115 870

27 Feb 2019 27 Feb 2022 27 Feb 2025 3.4 130.02  189 340  333 345  522 685

Total equity-settled share appreciation rights 
granted and unexercised  275 260  363 295  638 555
30 Jan 2018 30 Jan 2021 30 Jan 2024 2.3

Total cash-settled share appreciation rights 
granted and unexercised
27 Feb 2019 27 Feb 2022 27 Feb 2022 0.4  31 510  493 100  524 610

9 Mar 2020 8 Mar 2023 8 Mar 2023 1.4  54 820  720 447  775 267

4 Dec 2020 3 Dec 2023 3 Dec 2023 2.2  90 540 1 319 155 1 409 695

Total equity-settled forfeitable shares  
granted and unexercised  176 870 2 532 702 2 709 572
27 Feb 2019 27 Feb 2022 27 Feb 2022 0.4  43 222  43 222

9 Mar 2020 8 Mar 2023 8 Mar 2023 1.4  150 220  150 220

4 Dec 2020 3 Dec 2023 3 Dec 2023 2.2  298 031  298 031

Total cash-settled forfeitable shares  
granted and unexercised  491 473  491 473
9 Mar 2020 8 Mar 2023 8 Mar 2023 1.4  142 110  198 765  340 875

4 Dec 2020 3 Dec 2023 3 Dec 2023 2.2  234 730  313 900  548 630

Total equity-settled conditional shares  
granted and unexercised  376 840  512 665  889 505
Total unexercised  828 970 3 900 135 4 729 105

**   Scheme rules dictate that the number of unexercised options may not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of the company at any time.
#   The unexercised share options granted to retired directors and employees are included in this column.

For the cash settle share appreciation rights granted the provisions are raised and settled at maturity on the share price at that point in time hence no original exercise price.  
The Equity settled share appreciation rights and conditional shares granted are settled on maturity hence no original exercise price is disclosed. The weighted average share price  
at the date of exercising share appreciation rights in current year was nil (FY2020: nil), as no rights were exercised in the current period. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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35.  Share incentive schemes and share-based payments continued

35.5 Total forfeitable shares and appreciation rights unexercised continued

Share options and appreciation rights 
movement for the year

Number of 
forfeitable 

shares

Number of 
appreciation 

rights

Number of 
conditional 

share plan

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
 (R)*

2021
Unexercised at the beginning of the year 2 325 546 1 220 100  378 681  112.30 
Forfeitable shares granted 2 000 280 
Forfeitable shares forfeited (848 816)
Forfeitable shares vested (275 965)
Conditional shares granted  639 990 
Conditional shares forfeited (129 166)
Conditional shares vested
Appreciation rights equity forfeited (19 235)
Appreciation rights cash forfeited (292 270)
Appreciation rights equity exercised (270 040)
Forfeitable shares, conditional shares 
and appreciation rights unexercised  
at year-end 3 201 045  638 555  889 505  112.30 
Appreciation rights equity exercisable  
at year-end
Held by:
Directors, employees and ex-employees 
of Barloworld 3 201 045  638 555  889 505  112.30 

  

         

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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2-5 years <1 year
2021 

R million
2020

R million

Estimated amount to be paid over to 
tax authorities on behalf of employees 121 121 56 

         
The estimated withholding tax obligation associated with equity-settled scheme to be paid over to 
the tax authorities on behalf of the employees in future years is based on a number of grants that are 
expected to vest at maturity and the share price as at 30 September 2021 at the applicable tax rate.

Barloworld considers IFRS 2.33 E-F Share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for 
withholding tax obligations when considering cash vs. equity classification.    
      

Share options and appreciation rights 
movement for the year

Number of 
forfeitable 

shares

Number of 
appreciation 

rights

Number of 
conditional 

share plan

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
 (R)*

2020 
Unexercised at the beginning of the year 2 049 694 1 220 100  112.30 
Forfeitable shares granted 1 444 200
Forfeitable shares forfeited (472 093)
Forfeitable shares vested (696 255)
Conditional shares granted  394 600 

Conditional shares forfeited (15 919)
Forfeitable shares, options and 
appreciation rights unexercised at 
year-end 2 325 546 1 220 100  378 681  112.30 
Appreciation rights exercisable at  
year-end  231 974  97.15 
Held by:
Directors, employees and ex-employees 
of Barloworld 2 325 546 1 220 100  378 681  112.30 

* Weighted average exercise price for appreciation rights
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

36. Re-presentations of prior year results

1. Motor Retail disposal
Barloworld entered into an agreement dated 21 January 2021 with NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) 
Ltd (‘NMI-DSM’), to dispose of the Barloworld Group’s Motor Retail business as a going concern to 
NMI-DSM. As a result of the sale the trading results of the Motor Retail business for September 2020 
have been re-presented as discontinued operations. The sale was subsequently concluded on the 
1st of June 2021. Refer to note 22 discontinued operations for further details of the disposal.

2. Logistics     
The board of Barloworld resolved that the Company is authorised to formally proceed with the sale 
of the Barloworld Logistics segment. A SENS announcement was issued on the 31st of March 2021 
confirming that the Barloworld Logistics segment will be accounted for as a discontinued operation 
and therefore the trading results for September 2020 have been re-presented to reflect this. Refer to 
note 22 discontinued operations and assets classified as held for sale.

R million
30 September 

2020
1. Motor Retail 

disposal 2. Logistics Restated

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 49 683 (11 988) (3 786) 33 909

Operating profit before items listed 
below 5 122 (101) (310) 4 711

Impairment losses on financial assets and 
contract assets (292)  14  33 (245)

Depreciation (2 661) 76  344 (2 241)

Amortisation of intangible assets (136)  2  46 (87)

Operating profit before B-BBEE 
transaction charge 2 033 (9)  113 2 138

B-BBEE transaction charge (236)  23  33 (180)

Operating profit 1 797  15  146 1 958

Fair value adjustments on financial 
instruments (340)  2  3 (335)

Finance costs (1 274)  151  152 (971)

Income from investments  155 (1) (16)  138

R million
30 September 

2020
1. Motor Retail 

disposal 2. Logistics Restated

Profit before non-operating and  
capital items  338 167  285 790

Non-operating and capital items 
comprising of:
Impairment of investments (194) (194)

Impairment of goodwill (702)  15 (687)

Impairment of indefinite life intangible 
assets (708) (708)

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, intangibles and other assets (303)  8  85 (210)

Fair value gain on de-consolidation of 
subsidiary

Other non-operating and capital items  7 (7)  36 36

Loss before taxation (1 562)  168  421 (973)

Taxation (889) (81) (98) (1 068)

Loss after taxation (2 451)  87  323 (2 041)

Loss from associates and joint ventures (48)  5 (43)

Net loss from continuing operations  
for the period (2 499)  92  323 (2 084)

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Loss from discontinued operation (92) (323) (415)

Net loss for the period (2 499) (2 499)

Net loss attributable to:
Owners of Barloworld Limited (2 476) (2 476)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries (23) (23)

(2 499) (2 499)
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37. Changes in accounting policies 

The following new and amended standards are expected to have no or minimal impact on 
presentation, recognition and measurement in future years:

Effective date*

Amendments to IFRS 3 – Reference to conceptual framework 1 January 2022

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture

Effective date to  
be announced

Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of liabilities as current vs. non-current 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before 
intended use 1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous contracts: Cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022

Amendments to IFRS4, IFRS7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 39 – Practical expedients  
and specific relief post-IBOR reform. 1 January 2021

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to IFRS1 
First-time adoption of international financial reporting standards 1 January 2022

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to IFRS 9 
Financial instruments 1 January 2022

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – IFRS 16 Leases Effective date to  
be announced

Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 – Amendments to IAS 41 
Agriculture 1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and IFRS practice 
statement 2 Making materiality judgements – Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in accounting estimates and 
errors – Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes – Deferred tax related to assets and  
liabilities arising from a single transaction 1 January 2023

Amendment to IFRS 16 – Covid 19 Related rent concessions 1 April 2021

* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after this date 

38.  Acquisitions 

38.1 Ingrain
Barloworld Limited (“Barloworld”) entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Tongaat 
Hulett Limited on 28 February 2020 to acquire 100% ownership interest in Tongaat Hulett Starch 
(“Ingrain”). The transaction was completed on 31 October 2020, being the transaction effective date. 
This purchase was done through Barloworld’s wholly owned subsidiary, KLL Group (Proprietary) 
Limited, which houses the assets and liabilities of Ingrain. Ingrain is Africa’s largest producer of 
starch, glucose and related products, and produces a wide range of high quality products for 
customers across Africa and around the World using maize as raw material. Barloworld acquired 
Ingrain, being a different business to its existing business portfolio, to balance out the seasonality of 
its existing business to deliver a consistent return to shareholder. 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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38.  Acquisitions continued

38.1 Ingrain continued

Assets acquired and liabilities on 31 October 2020:

R million
 Previously 

reported Adjustment 2021

Non-current assets 2 205 1 471 3 676 
Property plant and equipment (note 1)  709 1 273 1 982 
Land and buildings (note 2)  366 238 604 
Right-of-use assets  21 5 26 
Other intangible assets  38 15 53 
Intangible assets (note 3)  1 071 (60) 1 011 

Current assets 1 616 (56) 1 560 
Fair value Trade and other receivables  709 24 733 
Derivative financial instruments  15 1 16 
Inventory  878 (91) 787 
Cash  14 10 24 

Total assets  3 821 1 415 5 236 
Non-current liabilities 191 534 725 

Right-of-use liability  17 4 21 
Provisions  8 (8)

Deferred tax  166 538 704 
Current liabilities 1 180 (335) 845 

Trade and other payables  455 382 837 
Right-of-use liability  6 2 8 
Short term borrowings  715 (715)

Current tax  4 (4)

Total liabilities  1 371 199 1 570 
Net asset  2 450  1 216  3 666 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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R million
 Previously 

reported Adjustment 2021
Note 1: Property plant and equipment is made up  
as follows:

Transport and vehicles  1 6 7 
Plant and machinery  632 1 199 1 831 
Office equipment  1 1 2 
Other fixed assets  36 52 88 
Capital work in progress  39 15 54 

 709 1 273 1 982 
Note 2: Land and buildings comprises of the  
following properties hosting the Mills:

Bellville Mill  88 57 145 
Germiston Mill  72 81 153 
Kliprivier Mill  64 50 114 
Meyerton Mill  142 50 192 

 366 238 604 
Note 3: Intangible assets

Intangible asset comprise of Customer relationships may arise from non contractual customer relationships, 
which represent loyal customers that are expected to continue their relationship after the acquisition by a 
market participant. This is the only intangible asset, which meets the IFRS recognition criteria.

Excess of consideration transferred over net  
asset acquired

Consideration transferred  4 986  320  5 306 
Less: Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities  (2 450)  (1 216)  (3 666)
Goodwill (note 4)  2 536  (896)  1 640 

Net cash flows on acquisition 
Initial cash consideration 4 536 450 4 986 
Top-up payment 450 (176) 274 
Final purchase consideration 4 986 274 5 260 
Derivative and bank accounts reimbursement 46 46 
Consideration paid in cash (note 5)  4 986  320  5 306 
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired  (14)  (10)  (24)

 4 972 310  5 282 
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Non-manufacturing assets not covered in the wet mill valuations were assigned fair values based 
on depreciated inflation-adjusted historical cost. The useful lives and residual values for land, 
buildings, property, plant and equipment were revised based on the equipment’s current condition; 
operating conditions; maintenance history; number of years similar equipment in use at other mills; 
engineers’ close experience with, and knowledge of, the equipment; and years already in use were 
among factors that were considered. Significant judgement was used in determining the useful 
lives of assets using a combination of specialists and plant engineers at Ingrain; the useful lives of 
assets acquired and fully depreciated were considered taking into account history of breakdown, 
maintenance and replacements. The useful lives of plants were limited to 40 years except for old 
assets that were already 40 years old where a nominal useful live was assigned. The impact of the 
determined fair values on the non-contractual customer relationships was similarly finalised and the 
goodwill adjusted accordingly.

38.  Acquisitions continued

38.1 Ingrain continued

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

Note 4: Goodwill represents synergies/improvements whereby Barloworld expects that through 
product development and specialisation (into modified starches) it will be able to create immediate 
margin uplift and optimise the product mix, whilst the ability to leverage Barloworld’s core 
competencies in distribution within its existing businesses will create additional value. Goodwill will 
be accounted for in terms of the group policy where it will be tested for impairment annually with 
impairment losses recognised in profit or loss but excluded from headline earnings. Goodwill is not 
tax deductible. 

Note 5: The acquisition was funded by external debt.The purchase consideration of R5 306 million 
includes the contingent payment of R450 million together with a top-up and reimbursement 
payment of R320 million adjusted for the stock valuation movements and cash refunds. The R450 million 
contingent payment relates to cash held in escrow for 12 months for any claims not covered by 
warranty and indemnity insurance cover. The funds in escrow were released to the sellers on the  
31 October 2021. 
    
The total cost of the acquisition of Ingrain over the last three years was R74 million. The costs 
were included in operating expenses in the current year R18 million and prior years R53 million. 
 
Purchase price allocation 
The group has completed the Purchase price allocation of all assets before 12 months per the 
IFRS 3 measurement period to finalise the accounting for the acquisition of the business. Due to 
the specialised nature of Ingrain’s operations, being the only wet mill in Southern Africa, there 
was limited valuation expertise in dealing with assets such as Ingrain’s. An international designer 
and installer of wet mill plants were appointed to assist with the determination of the assets fair 
values by providing replacement costs of technologically modern equivalents of Ingrain’s assets.

R million 2021
Impact of acquisition on the results of the group post acquisition 31 October 2020
Revenue  4 385 
Operating profit  534 
Impact of acquisition on the results of the group,  
had the acquisition taken place on 1 October 2020
Revenue  4 833 
Operating profit  617 
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38.  Acquisitions continued

38.2  Barloworld Mongolia Limited acquisition update

Further true-up items and fair value adjustments were identified after 30 September 2020 which 
resulted in an adjustment to the at acquisition net asset value as well an adjustment to goodwill.  
These adjustments to the various assets and liabilities that were identified and incorporated into the 
final adjustment of the at acquisition net assets consequently increased the purchase price by  
R29 million ($1.9million). These were mainly driven by a combination of deferred tax assets (relating  
to realised forex losses on payables to the sellers), understated liabilities (including corporate income 
tax accrual) and overstated assets. 

The earn-out estimate was also finalised which resulted in a R54 million ($3.6 million) reduction to 
goodwill. This was largely offset by a R51 million ($3.4 million) increase to goodwill as a result of fair 
value adjustments to deferred taxation liabilities as well as fixed assets to the value of R54 million 
($3.6 million). No adjustment will be required to the Supplier Relationship intangible identified and 
remains as disclosed at 30 September 2020. As at 30 September 2021 R67 million was paid with  
R41 million remaining.

R million

True-up payment outstanding  60 
Additional investment  29 
Payment outstanding  (41)
Cash payment current year 48 

Cash payment made 67 
Refund received from seller (19)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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39. Directors’ remuneration and interests

Directors’ remuneration
The group remuneration philosophy and basis for determining performance bonuses is set out in 
the Remuneration report. Other benefits determined below include Share Purchase Trust loans, 
expatriate benefits, retention payments, redundancy and termination payments and any other non 
pensionable allowances or fringe benefits. 

The directors’ and prescribed officers’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2021 was as 
follows:

R’ 000 Salary

Retire-
ment and 

medical 
contribu-

tions
Car  

benefit
Other  

benefits
Special

payments Bonus
Total 
2021

2021
Executive directors
DM Sewela 9 246 1 128  72  37 16 705 27 188
N Lila** 4 545  443   37 2 896 7 047 14 968
Total executive 
directors 13 791 1 571  72  74 2 896 23 752 42 156
Prescribed officers
E Leeka** 4 902  606  89  7  30 7 416 13 050
K Mmutlana 
(resigned)** 2 752  419  116  30 1 015 2 760 7 092
QTM McGeer 
(appointed  
1 October 2020) 5 419 942 289 9 312 15 962
Total prescribed 
officers 13 073 967 494  37 1 045 19 488 36 104
Grand total 26 864 3 538 566 111 3 941 43 240 78 260

** Special payments relate to sign on/retention bonuses and separation agreements

R’ 000
Total fees 

2021
Non-executive directors
Residents
NP Dongwana (resigned)  2 139 
HH Hickey  909 
Mnxasana NP  965 
SS Ntsaluba (resigned)  549 
NV Mokhesi  890 
Non-residents
FNO Edozien  1 577 
MD Lynch-Bell  2 021 
P Schmid  1 581 
H Molotsi  1 682 
Total non-executive directors  12 313 
Total directors' and prescribed officers remuneration 90 567

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued

R’ 000 Salary

Retirement 
and medical 

contributions
Car 

benefit
Other

benefits
Total
2020

2020
Executive directors
Residents
DM Sewela 7 353  820  289 8 462

N Lila 3 011  354  425  12 3 802

Total executive 
directors 10 364 1 174  714  12 12 264
Prescribed officers
E Leeka 3 897  457  484 4 838

K Mmutlana 3 986  535  192  21 4 734

Total prescribed officers 7 883  992  676  21 9 572
Grand total 18 247 2 166 1 390  33 21 836

R’ 000
Total fees 

2020
Non-executive directors
Residents
NP Dongwana  1 600 

HH Hickey  751 

Mnxasana NP  829 

SS Ntsaluba  1 055 

DB Ntsebeza (resigned)  862 

NV Mokhesi  695 

Non-residents
FNO Edozien  1 468 

MD Lynch-Bell  1 795 

P Schmid  1 471 

H Molotsi  1 472 

Total non-executive directors  11 998 
Total directors' and prescribed officers remuneration  33 834 

Interest of directors and prescribed officers of the company in share capital
The aggregate beneficial holdings as at 30 September 2021 of the directors and prescribed officers 
of the company and their immediate families (none of which has a holding in excess of 1%)
in the issued ordinary shares of the company are detailed below. There have been no material 
changes in these shareholdings since that date.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued

Khula Sizwe Khula Sizwe

Number of shares at 30 September

2021 
Management 

Trust

2021 
Public 

Scheme  
– Direct

2020 
Management 

Trust

2020 
Public 

Scheme  
– Direct

Executive directors
DM Sewela  3 214 915  3 214 915 

NV Lila  696 076  696 076 

Total executive directors  3 910 991  3 910 991 
Non-executive directors
NP Dongwana (resigned)  10 000  10 000 

N Mokhesi  1 500  1 500 

S Ntsaluba (resigned)  10 000  10 000 

DB Ntsebeza (resigned)   40 000 

P Schmidt

Total non-executive directors 21 500  61 500 
Prescribed officers
E Leeka  1 131 304  1 131 304 

K Mmutlana  1 080 078  1 080 078 

QT McGeer

Total prescribed officers  2 211 382  2 211 382 

Grand total  6 122 373 21 500  6 122 373  61 500 
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39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued

Barloworld

Number of shares at 30 September
2021

CSP 
2021 

Forfeitable
2021 

Direct
2021

Indirect 
2020 

CSP
2020 

Forfeitable
2020 

Direct
2020

Indirect 

Executive directors
DM Sewela  276 550  138 180  230 616  104 420  93 700  18 442  171 519 

NV Lila  100 290  38 690  37 690  14 540 

Total executive directors  376 840  176 870  230 616  142 110  108 240  18 442  171 519 
Non-executive directors
NP Dongwana

N Mokhesi

S Ntsaluba  5 155  2 280  5 155  2 280 

DB Ntsebeza   48 864 

P Schmidt  28 000  28 000 

Total non-executive directors 33 155  2 280  82 019  2 280 
Prescribed officers
E Leeka  109 660  54 820  91 085  41 320  37 260  51 785 

K Mmutlana  25 718  11 832  26 725  37 690  27 520  24 558 

QT McGeer 107 370 49 860
Total prescribed officers  242 748 116 512  117 810  79 010  64 780  76 343 
Grand total  19 588 293 382 150 965 232 896  221 120  173 020  176 804  173 799 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021
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Interest of directors and prescribed officers of the company in share options, share appreciation rights and forfeitable shares
The interests of the executive directors and prescribed officers in shares of the company provided in the 
form of options, share appreciation rights and forfeitable shares are shown in the table below: 

Award 
date

Number 
allocated in 

prior years

Number 
allocated in 
current year

Number 
exercised 

(options and 
SAR)/vested 
(FSP)/lapsed 

in current year
Closing 

number Exercise price

 Price on 
exercise date 
(options and 
SAR)/vesting 

price (FSP) 

Exercise or 
exercisable 
(options 
and SAR)/
vesting date 
(FSP)

Executive directors
DM Sewela
Share appreciation rights

2016  65 350  65 350  72.77  119.33 31-May-21
2017  85 920  85 920  121.53 28-Mar-20
2018  137 540  137 540  177.71  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  189 340  189 340  130.02 26-Feb-22

FSP – no performance conditions
2018  5 480  5 480  n/a  91.11 29-Jan-21
2019  7 880  7 880  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  10 070  10 070  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  16 600  16 600  n/a 03-Dec-23

FSP – with performance conditions
2018  16 430  16 430  n/a  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  23 630  23 630  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  30 210  30 210  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  49 790  49 790  n/a 03-Dec-23

CSP
2020  104 420  104 420  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  172 130  172 130  n/a 03-Dec-23

39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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Award 
date

Number 
allocated in 

prior years

Number 
allocated in 
current year

Number 
exercised 

(options and 
SAR)/vested 
(FSP)/lapsed 

in current year
Closing 

number Exercise price

 Price on 
exercise date 
(options and 
SAR)/vesting 

price (FSP) 

Exercise or 
exercisable 
(options 
and SAR)/
vesting date 
(FSP)

NV Lila
FSP – no performance conditions

2020  3 640  3 640  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  6 040  6 040  n/a 03-Dec-23

FSP – with performance conditions
2020  10 900  10 900  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  18 110  18 110  n/a 03-Dec-23

CSP
2020  37 690  37 690  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  62 600  62 600  n/a 03-Dec-23

Prescribed officers
E Leeka
Share appreciation rights

2017  29 950  29 950  121.53 23-Mar-20
2018  55 270  55 270  177.71  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  75 330  75 330  130.02 26-Feb-22

FSP – no performance conditions

2018  2 200  2 200  n/a  91.11 29-Jan-21
2019  3 130  3 130  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  3 980  3 980  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  6 590  6 590  n/a 03-Dec-23

FSP – with performance conditions
2018  6 600  6 600  n/a  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  9 400  9 400  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  11 950  11 950  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  19 770  19 770  n/a 03-Dec-23

CSP
2020  41 320  41 320  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  68 340  68 340  n/a 03-Dec-23

39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued
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Award 
date

Number 
allocated in 

prior years

Number 
allocated in 
current year

Number 
exercised 

(options and 
SAR)/vested 
(FSP)/lapsed 

in current year
Closing 

number Exercise price

 Price on 
exercise date 
(options and 
SAR)/vesting 

price (FSP) 

Exercise or 
exercisable 
(options 
and SAR)/
vesting date 
(FSP)

K Mmutlana
Share appreciation rights

2018  32 540  32 540  177.71  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  46 800  19 235  27 565  130.02  Lapsed 31-May-21

FSP – no performance conditions
2018  1 300  1 300  n/a  91.11 29-Jan-21
2019  1 950  1 950  n/a  119.33 31-May-21
2020  3 640  3 640  n/a  119.33 31-May-21
2021  6 090  6 090  n/a  119.33 31-May-21

FSP – with performance conditions
2018  3 890  3 890  n/a  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  5 840  1 446  4 394  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  10 900  6 436  4 464  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  18 280  15 306  2 974  n/a 04-Dec-23

CSP
2020  37 690  22 255  15 435  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  63 200  52 917  10 283  n/a 03-Dec-23

39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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Award 
date

Number 
allocated in 

prior years

Number 
allocated in 
current year

Number 
exercised 

(options and 
SAR)/vested 
(FSP)/lapsed 

in current year
Closing 

number Exercise price

 Price on 
exercise date 
(options and 
SAR)/vesting 

price (FSP) 

Exercise or 
exercisable 
(options 
and SAR)/
vesting date 
(FSP)

QT McGeer
Share appreciation rights

2019  57 060  57 060  130.02 26-Feb-22
FSP – no performance conditions

2018  9 140  9 140  n/a  91.11 29-Jan-21
2019  2 370  2 370  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  3 200  3 200  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  5 170  5 170  n/a 03-Dec-23

FSP – with performance conditions
2018  9 140  9 140  n/a  Lapsed 29-Jan-21
2019  7 120  7 120  n/a 26-Feb-22
2020  9 600  9 600  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  22 400  22 400  n/a 03-Dec-23

CSP
2020  33 190  33 190  n/a 08-Mar-23
2021  74 180  74 180  n/a 03-Dec-23

39. Directors’ remuneration and interests continued
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40. Principal subsidiary companies

 Interest of holding company

Issued capital Effective percentage
holdings

Investment  
in subsidiaries Indebtedness Amounts owing  

to subsidiaries

Type Currency
Local Currency 

Amount
2021

% 
2020 

%
2021

R million 
2020 

R million
2021

R million 
2020

R million 
2021

R million 
2020

R million 
Avis Southern Africa Limited H ZAR 17 903 911 100 100  664  664  21  21

Barloworld Botswana (Pty) Limited 2 H BWP 35 329 536 100 100

Barloworld Capital (Pty) Limited** O ZAR 30 000 000 100  30

Barloworld Equipment (Pty) Limited O ZAR  2 100 100

Barloworld Equipment UK Limited ¹ O GBP 4 500 000 100 100

Vostochnaya Technica UK ¹ O GBP 34 500 000 100 100

Barloworld Holdings Limited ¹ H GBP 228 301 000 100 100

Barloworld Insurance Limited ¹ O GBP 4 100 000 100 100  63  63

Barloworld Investments (Pty) Limited H ZAR  900 100 100  108  108  3 068  3 068

Barloworld Logistics Africa (Pty) Limited O ZAR 2 859 920 100 100

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Limited O ZAR  765 424 100 100  2 152  2 152  7 837  6 291  113  381

Barloworld Investments Namibia (Pty) Limited 3 H NAD 1 450 000 100 100  5  5

Zeda Car Leasing (Pty) Limited t/a Avis Fleet O ZAR  100 100 100  2 431  2 431

Barloworld Siyakhula (Pty) Limited O ZAR 25 000 100 100 100

Other subsidiaries* 83  440  455  516  3  45

3 075  3 462  13 812  12 327  116  426

 
All companies are incorporated in (or operate principally in) the Republic of South Africa except where otherwise indicated as follows:

1. United Kingdom            
2. Botswana            
3. Namibia            

Keys to type of subsidiary            
H  – Holding companies            
O  – Operating companies            

Any material changes which have taken place during the year are dealt with in the appropriate operational reviews. 
** The company was deregistered in the 2021 financial year.      
*  A full list of subsidiaries and a list of the special resolutions of those companies are available to the shareholders, on request, from the registered office of the company.  

It can be noted in the statement of profit or loss that there is non-controlling interest, non-controlling interest originates mainly from Khula Sizwe, with the black public owning 30%.    
 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

41. Related party transactions

Various transactions are entered into by the company and its subsidiaries during the year with 
related parties. Unless specifically disclosed these transactions occurred under terms that are no less 
favourable than those entered into with third parties. Intra-group transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation.  
  
The following is a summary of other transactions with related parties during the year and balances 
due at year-end: 
  

R million
Associates

of the group
Joint ventures

of the group

2021
Goods and services sold to
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd  61 
Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  168 

229 
Goods and services purchased from
Irene Khaya Investment (Pty) Ltd  14 

 14 
Trade and other receivables
Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  35 

 35 
Leasing finance arrangements commitments
Menlyn Main Towers (Pty) Ltd  13 
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd  8 

 21 

R million
Associates of 

the group

Joint ventures 
in which the 

group is a 
venture

2020
Goods and services sold to
Barloworld Maponya (Pty) Ltd  43 

BHBW SA (Pty) Ltd  2 

Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  102 

 102  45 
Goods and services purchased from
Menlyn Maine Towers (Pty) Ltd  13 

Irene Khaya Investments (Pty) Ltd  87 

Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  136 

 149  87 
Trade and other receivables
Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  26 

Bartrac Equipment Limited  5 

BHBW SA Proprietary Limited  7 

 26  12 
Leasing finance arrangements commitments
Menlyn Main Towers (Pty) Ltd  14 

 14 
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41. Related party transactions continued Terms on other outstanding balances
Unless otherwise noted, all outstanding balances are payable within 30 days, unsecured and not 
guaranteed.

Associates and joint ventures  
The loans to associates and joint ventures are repayable on demand and bear interest at market 
related rates. There are no provisions held against any of the related parties.

There were no impairments of any investments in the current year. Refer to Note 14.
Details of investments in associates and joint ventures are disclosed in note 14.

Subsidiaries  
Details of investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 40.

Directors  
Details regarding directors’ remuneration and interests are disclosed in note 39, and share 
appreciation rights, forfeitable shares and conditional shares are disclosed in note 35. 

Transactions with key management and other related parties (including directors and 
prescribed officers)
During the year, the Automotive trading segment sold motor vehicles to G Sepamla, M Mahange, 
C Wierenga, L Nkombisa, D Sewela and T Fubu to the value of R6.9 million (FY2020: R4.3 million).

Shareholders
The principal shareholders of the company are disclosed in the integrated report.  

Barloworld Medical Scheme  
Contributions of R208 million were made to the Barloworld Medical Scheme on behalf of employees 
(FY2020: R200 million).

Barloworld Pension Fund (UK)
Amounts recognised in the Income Statement in respect of defined benefit plans was a net expense 
of R49 million (FY2020: R53 million net expense). 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021

R million
Associates of 

the group

Joint ventures 
in which the 

group is a 
venture

2021
Amounts due from related parties as at end of year
NMI Durban South Motors (Pty) Ltd  152 
BHBW SA (Pty) Ltd  1 
Barzem Enterprise (Pty) Ltd  1 

 152  2 
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42. Events after the reporting period

Logistics disposal  
As per the SENS announcement on 31 March 2021 and the pre-closing update issued on SENS on 
28 September 2021, the board had approved a formal sale process to exit the Logistics business 
after receiving several expressions of interest, effective 1 February 2021. While the riots in July had a 
negative impact on the overall sale process, strong buyer interest has emerged through the process 
for the underlying discrete businesses in the Transport division. As such, the sale and purchase 
agreement of Aspen, which was a 51% subsidiary of Barloworld Logistics was concluded on  
2 November 2021, selling the 51% interest to the existing 49% minority shareholder Aspen Logistics. 
The transaction is subject to the competition commission approval in Botswana.

The sale of the Transport division of Barloworld Logistics was concluded on 19 November 2021 and 
is now subject to regulatory approvals. The remaining business, consisting largely of Supply Chain 
Solutions, is anticipated to be concluded in the next few months.

Covid-19   
The impact of Covid-19 has been considered up to 30 September 2021. Subsequent to the year end 
reporting period there have been no significant changes in the Covid-19 restrictions impacting our 
businesses and thus no subsequent events related to the Covid-19 crisis have occurred.  

To the knowledge of the directors no further material events have occurred between the balance 
sheet and the date of approval of these financial statements that would affect the ability of the users 
of the financial statements to make proper evaluations and decisions.

Dividend declared
Refer to note 31 for detail regarding dividends declared post year end.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements  continued  
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Below is a list of key definitions of financial 
terms used in the annual report of Barloworld 
Limited (the Company) and the group: 

Accounting policies
The specific principles, bases, conventions, 
rules, and practices applied in preparing and 
presenting financial statements. Changes 
in accounting policies are accounted for in 
accordance with the transitional provisions in 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). If no such guidance is given, they 
are applied retrospectively, unless it is 
impracticable to do so, in which case they are 
applied prospectively. Changes in accounting 
estimates are recognised in profit or loss. Prior 
period errors are retrospectively restated 
unless it is impracticable to do so, in which 
case they are corrected prospectively.

Accrual accounting
Assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses 
are recognised when they satisfy the 
definitions and recognition criteria.

Actuarial gains and losses
The effect of differences between the previous 
actuarial assumptions and what has occurred, 
as well as changes in actuarial assumptions.

Adjusted headline earnings per share 
Adjusted HEPS is headline earnings excluding 
IFRS 16, B-BBEE charges and the fair value 
adjustments on the USD held cash for the 
Mongolia acquisition.

Amortised cost
The amount at which a financial asset 
or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition, minus principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any 
difference between the initial amount and the 
maturity amount, and minus any reduction for 
impairment or non-collectability.

Asset
A present economic resource controlled by the 
entity as a result of past events.

Associate
An entity over which the investor has 
significant influence and that is neither 
a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint 
arrangement. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the associate 
but is not control or joint control over those 
policies. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Those non-derivative financial assets that 
are designated as available for sale or are not 
classified as loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments, or financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
Interest and other costs incurred in connection 
with the borrowing of funds. 

Definitions   

 

Business combination
A business is an integrated set of activities 
and assets conducted and managed for the 
purpose of providing a return to investors 
or lower costs or other economic benefits 
directly and proportionately to participants.
A business combination is a transaction or 
other events in which an acquirer obtains 
control of one or more business.

Capital charge
Average invested capital multiplied by WACC

Carrying amount
The amount at which an asset is recognised 
after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
or amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand 
deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and 
that are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

Cash flow hedge
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash 
flows that is attributable to a particular risk 
associated with an asset, or a liability that 
could affect profit or loss or a highly probable 
forecast transaction that could affect profit  
or loss.

Cash-generating unit
The smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets. 

Cash-settled share-based payment 
transaction
A share-based payment transaction in which 
the entity acquires goods or services by 
incurring a liability to transfer cash or other 
assets to the supplier of those goods or 
services for amounts that are based on the 
price (or value) of the entity’s shares or other 
equity instruments of the entity.

Change in accounting estimate 
An adjustment of the carrying amount of 
an asset or a liability, or the amount of the 
periodic consumption of an asset, that results 
from the assessment of the present status of, 
and expected future benefits and obligations 
associated with, assets and liabilities. Changes 
in accounting estimates result from new 
information or new developments and, 
accordingly, are not corrections of errors. 

Chief operating decision maker (Key 
management)
Those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the activities of the entity. In terms 
of this definition, the executive committee of 
Barloworld Limited have been identified as the 
chief operating decision maker. 
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Definitions continued

Constructive obligation
An obligation that derives from an established 
pattern of past practice, published policies 
or a sufficiently specific current statement, in 
which the entity has indicated to other parties 
that it will accept certain responsibilities 
and as a result, the entity has created a valid 
expectation on the part of those other parties 
that it will discharge those responsibilities.

Consolidated financial statements
The financial statements of a group presented 
as those of a single economic entity.

Contingent asset
A possible asset that arises from past events 
and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity. 

Contingent liability
A possible obligation that arises from past 
events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the entity, or 
a present obligation that arises from past 
events but is not recognised because it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation, or the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability.

Contract
An agreement between two or more 
parties that creates enforceable rights and 
obligations.

Contract asset
The group’s right to consideration in exchange 
for goods or services that the group has 
transferred to a customer when that right is 
conditioned on something other than the 
passage of time (for example, the group’s 
future performance).

Contract liability
The group’s obligation to transfer goods or 
services to a customer for which the group has 
received consideration (or the amount is due) 
from the customer

Cost of sales 
When inventories are sold, the carrying 
amount is recognised as part of cost of 
sales. Any write-down of inventories to net 
realisable value and all losses of inventories or 
reversals of previous write downs or losses are 
recognised in cost of sales in the period the 
write-down, loss or reversal occurs.

Costs to sell
The incremental costs directly attributable to 
the disposal of an asset (or disposal group), 
excluding finance costs and income tax 
expense. 

Credit-impaired financial asset
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one 
or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that 
financial asset have occurred.

Credit loss
The difference between all contractual cash 
flows that are due to the group in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that 
the group expects to receive (i.e. all cash 
shortfalls), discounted at the original effective 
interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate for purchased or originated 
credit-impaired financial assets).

Customer
A party that has contracted with the group to 
obtain goods or services that are an output of 
the group’s ordinary activities in exchange for 
consideration.

Date of transaction
The date on which the transaction first 
qualifies for recognition in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Depreciation (or amortisation)
The systematic allocation of the depreciable 
amount of an asset over its useful life. The 
depreciable amount of an asset is the cost of 
an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, 
less its residual value.

Derecognition
The removal of a previously recognised asset 
or liability from the statement of financial 
position. 

Derivative
A financial instrument whose value changes 
in response to an underlying item, requires 
no initial or little net investment in relation 
to other types of contracts that would be 
expected to have a similar response to 
changes in market factors and is settled  
at a future date.

Development
The application of research findings or other 
knowledge to a plan or design to produce new 
or substantially improved materials, devices, 
products, processes, systems, or services 
before starting commercial production or use.

Diluted earnings per share
Profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity 
holders of the parent entity divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period, both adjusted 
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares.

Dilution
A reduction in earnings per share or an 
increase in loss per share resulting from the 
assumption that convertible instruments 
are converted, that options or warrants are 
exercised, or that ordinary shares are issued 
upon the satisfaction of specified conditions.
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Definitions continued   

 

Discontinued operation
A component that has either been disposed of 
or is classified as held for sale and represents a 
separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operation, or is part of a single 
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate 
major line of business or geographical area of 
operation, or a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale. The results of discontinued 
operations are presented separately in the 
income statement and the assets and liabilities 
associated with these operations are shown 
as Held for Sale in the statement of financial 
position.

EBITDA
EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortisation.

Economic profit
The measure of the difference between the 
accounting profit of a business (Net Operating 
Profit after Tax) and the cost of capital invested in 
the business (referred to as a “Capital Charge”).

Effective interest method
The method that is used in the calculation of 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and in the allocation and 
recognition of the interest revenue or interest 
expense in profit or loss over the relevant period.

Employee benefits
All forms of consideration (excluding share 
options granted to employees) given in exchange 
for services rendered by employees.

Events after the reporting period (Post-balance 
sheet)
Recognised amounts in the financial statements 
are adjusted to reflect events arising after the 
financial position date that provide evidence of 
conditions that existed at the financial position 
date. Events after the reporting date that are 
indicative of conditions that arose after the 
financial position date are dealt with by way of 
a note.

Equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as 
either financial liabilities or as equity based on 
the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Equity instruments issued by the group are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Equity instrument
A contract or certificate that evidences a residual 
interest in the total assets after deducting the 
total liabilities. 

Equity method
A method in which the investment is initially 
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the 
post acquisition change in the share of net assets 
of the investee. Profit or loss includes the share of 
the profit or loss of the investee.

Equity-settled share-based payment 
transaction
A share-based payment transaction in which the 
entity receives goods or services as consideration 
for equity instruments of the entity (including 
shares or share options).

Non-operating and capital items
Non-operating and capital items cover those 
amounts, which are not considered to be of an 
operating/trading nature, and generally include 
re-measurements due to:

• Impairments of goodwill and non-current 
assets,

• Gains and losses on the measurement to fair 
value less costs to sell (or on the disposal) 
of assets or disposal groups constituting 
discontinued operations,

• Gains and losses on the measurement to fair 
value less costs to sell of non-current assets or 
disposal groups classified as held for sale,

• Gains and losses on the disposal of fixed 
property,

• Recycling through profit or loss of foreign 
currency translation reserves upon disposal 
of entities whose functional currencies are 
different to the group’s presentation currency,

• Recycling through profit or loss of fair value 
gains and losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income upon the 
disposal financial assets as at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI) and realisation of hedges of a net 
investment in a foreign operation, and

• The group’s proportionate share of non-
operating and capital items (determined 
on the same basis) of associates and joint 
arrangements.

Re-measurements to fair value of other financial 
instruments (including amounts recycled 
through profit or loss under cash flow hedges 
that were previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income) are not included in non-
operating and capital items.

Expenses
Decreases in assets, or increases in liabilities that 
result in decreases in equity, other than those 
relating to distributions to holders of equity 
claims.

Fair value per IFRS 13
The price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

Fair value per IFRS 16
The amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction.

Fair value hedge
A hedge of exposure to changes in fair value of a 
recognised asset, liability, or firm commitment.

Finance lease
A lease that transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
an asset. Title may or may not eventually be 
transferred. 
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Financial asset or liability at fair value 
through profit or loss
A financial asset or financial liability that is 
classified as held for trading or is designated 
as such on initial recognition other than 
investments in equity instruments that do 
not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured.

Financial assets
A financial asset is an asset that is cash, 
an equity instrument of another entity, a 
contractual right to receive cash or another 
financial asset from another entity, or to 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially favourable to the entity.

Financial guarantee contract
A contract that requires the group to make 
specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the original or modified 
terms of a debt instrument.

Financial instrument
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset 
of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is a liability that is a 
contractual obligation to deliver cash or 
another financial asset to another entity or to 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 

with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the entity. 

Financial risk
The risk of a possible future change in one 
or more of a specified interest rate, financial 
instrument price, commodity price, foreign 
exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit 
rating or credit index or other variable, 
provided in the case of a non-financial variable 
that the variable is not specific to a party to 
the contract.

Firm commitment
A binding agreement for the exchange of a 
specified quantity of resources at a specified 
price on a specified future date or dates.

Forecast transaction
An uncommitted but anticipated future 
transaction.

Free cash flow
Cash flow before financing activities and 
dividends paid.

Going concern basis
The assumption that the entity will continue in 
operation for the foreseeable future.

Gross Debt
Interest-bearing long term debt, lease 
liabilities (unless stated otherwise) and 
amounts due to bankers and short-term loans.

Gross interest
Total interest paid.

Gross investment in lease
The aggregate of the minimum lease 
payments receivable by the lessor under a 
finance lease and any unguaranteed residual 
value accruing to the lessor.

Group operating margin
Operating profit as a percentage of revenue.

Headline earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to owners of 
Barloworld Limited adjusted for non-operating 
and capital items divided by weighted average 
number of shares.

Hedged item
An asset, liability, firm commitment, highly 
probable forecast transaction or net 
investment in a foreign operation that exposes 
the entity to risk of changes in fair value or 
future cash flows and is designated as being 
hedged.

Hedging instrument
A designated derivative or non-derivative 
financial asset or non-derivative financial 
liability whose fair value or cash flows are 
expected to offset changes in the fair value or 
cash flows of a designated hedged item.

Hedge effectiveness
The degree to which changes in the fair 
value or cash flows of the hedged item that 
is attributable to a hedged risk are offset by 
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedging instrument.

Held for trading financial asset or financial 
liability
One that is acquired or incurred principally for 
the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the 
near term or as part of a portfolio of identified 
financial instruments that are managed 
together and for which there is evidence of 
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking or a derivative (except for a derivative 
that is a designated and effective hedging 
instrument).

Lessee’s incremental borrowing rate (IBR)
The rate of interest that a lessee would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a 
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the right of use 
asset in a similar economic environment.

Immaterial
If individually or collectively it would not 
influence the economic decisions of the users 
of the financial statements.

Impairment loss on non-financial assets
The amount by which the carrying amount of 
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

Impairment gain or loss
Gain or loss that are recognised in profit or 
loss when a financial asset’s credit quality 
has deteriorated/improved, and an expected 
credit loss/gain is recognised.

Definitions continued   
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Impracticable
Applying a requirement is impracticable when 
the entity cannot apply it after making every 
reasonable effort to do so.

Income
Increases in assets, or decreases in liabilities, 
that result in increases in equity, other than 
those relating to contributions from holders of 
equity claims.

Insurance asset
An insurer’s net contractual rights under an 
insurance contract.

Insurance liability
An insurer’s net contractual obligations under 
an insurance contract.

Insurance risk
Risk, other than financial risk, transferred from 
the holder of a contract to the issuer.

Insured event
An uncertain future event that is covered by an 
insurance contract and creates insurance risk.

Insurer
The party that has an obligation under 
an insurance contract to compensate a 
policyholder if an insured event occurs.

Invested Capital
The measure of the sum of the total interest 
of all shareholders (including non-controlling 
interests), long term loans, bank overdrafts 
and short-term loans less cash.

Joint arrangement
An arrangement in which two or more parties 
have joint control.

Joint control
The contractually agreed sharing of control 
which exists only when decisions about 
relevant activities require unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control.

Joint operation
A joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to the arrangement.

Joint venture
A joint arrangement whereby the parties that 
have joint control of the arrangement have 
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 

Legal obligation
An obligation that derives from a contract, 
legislation, or other operation of law. 

Lifetime expected credit losses
The expected credit losses that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument.

Liability
A present obligation of the entity to transfer 
an economic resource as a result of past 
events.

Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market.

Loss allowance
The allowance for expected credit losses on 
financial assets measured at amortised cost, 
lease receivables and contract assets, and 
financial guarantee contracts.

Market condition
A condition upon which the exercise 
price, vesting or exercisability of an equity 
instrument depends on and is related to the 
market price of the entity’s equity instruments, 
such as attaining a specified share price or a 
specified amount of intrinsic value of a share 
option, or achieving a specified target that 
is based on the market price of the entity’s 
equity instruments relative to an index of 
market prices of equity instruments of other 
entities.

Lease payments
Fixed payments made by a lessee to a lessor 
relating to the right to use an underlying asset 
during the lease term, subject to an annual 
escalation.

Lease term
The non-cancellable period for which a lessee 
has the right to use an underlying asset, 
together with both:

• periods covered by an option to extend the 
lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise that option; and

• periods covered by an option to terminate 
the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain 
to exercise that option.

Net assets
Net operating assets plus goodwill, cash, and 
cash equivalents.

Net debt
Gross debt (long and short term) less net cash.

Net investment in the lease
The gross investment in the lease discounted 
at the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Net operating assets
Segment assets less segment liabilities.

Net Operating Profit after Tax
Operating profit after tax and share of 
associate income. 

Non-controlling interest
The equity in a subsidiary not attributable, 
directly or indirectly, to a parent.

Definitions continued   
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Operating lease
A lease other than a finance lease. 

Operating profit
Profit before interest and tax.

Owner-occupied property
Property held by the owner or by the lessee 
under a finance lease for use in the production or 
supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes.

Past service cost
The increase or decrease in the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation for employee 
service in prior periods resulting from the 
introduction of, or changes to, post-employment 
benefits or other long-term employee benefits.

Performance measures
Measures put in place by management to 
measure the performance of the operations.

Performance obligation
A promise in a contract with a customer to 
transfer to the customer either: 

(a)  a good or service (or a bundle of goods or 
services) that is distinct; or 

(b)  a series of distinct goods or services that are 
substantially the same and that have the 
same pattern of transfer to the customer.

Policyholder
A party that has a right to compensation under 
an insurance contract if an insured event occurs.

Post-employment benefits
Employee benefits (other than termination 
benefits) that are payable after the completion of 
employment. 

Post-employment benefit plans
Formal or informal arrangements under which 
an entity provides post-employment benefits to 
employees. Defined contribution benefit plans 
are where there are no legal or constructive 
obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employee benefits relating to employee service 
in the current and prior periods. Defined benefit 
plans are post-employment benefit plans other 
than defined contribution plans. 

Presentation currency
The currency in which the financial statements 
are presented.

Present value
A current estimate of the present discounted 
value of the future net cash flows in the normal 
course of business.

Prior period error
An omission from or misstatement in the 
financial statements for one or more prior periods 
arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable 
information that was available when financial 
statements for those periods were authorised for 
issue and could reasonably be expected to have 
been obtained and taken into account in the 
preparation of those financial statements.

Projected unit credit method
An actuarial valuation method that sees each 
period of service as giving rise to an additional 
unit of benefit entitlement and measures each 
unit separately to build up the final obligation.

Prospective application
Applying a new accounting policy to 
transactions, other events and conditions 
occurring after the date the policy changed 
or recognising the effect of the change in an 
accounting estimate in the current and future 
periods.

Recognition of assets and liabilities
Assets are only recognised if they meet the 
definition of an asset, it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the asset will 
flow to the group and the amount at which the 
settlement would take place or fair value can be 
measured reliably.

Liabilities are only recognised if they meet the 
definition of a liability, it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the liability 
will flow from the group and the cost or fair value 
can be measured reliably. 

Financial instruments are recognised when 
the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets 
and liabilities as a result of firm commitments 
are only recognised when one of the parties 
has performed under the contract. Regular way 
purchases and sales are recognised using trade 
date accounting.

Recoverable amount
The higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. 

Regular way purchase or sale
A purchase or sale of a financial asset under a 
contract, the terms of which require delivery of 
the asset within the time-frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace 
concerned.

Representations 
Restatements of the prior year income statement 
related to disclosure of a subsidiary that is held 
for sale in the current year as discontinued 
operation or subsequently ceasing to be a 
discontinued operation. 

Research
The original and planned investigation 
undertaken with the prospect of gaining 
new scientific or technical knowledge and 
understanding.

Residual value
The estimated amount which an entity would 
currently obtain from disposal of the asset, after 
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the 
asset was already of the age and in the condition 
expected at the end of its useful life.

Restructuring
A programme that is planned and controlled by 
management, and materially changes either the 
scope of a business undertaken by an entity or 
the manner in which that business is conducted. 

Definitions continued   

 



Barloworld Annual financial statements 2021 134

Review and reports Company financial statementsConsolidated financial statements Additional information

Retrospective application
Applying a new accounting policy to 
transactions, other events, and conditions, as if 
that policy had always been applied.

Retrospective restatement
Correcting the recognition, measurement, and 
disclosure of amounts as if a prior period error 
had never occurred.

Return on invested capital (ROIC)
The return on investment capital is a profitability 
ratio. It measures the percentage return that 
a company makes over its invested capital by 
calculating net operating profit after tax over 
total equity, plus long-term and short-term loans, 
bank overdrafts and cash on hand.

Return on net operating assets
Operating profit plus interest received and 
share of associate profits as a percentage of net 
operating assets.

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds
Operating profit plus interest received and share 
of associate profits as a percentage of ordinary 
shareholders’ funds.

Revenue
Income arising in the course of an entity’s 
ordinary activities.

Right of use asset
An asset that represents a lessee’s right to use an 
underlying asset for the lease term.

Right of use liability
A liability representing the lessee’s obligation to 
make rental payments to the lessor discounted 
by the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate over 
the lease term.

Segment assets
Total assets less goodwill, cash on hand, deferred 
and current taxation assets.

Segment liabilities
Non-interest-bearing current and non-current 
liabilities, excluding deferred and current taxation 
liabilities.

Segment result
Segment result represents operating profit plus 
any other items that are directly attributable to 
segments including fair value adjustments on 
financial instruments. Interest costs are excluded 
due to the centralised nature of the group’s 
treasury operations.

Share-based payment transactions
A cash-settled share based payment transaction 
is the acquisition of goods or services by 
incurring a liability to transfer cash or other assets 
to the supplier of those goods or services for 
amounts that are based on the price (or value) of 
the entity’s shares or other equity instruments.

An equity-settled share-based payment 
transaction is a transaction where goods or 
services are received and settled in equity 
instruments of the entity (including shares or 
share options).

Tax base
The tax base of an asset is the amount that is 
deductible for tax purposes if the economic 
benefits from the asset are taxable or is the 
carrying amount of the asset if the economic 
benefits are not taxable.
The tax base of a liability is the carrying amount 
of the liability less the amount deductible in 
respect of that liability in future periods.

The tax base of revenue received in advance 
is the carrying amount less any amount of the 
revenue that will not be taxed in future periods.

Temporary differences
The differences between the carrying amount 
of an asset or liability and its tax base.

Transaction costs
Incremental costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or financial liability, i.e. those that would 
not have been incurred if the entity had not 
acquired, issued, or disposed of the financial 
instrument.

Transaction price (for a contract with a 
customer)
The amount of consideration to which the 
group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties.

Treasury shares
The group’s own equity instruments held by the 
entity or other members of the consolidated 
group.

Unearned finance income
The difference between the gross investment in 
the lease and the net investment in the lease.

Useful life
The period over which an asset is expected 
to be available for use or the number of 
production or similar units expected to be 
obtained from the asset.

Value in use
The present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or cash-
generating unit.

Variable lease payments
The portion of payments made by a lessee to 
a lessor for the right to use an underlying asset 
during the lease term that varies because of 
changes in facts or circumstances occurring 
after the commencement date, other than the 
passage of time.

Definitions continued   
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Vest
To become an entitlement. Under a share-based 
payment arrangement, a counter-party’s rights to 
receive cash, other assets, or equity instruments 
of the entity vests when the counter-party’s 
entitlement is no longer conditional on the 
satisfaction of any vesting conditions. 

Vesting conditions 
The conditions that determine whether the 
entity receives the services that entitle the 
counter-party to receive cash, other assets, 
or equity instruments of the entity, under a 
share-based payment arrangement. Vesting 
conditions are either service conditions or 
performance conditions. 

Service conditions require the counter-party 
to complete a specified period of service. 
Performance conditions require the counter-
party to complete a specified period of service 
and specified performance targets to be met 
(such as a specified increase in the entity’s 
profit over a specified period). A performance 
condition might include a market condition.

Vesting period 
The period during which all the specified 
vesting conditions of a share-based payment 
arrangement are to be satisfied.

Definitions continued   
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R million Notes 2021 2020 
Continuing operations
Revenue made up as follows:  

Dividend income^  1 207  2 469 

Rental income  1 
Other income  3 

Interest Income^^ 341  502 

Finance costs* (416)  (447) 

Administrative costs  (122) (66) 

Fair value adjustments  11 

B-BBEE IFRS 2 charge (735) 

Profit before non operating and capital items 1 011  1 737 

Impairment of investments** 5 (84)    

Profit before taxation 927  1 737 

Taxation 3  2 (20) 

Profit after tax 929  1 717 

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 9.1  5 (84) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 934  1 633 
 
^ Dividend income comprises of dividends received from investment in subsidiaries of R922 million (FY2020: R2 469 million), dividends  
 received from de-recognition of subsidiaries of R270 million and dividends received from insurance company of R15 million. 
^^ Interest income is mainly derived from interest received from subsidiary companies who hold interest bearing loans.
*  Finance costs mainly relate to external borrowings, finance cost relating to short term borrowing amounting to R96 million (FY2020:R166  
 million), finance cost relating to long term borrowing amounting to R278 million (FY2020:R281 million), R39 million (FY2020: Nil) relates  
 to unwinding of interest on the Khula Sizwe Management Trust loan and R3 million (FY2020: Nil) relates to other interest. 
**  During the current financial year, the following dormant subsidiaries were deregistered at the deeds office: Barloworld Global Services  
 (Pty) Ltd, Barloworld Farms (Pty) Ltd, RIH Investments (Pty) Ltd. W.F Johnstone & Co (Pty) Ltd and Barloworld Capital (Pty) Ltd. The entities  
 had assets and liabilities, and through the deregistration process these assets were partially realised through receipt of dividends and  
 liabilities settled, resulting in an impairment loss of R84 million on the investments by Barloworld Limited. Refer to note 40 of the  
 consolidated financial statements for the movement in the amount for line item “other subsidiaries”.

Company statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

R million Notes 2021 2020 
Non-current assets 12 729  12 921

Investment property 4 108   101

Other long term receivable  13  

Investments 5  3 147  3 477

Loans to subsidiaries 6 9 453  9 343

Deferred taxation asset 8  8 
Current assets 4 594  3 260

Loans to subsidiaries 6 5   404

Trade and other receivables  5 
Taxation  23   36

Cash and cash equivalents 7  4 561  2 821

Assets classified as held for sale 9.2   116 

Total assets 17 323  16 297
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium 10 (1 355) (1 276)

Other reserves  738   738

Retained Income 11 420  11 163 

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited 10 803 10 625
Non-current liabilities  2 941  4 032

Deferred taxation liability 8       23

Interest-bearing liabilities 11  2 941  4 009

Current liabilities  3 579  1 640

Loans from subsidiaries 6   149   273

Trade and other payables  80   41

Provisions 12  4     

Amounts due to bankers and short-term borrowings 13  3 346  1 326

Total equity and liabilities 17 323  16 297

Company statement of financial position 
at 30 September 2021    
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R million Notes
Share capital 

and premium
Revaluation 

reserve

Equity 
compensation 

reserve*
Total other 

reserves
Total retained 

income

Total  
shareholders’ 

interest

Balance at 30 September 2019  286  3  165  168  10 514  10 968 

Total comprehensive income for the year  1 633  1 633 

Equity compensation reserve*  735  735   735 

Transfer from reserves  (165)  (165)   165 

Dividends on ordinary shares 15      (1 149)  (1 149)

Share buy back in the current year 10  (1 562)                  (1 562)

Balance at 30 September 2020 (1 276)   3   735   738  11 163  10 625 
Total comprehensive income for the year 934 934

Dividends on ordinary shares 15 (677) (677)

Share buy back in the current year 10 (79) (79)

Balance at 30 September 2021 (1 355)   3   735   738 11 420 10 803

       
*  The equity compensation reserve relates to the IFRS 2 charge for the Khula Sizwe B-BBEE transaction. 

 Shares of 6,578,121 or 3% were issued to the Barloworld Empowerment Foundation on the 13th of December 2019, at a share price of  
 R111.87 per share, equating to a grant fair value of R735 million. A further 5% discount on the market values of the properties was given  
 to Khula Sizwe on the sale of properties. 

 The shares held by the foundation are indefinite.      
 

Company statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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R million Notes 2021 2020 
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash utilised in operations A (94)  (5)

Dividends income from investments (excluding withholding tax) 1 192  2 469 

Interest Income  322  502 

Finance costs  (373)  (446)

Taxation refund/(paid) B  2  (276)

Cash flow from operations 1 049  2 244 

Dividends paid  (677)  (1 149)

Cash inflows from operating activities 372  1 095 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment property (175) (1 893)

Proceeds on disposal of investment property 273  2 470 

Purchase of financial assets  (720)

Proceeds on settlement of investments 174
Proceeds on deregistration of investments 131
Payment received on loans to subsidiaries 262  226 

(Repayment made)/ payment received on loans to subsidiaries (79)  105 

Net cash inflow from investing activities 586  188 

Net cash inflow before financing activities 958  1 283 
Cash flows from financing activities
Buyback on share issue  (79)  (1 562)

Repayment made on loans from subsidiaries  (45)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  1 732  700 

Repayment of short term borrowings  (826)  (829)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities C 782  (1 691)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  1 740  (408)

Cash equivalents at the beginning of year  2 821  3 229 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  4 561  2 821 

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

 

R million 2021 2020 
A. Cash utilised in operations is calculated as follows:

Profit before taxation - continued operations 927  1 737 

(Loss)/profit before taxation - discontinued operations  (2)  138 

Adjustments for:

Impairment of investments  84 
Loss/(profit) on sale of investment property  10  (60)

Amortisation of intangible assets       1 

Dividends income  (1 207)  (2 469)

Interest income (341)  (502)

Finance costs 416  447 

Fair value adjustments on financial instruments       (11)

B-BBEE IFRS 2 charge       735 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital  (113)  16 

(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables  (18)  4 

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables  37  (25)

Cash utilised  from operations  (94)  (5)
B. Reconciliation of taxation paid between continuing operations   

and discontinued operations:
Tax paid from continuing operations    (72)

Tax refund/(paid) from discontinued operations  2  (204)

Cash amounts received/(paid)  2  (276)
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R million 1 October Cash flows

Movement
in interest
provisions

Other 
non-cash

Transfers to
 or from short

 term loans 30 September

C. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities:
2021
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities is reconciled as follows:
Loan from subsidiaries  273 (45) (79)  149 
Non-current interest bearing loans  4 009  1 732  46  (2 846)  2 941 
Current interest bearing loans  1 326  (826)  2 846  3 346 
Other movements
Share capital  (1 276)  (79)  (1 355)

 4 332 782  (33)      5 081
2020
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities is reconciled as follows: 
Non-current interest bearing loans  4 384  700  (1)  (1 074)  4 009 

Current interest bearing loans  1 081  (829)  1 074  1 326 

Other movements
Share capital  286  (1 562)  (1 276)

 5 751  (1 691)  (1)       4 059 

Company statement of cash flows continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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1. Accounting framework      

The accounting policies of the company are the same as those of the group, where applicable (refer 
to the consolidated annual financial statements). The policies detailed below are those specifically 
applicable to the company.

Accounting policies for which no choice is permitted in terms of International Financial Reporting 
Standards have been included only if management and directors concluded that the disclosure 
would assist users in understanding the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 
materiality of the item being discussed. Accounting policies which are not applicable from time to 
time, have been removed, but will be included if the type of transaction occurs in future.

The basis of preparation is consistent with the prior year. Barloworld Limited the company does not 
have any leases which require a right of use asset or lease liability to be recognised in the statement 
of financial position.

1.2 Underlying concepts     

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. Assets and liabilities and income 
and expenses are not offset unless specifically permitted by an accounting standard. Financial assets 
and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported only when a legally enforceable right 
to set off the amounts exists and the intention is either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. Non-operating and capital items refer to expenses/income 
that are unrelated to Barloworld’s core operations and fall outside the normal course of business.  
All financial information has been rounded to the nearest million unless stated otherwise.

1.3 Significant judgements made by management  

Preparing financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires estimates and assumptions that 
affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Certain accounting policies have been identified as involving particularly complex or subjective 
judgements or assessments, as follows:

The Khula Sizwe properties have been accounted for as a disposal group and not as inventory as 
this is not held in the ordinary course of business. Also the properties are not held as investment 
property as the intention is not to hold these properties. 

Non-current assets held for sale
The company classified several properties as held for sale in the prior financial year that were in 
the process of being sold to Khula Sizwe. All the required approvals have been obtained with only 
the transfers of properties to take place, and therefore the impending sale is expected to complete 
within the next financial year. As rental income from these properties is significant to the company 
the properties have been disclosed as discontinued operations.
 
1.4 Revenue      

Included in revenue are rentals earned from Leasing fixed property, dividends received and interest 
received from subsidiaries.

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the 
effective interest method for all interest-bearing financial instruments.

Dividends from subsidiaries are accrued for once declared by the subsidiaries.

1.5  Financial assets and financial liabilities (Financial instruments)

Financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, loans receivable, trade and other 
receivables (excluding prepayments), cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, other non-current 
liabilities (excluding provisions), bank overdrafts and trade and other payables. 

Notes to the company financial statements  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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1. Accounting framework continued

1.6 Investment property

An investment property is either land or a building or part of a building held by the owner or by 
the lessee under a finance lease to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. The cost model is 
applied in accounting for investment property, i.e. the investment property is recorded at cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Land is stated at cost and not depreciated.
Investment property is depreciated on a straight line basis over 20 to 50 years.   
  
1.7 Lessor

Lessors will classify each lease as an operating lease.

A lessor recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-line basis.

The company recognises costs, including depreciation, incurred to obtain lease income as  
an expense. 

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Barloworld makes use of a intercompany treasury functions and as such some of the inter-company 
balances meet the definition of cash and cash equivalent, being highly liquid, readily convertible 
and exposed to negligible risk of change in value.

1.9 Changes in accounting policies

The following new and amended standards are expected to have no or minimal impact on 
presentation, recognition and measurement in future years:

Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to conceptual framework    
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or   
joint venture  
Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of liabilities as current vs non-current  
Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use 
Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous contracts:  Cost of fulfilling a contract   

2. Profit before tax 

R million 2021 2020 
Operating profit from continuing operations is arrived at as follows:

Total income 1 549 2 971

Fair value adjustments      11 

Less: finance costs (416)  (447)

Less: administrative costs  (122)  (66)

Less: IFRS 2 B-BBEE costs      (735)

Operating profit from continued operations 1 011 1 735
Administrative costs include the following:
Amortisation of intangible assets      2 

Administration  management and technical fees paid  27  26 

Consulting  insurance and other investor relation expenses  68  23 

Non-executive director salaries  15  14 

Auditors' remuneration  12  1 

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

Amendments to IFRS4, IFRS7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 39 - Practical expedients and specific   
relief post-IBOR reform.  
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 - Amendments to IFRS1 First-time adoption  
of international financial reporting standards
Amendments to IFRS 16 - Covid-19 related rent concessions beyond 30 June  2021
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 - Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments 
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 - IFRS 16 Leases    
Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 - 2020 - Amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements and IFRS practice statement 2 Making 
materiality judgements - Disclosure of accounting policies    
Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in accounting estimates and errors - Definition 
of accounting estimates 
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a 
single transaction     

* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after this date      
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3. Taxation 

R million 2021 2020 
Foreign and withholding taxation  (11)  (23)

Capital gains tax  (10)  (118)

Current year  (97)

Prior year  (1)  1 

 (22)  (237)
Deferred tax  31  (5)

Total taxation  9  (242)
Tax from continuing operations  2  (20)

Tax from discontinued operations  7  (222)

Taxation attributable to the company  9  (242)

% 2021 2020 
Reconciliation of rate of taxation: 
South Africa normal taxation rate  28.0  28.0 

Reduction in rate of taxation  (35.7)  (38.1)

Adjustment due to exemption for dividend income  (35.7)  (36.9)

Other non-taxable income      (1.2)

Increase in the rate of taxation 6.8  22.9 

Disallowable charges 3.8  0.9 

IFRS 2 B-BBEE charge      11.0 

Capital gains tax and recoupments  1.7  9.7 

Prior year 0.2  0.1 

Withholding taxation 1.1  1.2 

Taxation as a percentage of profit before taxation (1)  12.9 

4.  Investment property  
       

R million Cost
Accumulated 
depreciation

Net book 
value

2021
Freehold land and buildings 108     108

108     108
2020
Freehold land and buildings   121   20   101

  121   20   101

There are no assets encumbered.

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

R million
Freehold land 
and buildings

Movement of net book value of investment property
2021
Net balance at 1 October 2020  101 
Other additions  7 
Net balance at 30 September 2021 108
2020
Net balance at 1 October 2019  58 

Reclassification from held for sale  93 

Other disposals transferred to group  (50)

Net balance at 30 September 2020  101 

The register of land and buildings is open for inspection at the registered office of the company.
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The fair value for the above freehold land and buildings amounted to R260 million (FY2020: R240 million 
(including property held for sale) based on a valuation at September 2020). 

The fair value measurement of the properties is considered a level 3 measurement in accordance with 
IFRS 13. The calculation of the fair values of the properties was based on the income approach method in 
which the estimated net annual rent for the forward period of 120 months is capitalised at an appropriate 
rate of interest to reflect the perceived risk in the investment. A period of 120 months was considered 
appropriate because this was the determined expected future net income. 

There are no known restrictions on the realisable value of the investment properties.

R million 2021 2020 

Rental income derived from investment properties  1 78

There are no direct costs incurred (including repairs and maintenance). 

5. Investments     

R million 2021 2020 
Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures at cost less impairment  3 075  3 461 

Unlisted investments at fair value*   16  16 

Investment arising from initial recognition of financial guarantee liability 56
 3 147  3 477 

* Refer to note 14.2 for the valuation methodology.

4.  Investment property continued

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

The movement in investments comprises of a reduction of R213 million relating to deregistration 
of dormant subsidiaries; a reduction of R173 million relates to a recovery of the IFRS 2 charges from 
the employer companies relating to the Khula Sizwe Employee Trust; and increase of R56 million 
in investments resulting from the initial recognition of liability arising from financial guarantees 
granted to Khula Sizwe lease and Treasury long term loans. The deregistration of the dormant 
subsidiaries resulted in an impairment loss of R84 million which is included in the profit or loss for 
the year.

The above assets have been assessed for impairment based on the historical and forecast dividends 
received and no impairment is required. 

Refer to note 40 of the consolidated annual financial statements, principal subsidiary companies.

6. Loans owing from/(to) subsidiaries       
      

R million 2021 2020 
Long term loans 9 453  9 343 

Short term loans 5 404

Amounts owing from subsidiaries* 9 458 9 747
Amounts owing to subsidiaries**  (149)  (273)

*  Included in amounts owing from subsidiaries is interest bearing loans amounting to R2,683 million (FY2020: R2,683 million) and the balance  
 relates to non-interest bearing loans. Non-interest bearing loans are not repayable on demand but are long-term. The Khula Sizwe Management  
 trust was provided a R207 million (FY2020: R198 million and R7 million included in other) interest free loan held at carrying value of R177 million  
 (FY2020: R205 million). The borrowing rate was determined at JIBAR plus 1.95%. There is no history of credit losses on loans to subsidiaries and  
 management expect these loans to continue performing, and therefore, no expected credit losses have been recognised on these loans.  
 Management have also considered macro-economic forward looking factors relating to these loans, however the ECL remains negligible and as  
 such none has been recognised.
**  The R149 million owing to subsidiaries is made up mainly of various group equity loans which are interest free with no fixed repayment terms.

Expected credit losses are determined in line with the group’s accounting policy included in the group 
annual financial statements.    
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Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

7. Cash and cash equivalents     

R million 2021 2020 
Cash and cash equivalent balances  4 561  2 821 

         

8.  Deferred taxation asset/(liability)    

R million 2021 2020 
Movement of deferred taxation
Balance at the beginning of year  (23)  (18)

Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income  31  (5)

Balance at end of year  8  (23)
Analysis of deferred taxation by type of temporary difference
Unutilised tax loss 9
Reversal of previously unremitted earnings on Namibia 5
Property related to the Khula Sizwe properties held for sale: recognised 
deferred tax liability  (6)  (18)

 8  (18)
Amount of deferred taxation recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income
Other temporary differences

Unremitted earnings on Namibia  (5)

 (5)

9. Discontinued operations and assets classified as held for sale

9.1 Discontinued operations      

As part of the company’s strategy to unlock value in our underlying businesses and the focus on 
disciplined allocation of capital, management has taken the firm decision to sell properties (land and 
buildings) as part of the groups B-BBEE transaction “Khula Sizwe”. This transaction was approved by 
shareholders on 14 February 2019 and the black public offer was fully subscribed. The transaction 
was expected to be fully implemented within 12 months however the property transfer process was 
significantly delayed by the outbreak of Covid-19. Nonetheless, there is only one property which has 
not transferred and is expected to be transferred in next 12 months. The business of owning and 
leasing property represents a significant line of business for Barloworld Limited and has therefore 
been disclosed as a discontinued operation from 30 September 2019.     
  

R million 2021 2020 

Results from discontinued operations are as follows:

Revenue -rental income^  8  78 

(Loss)/profit on sale of properties  (10)  60 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (2)  138 

Taxation*  7 (222)

Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations per income statement  5  (84)

The cash flows from the discontinued operations are as follows:

Cash flows from operating activities  15 (144)

^ rental income is all fixed and there are no variable portions linked to any indexes. 
* Includes R10 million (FY2020: R99 million) capital gains taxation paid for the sale of the Khula Sizwe properties transferred. Section 45  
 was applied on the transfer of all the properties from group subsidiaries, which resulted in the use of the base cost from the subsidiaries  
 being applied, thereby increasing the capital gains tax paid.
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Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

9. Discontinued operations and assets classified as held for sale    
 continued

 
9.2 Assets classified as held for sale      

R million 2021 2020 
Movement of net book value of properties held for sale
Properties at cost - 1 October  125  802 

Property improvements  64 

Properties classified as held for sale   (112)

Properties acquired from group companies 174  1 829 

Properties sold to Khula Sizwe  (299)  (2 458)

Properties at cost - 30 September   125 
Properties accumulated depreciation - 1 October  (9)  (126)

Properties classified as held for sale  19 

Properties sold to Khula Sizwe  9  98 

Properties at accumulated depreciation - 30 September  (9)

Net balance at 30 September   116 

          

The company has committed R16 million (FY2020: R132 million) for purchase of properties from 
underlying subsidiaries as part of the Khula Sizwe deal.

The values recognised represent the lower of the carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell.

10.  Share capital and premium

R million 2021 2020 
Authorised share capital 
500 000 6% non-redeemable cumulative preference shares of R2 each 
(FY2020: 500 000)   1  1 

400 000 000 ordinary shares of 5 cents each (FY2020: 400 000 000)  20  20 

 21 21
Issued share capital
375 000 6 % non-redeemable cumulative preference shares of R2 each  1  1 

(FY2020: 375 000)

201 025 646 ordinary shares of 5 cents each (FY2020: 201 025 646)  10  10 

 11  11 

Share premium*  (1 366)  (1 286)

Total issued share capital and premium  (1 355)  (1 276)

* During the year 775 740 (FY2020: 18 245 058) shares were repurchased as part of the group’s formal buy-back program and were  
 subsequently cancelled on 29 October 2021.   

There are no rights preferences or restrictions on the ordinary shares in issue with the exception of 
those shares issued to the Barloworld Empowerment Foundation.

Refer to note 23 of the group annual financial statements for further details relating to the 
companies share capital.
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11. Interest-bearing liabilities

R million 2021 2020 
Total long term borrowings  5 741  5 083 

Financial liabilities*   46 
Less: Current portion redeemable and repayable within one year (note 13)  (2 846)  (1 074)

South African rand: Interest-bearing  2 941  4 009 

*  Financial liabilities arise due to the premium of rental and long term guarantees provided by the Company to Khula Sizwe, an entity  
 controlled by the Company, and therefore, eliminates for Group reporting purposes. At initial recognition a financial guarantee is  
 measured at fair value. A discount rate was applied taking time value of money, risk premium, and own credit risk into account and will  
 amortise over the length of the guarantee period.

Barloworld Bonds

Certificate  Issued  Maturity 
 Comparable 

Treasury Stock  Spread bps  Yield %  Type 
 2021  

 R million
 2020    

R million      

BAW18 05-Dec-13 05-Dec-20  3-month Jibar  170  5.14  Floating rate  355 

BAW19 05-Dec-13 05-Dec-20  Fixed  Fixed  9.56  Fixed rate (NACS)  472 

BAW21 24-Mar-15 24-Mar-22  Fixed  Fixed  9.30  Fixed rate (NACS)  574  710 

BAW22 07-Dec-15 07-Dec-22  3-month Jibar  200  5.67  Floating rate  252  252 

BAW26U 11-May-17 11-May-21  3-month Jibar  195  5.59  Floating rate  250 

BAW27U 11-May-17 11-May-22  3-month Jibar  210  5.78  Floating rate  250  250 

BAW28 06-Jun-17 06-Jun-22  3-month Jibar  205  5.72  Floating rate  500  500 

BAW29 22-Feb-18 22-Feb-23  3-month Jibar  180  5.48  Floating rate  400  400 

BAW30 05-Dec-18 05-Dec-21  3-month Jibar  139  5.06  Floating rate  700  700 

BAW31 30-Sep-19 30-Sep-22  3-month Jibar  130  4.98  Floating rate  500  500 

BAW32U 14-May-20 15-May-23  Fixed  Fixed  6.73  Fixed rate (NACS)  700  700 

BAW33 08-Oct-20 08-Oct-23  Fixed  Fixed  6.15  Fixed rate (NACS)  330 
BAW34 09-Oct-20 09-Oct-23  3-month Jibar  200  5.68  Floating rate  500 
BAW35 18-Feb-21 18-Feb-22 3-month Jibar  105  4.73  Floating rate  324 
BAW36 18-Feb-21 18-Feb-24 3-month Jibar 169  5.37  Floating rate  714 
Fees Capitalised (3)  (6)

 5 741  5 083

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

12 . Provisions

R million 2021 2020 
Non-current   

Current 4  

4  

13 . Amounts due to bankers and short-term borrowings

R million 2021 2020 
Short term borrowings^   500   252

Current portion of long term borrowings*  2 846  1 074

 3 346  1 326

^ Short term borrowings relates to Future Growth facility repayable on demand of R500 million (FY2020: R250 million relates to   
 Commercial paper and R2 million relates to other borrowings repayable on demand). 
*  Current portion of long term borrowings relate to Barloworld Bonds which will reach maturity within one year.   
     

R million

Balance at 30 September 2019     
Net movements
Raised  

Utilised  

Balance at 30 September 2020
Net movements
Raised  4 

Utilised  

Balance at 30 September 2021  4 

Provision mainly relate to penalties.
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Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

14. Financial instruments        

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable, bank borrowings, money and capital market 
borrowings, loans to and from subsidiaries.    

14.1 Categories of financial instruments     

2021 2020 

R million Notes
Amortised 

cost

Fair value
through profit

and loss
Total

amount
Amortised

cost

Fair value
through profit

and loss^
Total

amount

ASSETS
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Debt instruments) 6 9 458 9 458  9 746  9 746 

Cash and cash equivalents 7  4 561  4 561  2 821  2 821 

Long-term financial assets* 5  16  16  16  16 

Total assets 14 019  16  14 035  12 567  16  12 583 

^ In the prior year, the description on the categories of financial instruments for the unlisted investment was incorrectly shown as fair value through OCI. This error was merely a presentation error and did not have any impact on the measurement of the  
 financial instrument. The disclosure for the comparative period has been amended to reflect the correct classification of unlisted investments at fair value through profit or loss.
* The fair value measurement of this investment is considered a level 3 measurement in accordance with IFRS 13. The fair value was determined based on the latest arm’s length share trade information available for this investment. Sensitivity to inputs is  
 considered immaterial for further disclosure.
 There are no unobservable inputs for which reasonable change in input would result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. There are also no significant unobservable inputs for which there are interrelationships which significantly  
 influence the valuation.

2021 2020 

R million Notes
Amortized 

cost
Amortized 

cost

LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 11  2 941  4 009 

Trade and other payables  80  41 

Amounts due to subsidiaries (Debt instruments) 6  149  273 

Amounts due to bankers and short term loans 13  3 346  1 326 

Total liabilities  6 516  5 649 

The carrying values of financial instruments approximate their fair values.
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14. Financial instruments continued

14.2 Financial risk management

a. Capital risk management
The company manages its capital to ensure that the company will be able to continue as   
a going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of   
debt and equity. The overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous year.
 
The capital structure of the company consists of debt (refer note 11 & 13) and equity attributable 
to equity holders of Barloworld Limited, comprising issued capital (note 10), reserves and retained 
earnings (statement of changes in equity). 

A finance committee consisting of senior executives of the company meet on a regular basis to 
review the capital structure based on the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class 
of capital, analyse currency and interest rate exposure and to re-evaluate treasury management 
strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts. 

b. Market risk       
i)  Currency risk 

The company is not exposed to any significant currency risk.   
 

ii) Interest rate risk
  The company manages the exposure to interest rate risk by maintaining a balance between 

fixed and floating rate borrowings. The interest rate characteristics of new  borrowings and the 
refinancing of existing borrowings are structured according to expected movements in interest 
rates. There has been no change in the current year to this approach.

R million 2021 2020 
The interest rate profile of total borrowings is as follows:

Interest rates
Loans at fixed rates of interest 1 602 1 882

Loans linked to South Africa floating interest rates 4 139 3 201

5 741 5 083

        
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
A change in interest rates by 1% would result in a change in profit or loss of R57 million (FY2020:  
1%: R51 million).

There has been no change during the current year in the company’s approach to managing other 
price risk.     

c.  Credit risk
The potential area of credit risk is short-term cash investments, equity loans and inter group 
loans. It is company policy to deposit short-term cash investments with major banks and financial 
institutions with strong credit ratings. No collateral is held.     
 

R million 2021 2020 
Maximum exposure to credit risk

Financial assets* 14 035 12 567 

        
* The financial assets mainly comprise of loans owed by subsidiaries trading in the earthmoving equipment, power, Car Rental and  
 Avis Fleet industries in South Africa and a small concentration in Lesotho.

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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14. Financial instruments continued

14.2 Financial risk management continued

c. Credit risk continued
Each of the above operations have credit terms appropriate for their industry. Credit risk on 
vehicles supplied to external dealerships is generally secured by a dealer floorplan with a bank, 
who settle within the credit terms. The average credit period on these sales ranges from 30 to 90 
days. When dealing with sales to external retail, construction or mining customers, full settlement 
or confirmation of financing from a respected financial institution is required before delivery. 
These measures minimise the credit risk. Credit risk exposures to customers for parts, services, 
maintenance and repair contracts and vehicle rental and are managed by monthly review of trade 
receivables ageing. The risk is mitigated by stringent background checks and credit limits for all 
customers, continuous review of credit limits, as well as legal action against defaulting customers. 
The average credit period on these sales is 30 days, however, extended credit terms may be 
negotiated during the account application process. It is group policy to deposit cash with major 
banks and financial institutions with strong credit ratings.   

Each of the above operations use forward looking information utilised in the expected credit  
loss models:

The following forward looking information was utilised to estimate the expected credit loss:  
    
• The geography and industry in which the customers operate, sales to entities based in South 

Africa as well as sales related to part and services are considered riskier.  
• Period overdue and time taken to settle underlying receivables, the older accounts are 

considered a higher risk.        
• Past default experiences of the operations, examples include the Financial Services operations, 

which have a very low default experience.  

d. Liquidity risk      
Liquidity risk arises when the company cannot meet its contractual cash outflows as they fall due 
and payable.  The company is mainly funded through the treasury department in Barloworld South 
Africa and dividends received by subsidiaries. Liquidity risk is monitored through forecast cash 
flows, maintaining a balance between long term and short term debt and ensuring that adequate 
unutilised borrowing facilities are maintained.

There has been no change to this approach in the current year.    
 
Maturity profile of financial liabilities      
The maturity profile of the financial instruments is summarised as follows (based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows):

Repayable during the year ending 30 September

R million
Total owing 

2021 2022 2023-2025

Interest-bearing liabilities 6 820 3 953 2 867

Interest (533)
Total interest-bearing liabilities 6 287

Repayable during the year ending 30 September

R million
Total owing 

2020 2021 2022-2025

Interest-bearing liabilities 7 055 1 561 5 494

Interest (1 720)
Total interest-bearing liabilities 5 335

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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14. Financial instruments continued

14.2 Financial risk management continued

d. Liquidity risk continued

Repayable during the year ending 30 September

R million
Total owing 

2021 2022 2023-2025 >5 years

Financial guarantees on behalf of joint 
ventures & associates# 1 050 1 050

Financial guarantees on behalf of 
subsidiaries^ 3 537  330 1 107 2 100

Repayable during the year ending 30 September

R million
Total owing 

2020 2021 2022-2025 >5 years

Financial guarantees on behalf of joint 
ventures#  45  45

Financial guarantees on behalf of 
subsidiaries^ 3 613  284 1 383 1 946

# For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the  
 guarantee could be called.      
^  For issued financial guarantee contracts related to rental payments payable by subsidiary companies, the maximum amount of the 

guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called and would therefore follow the rental period. 
There are no expected credit losses raised on any of the financial guarantees as there is no history of credit losses in any of the group’s 
subsidiary companies.     

15.  Dividends       

R million 2021 2020 
Ordinary shares
Final dividend (FY2020: No 182 - 297 cents per share)*  651 

Special dividend No 2 paid on 28 June 2021: 200 cents per share (FY2020: 
No 182 - 228 cents per share) 402  498 

Interim dividend No 183 paid on 28 June 2021: 137 cents per share   
(FY2020: Nil)  275 
Paid to Barloworld Limited shareholders 677  1 149 

*  No final dividend was declared during the 2020 financial year.

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 
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16. Related party transactions    

The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at   
year end: 
      

R million 2021 2020 
With related parties of the company
Rental revenue 7  78

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd 7 76

BHBW South Africa (Pty) Ltd  2

Dividends from subsidiaries 1 192 2 469

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd 276 630

Barloworld Insurance Ltd 9 10

Barloworld Investments (Pty) Ltd 684 1596

Barloworld Equipment Lesotho (Pty) Ltd 5 233

Barloworld Equipment Namibia (Pty) Ltd 200 
Seahlolo Transport (Pty) Ltd 18 

Interest revenue from subsidiaries 322  501

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd 160  285

Zeda Car Leasing (Pty) Ltd 147  196

Phakisaworld Fleet Solutions (Pty) Ltd 15  20

Inter group loans and other amounts due from related parties   
as at end of year 14 019 12 567

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd^ 7 837 6 237

Khula Sizwe Management trust 177  198

Barloworld Equipment Lesotho (Pty) Ltd  5  198

Barloworld Investments (Pty) Ltd 3 068 3 068

Barlows Cement Investments (Pty) Ltd  119  119

Zeda Car Leasing (Pty) Ltd 2 431 2 483

Avis Southern Africa Ltd  21
Phakisaworld Fleet Solutions (Pty) Ltd  252  252

Other related parties 109  12

R million 2021 2020 
Inter group loans and other amounts due to related parties as   
at end of year  149  273

Barloworld South Africa (Pty) Ltd 139 216

Other related parties 10  57

^  The company does not own a bank account as such it uses the bank accounts owned by Barloworld South Africa and the related entries  
 are accounted for through the current loan account. Such loan accounts are used exclusively to account for the bank transactions and  
 treated as cash and cash equivalent. Included in this amount is an amount of R4 billion which relates to the  current loan accounts used  
 to account for the bank transactions in the company.

Various transactions are entered into by the company and its subsidiaries during the year with 
related parties. Unless specifically disclosed these transactions occurred under terms that are no less 
favourable than those entered into with third parties. 

There are no doubtful debt provisions raised in respect of amounts due to/from related parties and 
no bad debts incurred during the year on these balances.

Details regarding directors’ and key management remuneration and interest, share options, share 
appreciation rights and forfeitable shares are disclosed in note 35 of the consolidated annual 
financial statements.

During the financial year R183 million of subsidiary properties were transferred to the company 
and thereafter sold to Khula Sizwe at R273 million which included properties already held for sale 
in 2020. The company applied Section 45 which resulted in a R10 million capital gain tax paid. 
There is only 1 property remaining which will be transferred from subsidiaries to the company and 
thereafter to Khula Sizwe.  

17.  Events after the reporting period

Refer to note 42 of the consolidated annual financial statements for events after the reporting date 
impacting the company.

The consolidated financial statements are available on www.barloworld.com

Notes to the company financial statements continued  
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Consolidated seven-year summary  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

R million

Compound 
annual growth 

% 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

INCOME STATEMENT 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue (6.6%)  41 553  33 909  60 206  63 420  61 959  62 074  62 720

Operating profit before items listed below 1.2%  6 942  4 711  6 547  6 978  6 694  6 486  6 479

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets (59) (245) (75)

Depreciation (2 312) (2 241) (2 387) (2 433) (2 468) (2 294) (2 355)

Amortisation of intangible assets (181) (87) (115) (141) (144) (105) (129)

Operating profit before B-BBEE transaction charge  4 390  2 138  3 970  4 404  4 082  4 087  3 995

B-BBEE transaction charge (95) (180) (73) (251)

Operating profit 2.3%  4 295  1 958  3 897  4 404  4 082  4 087  3 744

Fair value adjustments on financial instruments (190) (335)   22 (133) (209) (209) (198)

Finance costs (4.6%) (944) (971) (1 134) (1 182) (1 329) (1 331) (1 252)

Income from investments   124   138   203   147   109   111   67

Profit before non-operating and capital items 5.7%  3 285 790  2 988  3 236  2 653  2 658  2 361

Non-operating and capital items 195 (1 763)   75 (248) (155)   85 (6)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 3 480 (973)  3 063  2 988  2 498  2 743  2 355

Taxation (644) (1 068) (850) (950) (565) (796) (808)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 2 836 (2 041)  2 213  2 038  1 933  1 947  1 547

(Loss)/income from associates and joint ventures (13) (43)   231   235   93   3   287

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 2 823 (2 084)  2 444  2 273  2 026  1 950  1 834

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Loss/(profit) from discontinued operations (23) (415)   33  1 647 (269)   29

Net profit 2 800 (2 499)  2 477  3 920  1 757  1 979  1 834

Attributable to:

Owners of Barloworld Limited 2 756 (2 476)  2 428  3 846  1 643  1 883  1 713

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries   44 (23)   49   74   114   96   121

2 800 (2 499)  2 477  3 920  1 757  1 979  1 834

Headline earnings from continuing operations 4.1%  2 499 (260)  1 100  2 427  2 053  1 778  1 960

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Consolidated seven-year summary continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

R million

Compound 
annual growth 

% 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 417  12 239  12 062  12 657  12 659  13 806  14 380

Investment property 1 000
Right-of-use assets   634  1 611

Goodwill and intangible assets  5 126  2 984  3 258  3 401  3 534  3 728  3 240

Investments in associates, joint ventures and other  
non-current assets  2 211  2 622  3 120  2 463  1 737  1 518  1 503

Deferred taxation assets   848  1 014   766   710   683  1 127   783

Non-current assets  21 237  20 470  19 206  19 231  18 613  20 179  19 906

Current assets  29 220  27 379  27 855  29 678  24 368  25 015  28 052

Assets classified as held for sale  2 387   29   327   497  3 343   828   197

Total assets  52 844  47 878  47 388  49 406  46 324  46 022  48 155

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium (1 200) (1 121)   441   441   441   441   282

Reserves and retained income  22 622  20 625  23 182  21 791  19 834  18 501  19 144

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited  21 422  19 504  23 623  22 232  20 275  18 942  19 426

Non-controlling interest   283   246   272   517   602   737   616

Interest of all shareholders  21 705  19 750  23 895  22 750  20 877  19 679  20 042

Non-current liabilities  10 139  11 251  7 930  8 917  10 852  12 446  12 078

Deferred taxation liabilities  1 186   806   572   632   538   703   571

Non-current liabilities  8 954  10 445  7 358  8 285  10 314  11 743  11 507

Current liabilities  19 214  16 877  15 485  17 613  13 798  13 830  15 992

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified  
as held for sale  1 786   78   126   797   67   43

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Consolidated seven-year summary continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

R million

Compound 
annual growth 

% 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Total equity and liabilities  52 844  47 878  47 388  49 406  46 324  46 022  48 155
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash inflow/(outflow) from operations  6 446  3 541  3 711  1 700  3 734  5 715 (824)

Dividends paid (including non-controlling interest) (657) (1 127) (1 057) (953) (803) (772) (814)

Net cash retained from/(applied to) operating  activities  5 789  2 414  2 654   747  2 931  4 943 (1 638)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (4 296) (2 966) (647)  1 891 (329) (1 436) (1 826)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  2 853 (766) (2 858)  1 080 (1 642) (2 753)  1 532

Net  increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  4 346 (1 318) (851)  3 718   960   754 (1 933)

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Targets 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
PERFORMANCE PER ORDINARY SHARE
Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue during the year net of 
buy-back (000)  198 158  200 330  211 085  210 875  210 780  211 425  211 843

Earnings per share Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  
of Barloworld Limited SA cents 1 390.9 (1 236.0)  1 150.2  1 823.8  779.6  890.5  808.7 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue, net of buy-back US cents 93.4 (76.0)  80.4  140.2  58.2  60.4  67.5 

Earnings per share – continuing 
operations

As above, but using results from continuing  
results only

SA cents 1 395.6 (1 033.8) 1 134.6 1 402.8 907.2 876.8 808.7 

US cents 93.7 (63.5)  79.3  80.2  67.8  59.4  67.5 

Headline earnings per share Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of Barloworld Limited + goodwill impairment -/
(+) non trading profits/(losses) net of tax and non-
controlling interest thereof SA cents  1 194.8  (268.0)  1 100.0  1 192.1  883.4 838.1 813.8 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue, net of buy-back US cents 80.3 (16.5)  76.9  91.6  66.0 56.8 67.9 

Headline earnings per share – continuing 
operations

As above, but using results from continuing  
results only

SA cents  1 261.2  (130.0) 1 100.0 1 150.9 974.5 840.9 925.5 

US cents 84.7 (8.0)  76.9  88.5  72.8  57.0  77.3 

Headline earnings per share – continuing 
operations excluding B-BBEE and IFRS16 
impact

As above, but using results from continuing  
results normalised^

SA cents 1 323 70 1 098.0 1 150.9 974.5 752.2 925.5 

US cents 88.9 4.3  76.7  88.5  65.4  51.0  77.3 

Dividends per share Interim and final dividends declared out of current 
year’s earnings

SA cents  437  462  462  390  345  345 

US cents 29.4 32.3 35.5  29.1 23.4 28.8 

Dividend cover Headline earnings (continuing operations) +  
B-BBEE transaction charge (net of taxation) times 2.7 1.9 2.5 2.1 2.3  2.6 

Dividends paid out of current year’s earnings

Net asset value per share Interest of shareholders of Barloworld Limited,  
incl investments at market value SA cents  10 698  9 753  11 182  10 453  9 533  8 997  9 157

Number of ordinary shares in issue, net of  
buy-back US cents 711 584 737 739 706 654 661 

^  Headline earnings per share - continuing operations adjusted for B-BBEE transactions, material accounting changes and material disposal, as per 
the Barloworld long term incentive scheme performance measurements.

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Targets 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
PROFITABILITY AND ASSET 
MANAGEMENT
Group operating margin including  
IFRS 16 (%) before BEE

Operating profit before B-BBEE charge and  
goodwill impairment 

% >6 8.5 4.1 6.6 6.8 6.1 6.2 6.4 Revenue – group operations

Continuing operating margin including 
IFRS 16 (%) before BEE

Operating profit before B-BBEE charge and  
goodwill impairment 

% >6 10.6 6.3 6.6 6.9 6.6 6.6 6.4 Revenue – continuing operations

Net asset turn Revenue – group operations

times >3 1.2  1.1  1.8  2.1  2.2  2.1 2.1 Average net assets

Return on net assets (group) incl IFRS 16 Operating profit + B-BBEE transaction charge + 
investment income + income from Associates and 
Joint Ventures

% >18 13.9  6.8  13.4  15.1  13.4  13.3 13.4 Average net assets

Return on net assets (Trading businesses) As per above group calculation but excluding 
Leasing and Car Rental businesses % >20 13.1  6.1  12.4  13.5  12.6  12.7 12.8 

Return on net operating assets (group)^^ Operating profit + B-BBEE transaction charge + IFRS 
16 expense + investment income + income from 
Associates and Joint Ventures

% >20 20.4  9.3  18.7  20.5  18.4  15.9 17.0 Average net operating assets

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds 
(excluding exceptional items) (group)  
incl IFRS 16

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  
of Barloworld Limited – net exceptional items + 
B-BBEE transaction charge (net of tax)

% >15 12.2  (1.5) 10.6 11.8  9.5  9.2  10.9 
Average Interest of shareholders of Barloworld 
Limited

Replacement capex to depreciation Replacement capital expenditure

%  (0.2)  23.7  26.5  9.7  12.2  18.9 29.3 Depreciation charge

Effective rate of taxation – continuing 
operations

Tax charge – prior year tax – non-operating and 
capital items tax – secondary tax on companies

% 25.2  123.8 27.8 28.5 23.9 27.0 37.1 
Profit before tax -/(+) non-operating and capital 
items + goodwill impairment

^^  Return on net operating assets - group adjusted for B-BBEE transactions, material accounting changes and material disposals, as per the Barloworld long term incentive scheme performance measurements.
@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Targets 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
LIQUIDITY AND LEVERAGE
Total liabilities to total shareholders’ funds 
incl IFRS 16

Non-current liabilities – deferred tax liabilities + 
current liabilities

% <150 66.7 59.4  35.0  113.2  115.5 130.0 137.4 Interest of all shareholders

Net debt to total shareholders’ funds  
incl IFRS 16

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities + amounts 
due to bankers and short-term loans – cash and cash 
equivalents

% 16.7 25.2  4.5  14.4  27.6  40.7  55.1 Interest of all shareholders

Total borrowings to total shareholders’ 
funds 

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities + amounts due 
to bankers and short-term loans + convertible bond

Interest of all shareholders

– Total group % 75.9 59.4  32.7  49.1  46.4 56.1 66.9 

– Trading businesses % 30 - 50 59.3 37.1  10.1  25.3  20.9 28.9 42.9 

– Leasing businesses % 600 - 800 655.2 640.5  604.2  614.3  560.1 720.1 688.4 

– Car Rental businesses % 200 - 300 238.8  252.7  207.6  203.8  203.3 216.4 210.9 

Net borrowings/EBITDA incl IFRS 16 Non-current interest-bearing liabilities + amounts 
due to bankers and short-term loans + convertible 
bond – cash and cash equivalents

times <2.5 0.5 1.0  0.2  0.5 0.8 1.2 1.8 
Operating profit + impairment of goodwill & 
intangible assets + depreciation charge

Current ratio Current assets

>1 1.5 1.6  1.8  1.7  1.8 1.8 1.8 Current liabilities

Quick ratio Current assets – inventories

>0.5 1.1 1.0  1.3  1.1 1.2 1.1 0.9 Current liabilities

Interest cover – continuing operations Profit before non-operating and capital items + 
goodwill impairment + B-BBEE transaction charge 
+ interest paid (incl interest capitalised and interest 
included in cost of sales)

– Total group Interest paid (incl interest capitalised and interest 
included in cost of sales) times >3 4.5 0.2  3.2  3.7  3.0  3.0  2.9 

– Trading businesses times >4 4.8 (0.1)  3.8  5.3  3.8  3.7  3.5 

– Leasing businesses times >1 2.0 0.7  4.0  2.0  2.0  1.8  1.9 

– Car Rental businesses times >1.25 2.4 (1.3)  1.1  2.1  2.0 2.3 2.3 

Consolidated seven-year summary continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Targets 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
VALUE ADDED
Number of employees  10 229  12 905  15 396  17 417  19 201  20 786  19 745

Revenue per employee Revenue

R000’s 5 263.3  3 511.0  3 669.6  3 646.1  3 302.8  3 201.6  3 186.9 Average number of employees

Value created per employee Total value created per value added statement

R000’s 1 650.8  829.5  1 051.7  1 061.4  846.2  778.0  790.1 Average number of employees

Employment cost per employee Salaries, wages and other benefits paid to employees

R000’s  673.1  578.5  577.4  531.2  497.6  469.9  452.7 Average number of employees

ORDINARY SHARES PERFORMANCE 
– JSE 
Closing market prices per share

 – year-end (30 September) SA cents  12 298  6 146  11 560  12 317  12 451  8 327  7 540 

US cents  817  408  762  870  922  606  544 

– highest SA cents  12 436 6 212  11 887  18 588  13 300  9 095  10 600 

– lowest SA cents  11 850 6 034  10 850  11 748  8 256  5 192  7 530 

Number of shares in issue at  
30 September## million  197 199  211  211  211  211  212 

Volume of shares traded million 758  1 435  590  221  256  361  173 

Value of shares traded Rm  92 337  88 386  68 044  32 233  28 562  25 822  15 941 

Earnings yield Headline earnings per share

% 1.3 (4.4) 9.5 9.3 7.8 10.1 12.3 Closing market price per share

Dividend yield Dividends per share

% 1.1 3.8 4.2 3.3 2.9 4.1 4.4 Closing market price per share

Total shareholder return –  
Barloworld Limited
– Annual share price (loss)/gain % 100.1  (46.8)  (6.1)  (1.1)  49.5 10.4  (18.5)

– Total shareholder return Annual share price gain + dividend yield % 101.2 (43.0)  (1.9)  2.2  52.4 14.5  (14.1)

Total shareholder return –  
JSE all share (Alsi) index
– Alsi index (30 September)  64 282  54 265  54 825  55 708  55 580  51 950  50 089 

–  Gain/(loss) in Alsi index – year to  
30 September % 18.5 (1.0)  (1.6)  0.2  8.9 3.7  1.5 

– Dividend yield % 4.1  3.2  4.2  3.8  3.7 2.9 3.1 

– Total shareholder return % 23.30 1.02  0.0  3.3  12.6  5.7  4.6 

Consolidated seven-year summary continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
## The number of shares in issue excludes shares issued in the respect of the B-BBEE transaction other than to the General staff trust.
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Targets 2021 2020@ 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ORDINARY SHARES PERFORMANCE – 
JSE  continued

Price: Earnings ratio Closing market price per share

times 10.3 (23.0) 10.5 10.3 14.1 9.9 9.3 Headline earnings per share

Price: Earnings ratio – JSE Alsi index 11.6  13.4  12.0  13.6  20.2 23.4 26.7 

Market capitalisation at 30 September Closing market price per share X number of shares in 
issue at 30 September Rm  24 287  12 251  24 423  26 004  26 223  17 570  15 995 

Premium over/(under) interest of 
shareholders of Barloworld Limited

Market capitalisation – Interest of shareholders of 
Barloworld Limited Rm  2 865  (7 253)  799  3 772  5 948 (1 372) (3 431)

@ The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.

Consolidated seven-year summary continued  
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Consolidated summary in other currencies#   
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

US Dollar Pound Sterling

2021 
$m

2020@

$m
2021 

£m
2020@

£m

INCOME STATEMENT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue 2 791 2 084 2 042 1 626

Operating profit before items listed 
below  466  290  341  226

Impairment losses on financial assets and 
contract assets (4) (15) (3) (12)

Depreciation (155) (138) (114) (107)

Amortisation of intangible assets (12) (5) (9) (4)

Operating profit before B-BBEE 
transaction charge   295   132   215   103

B-BBEE transaction charge (6) (11) (5) (9)

Operating profit   289   121   210   94

Fair value adjustments on financial 
instruments (13) (21) (9) (16)

Finance costs (63) (60) (46) (47)

Income from investments  8  8  6  7

Profit before non-operating and  
capital items  221  48  161  38

Non-operating and capital items 13 (108) 10 (84)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 234 (60)  170 (46)

Taxation (43) (66) (32) (51)

Profit/(loss) after taxation 191 (126) 139 (97)

(Loss) from associates and joint ventures (1) (3) (1) (2)

Profit/(loss) for the year from 
continuing operations 190 (129) 138 (99)

US Dollar Pound Sterling

2021 
$m

2020@

$m
2021 

£m
2020@

£m

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Loss from discontinued operations (2) (26) (1) (20)

Net profit/(loss) 188 (154) 137 (119)

Attributable to:

Owners of Barloworld Limited 185 (153) 135 (118)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries  3 (1)  2 (1)

Net profit/(loss) 188 (154) 137 (119)

Headline earnings/(loss) continuing 
operations  167.9  (16.0)  122.8  (12.5)

Earnings/(loss) per share continuing 
operations (cents) 93.7 (63.5) 68.6 (49.6)

Ordinary dividends per share (cents) 29.4     21.5     

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 759  734 563  568

Investment property  66 49
Right-of-use assets  42  97  31  75

Goodwill and intangible assets  341  179  253  138

Investment in associates, joint ventures 
and other non-current assets  147  157  109  122

Deferred taxation assets  56  61  42  47

Non-current assets 1 412 1 227 1 047  949

Current assets 1 942 1 641 1 440 1 270

Assets classified as held for sale 159  2 118  1

Total assets 3 512 2 870 2 605 2 220

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital and premium (80) (67) (59) (52)

Reserves and retained income 1 198  894  888  691
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Consolidated summary in other currencies# continued  
for the year ended 30 September 2021 

US Dollar Pound Sterling

2021 
$m

2020@

$m
2021 

£m
2020@

£m

Non-distributable reserves - foreign 
currency translation 306  343 227  265

Interest of shareholders of Barloworld 
Limited 1 424 1 170 1 056  904

Non-controlling interest  19  15  14  11

Interest of all shareholders 1 443 1 185 1 070  915

Non-current liabilities  674  675  500  522

Deferred taxation liabilities  79  48  58  37

Non-current liabilities  595  627  441  485

Current liabilities 1 277 1 011  947  784

Liabilities directly associated with 
assets classified as held for sale  119  88
Total equity and liabilities 3 512 2 871 2 605 2 221

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash inflow from operations  433  218  317  170 

Dividends paid (including non-controlling 
interest)  (44)  (69)  (32)  (54)

Net cash retained from operating  
activities  389  149  284  116 

Net cash used in investing activities (289)  (182)  (211)  (142)

Net cash from/(used in) from financing  
activities  192  (47)  140  (37)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents  293  (80)  214  (63)

Exchange rates used:

Balance sheet - closing rate (rand)  15.05  16.68  20.29  21.56 

Income statement and cash flow 
statement- average rate (rand)  14.89  16.27  20.35  20.86 

#  These schedules are provided for convenience purposes only. The presentation currency used for the financial statements and notes is 
South African Rand.

@  The restatement is due to Motor Retail and Logistics being classified as discontinued operations.
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Corporate information

Barloworld Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1918/000095/06) (Income Tax Registration number 9000/051/71/5)
(JSE Share code: BAW) (JSE ISIN: ZAE000026639)
(Share code: BAWP)
(JSE ISIN: ZAE000026647)
(Bond issuer code: BIBAW) (Namibian Stock Exchange share code: BWL)
(“Barloworld” or the “company” or the “group”)

Registered office and business address 
Barloworld Limited
61 Katherine Street
PO Box 782248
Sandton, 2146, South Africa
T  +27 11 445 1000
E bawir@barloworld.com

Directors 
Non-executive
NN Gwagwa (Chairman), FNO Edozien^, HH Hickey, MD Lynch-Bell*,     
NP Mnxasana, NV Mokhesi, H Molotsi, P Schmid
 
^ Nigeria * UK

Executive directors
DM Sewela (Group Chief Executive), N Lila (Group Finance Director)

Group Company Secretary
Vasta Mhlongo

Group Investor Relations
Nwabisa Piki

Enquiries 
Barloworld Limited  
T +27 11 445 1000
E bawir@barloworld.com

Sponsor 
Nedbank Corporate and Investment Banking
a division of Nedbank Limited
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